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This Registration Document was filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers (French market authority, or AMF), in accordance with
article 212-13 of the General Regulations of the AMF on 21 March 2014. This document can only be used to support a financial
transaction when accompanied by a securities note endorsed by the AMF. This document contains all the information relating to the
annual financial report as required by paragraph | of article L. 451-1-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code. This document
was prepared by the issuer and is binding on its signatories.

Copies of this Registration Document are available free of charge at the registered office of Groupe Eurotunnel SA. This Registration
Document can also be viewed on the websites of the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and Groupe Eurotunnel SA
(www.eurotunnelgroup.com).

Unless indicated otherwise, all the figures in this Registration Document have been calculated by applying either the euro/sterling
exchange rate on 31 December 2013 (£1=€1.199) for balance sheet items, or the average rate for 2013 (£1=€1.187) for elements of the
income statement.

In application of article 28-1 of EC Regulation 809/2004 of the European Commission, the following information is included in this
Registration Document by reference:

The Eurotunnel Group’s consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 prepared in accordance with IFRS and the
report of the statutory auditors thereon, as well as the Eurotunnel Group’s operating and financial review for the year ended
31 December 2012, are included in Groupe Eurotunnel SA's Registration Document for 2012 filed with the AMF on 25 March 2013;
Groupe Eurotunnel SA's parent company accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 prepared in accordance with French
accounting standards and the report of the statutory auditors thereon are included in Groupe Eurotunnel SA's Registration
Document for 2012 filed with the AMF on 25 March 2013;

The Eurotunnel Group’s consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December 2011 prepared in accordance with IFRS and the
report of the statutory auditors thereon, as well as the Eurotunnel Group’s operating and financial review for the year ended
31 December 2011, are included in Groupe Eurotunnel SA's Registration Document for 2011 filed with the AMF on
1 March 2012; and

Groupe Eurotunnel SA's parent company accounts for the year ended 31 December 2011 prepared in accordance with French
accounting standards and the report of the statutory auditors thereon are included in Groupe Eurotunnel SA's Reference Document
for 2011 filed with the AMF on 1 March 2012.

(1)

This document (the “2013 Registration Document”) is an unofficial English language translation of Groupe Eurotunnel SA’s “Document de Référence
2013 filed with the AMF on 21 March 2014. In the event of any inconsistencies between this document and the original French document, the text of
the French document shall be considered authoritative.


http:www.eurotunnelgroup.com
http:www.amf-france.org
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RESPONSIBLE PERSON

1. RESPONSIBLE PERSON

1.1. PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
AND THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Name and position of person responsible: Jacques Gounon, Chairman of the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer of Groupe
Eurotunnel SA.

E-mail: PresidentGET@eurotunnel.com

1.2. DECLARATION BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE
REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

| declare, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, that the information contained in this Registration Document
and its annexes is, to the best of my knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its significance.

| declare that, to the best of my knowledge: (i) the financial statements for Groupe Eurotunnel SA have been prepared in accordance with
the applicable accounting standards and represent an accurate view of the assets, financial position and results of Groupe
Eurotunnel SA and of the companies comprised in the consolidation; and (i) the management report made up of the sections of this
Registration Document listed in the Cross Reference Table in Annex V represents an accurate view of the development of the business,
the results and the financial position of Groupe Eurotunnel SA and of the companies comprised in the consolidation, as well as a
description of the main risks and uncertainties facing them.

| have been provided with a final report from the statutory auditors stating that they have verified the information relating to the financial
position and accounting data contained in this Registration Document and have read the whole document.

This report does not contain any observations relating to this Registration Document.

The statutory auditors have reviewed the 2013 financial information presented in this Registration Document, and their corresponding
reports are given in paragraphs 20.3.1 and 20.3.2 of this Registration Document. They note the following: “Without qualifying our
opinion we draw attention to note A.3. “Accounting for deferred tax” and note L. “Income tax expense” of the consolidated financial
statements which describe methods of deferred tax valuation and impacts on Group consolidated result and Group equity.”

The historical financial information and reports of the statutory auditors on the historical financial information are incorporated by
reference in this Registration Document.
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2. GET SA'S STATUTORY
AUDITORS

2.1. STATUTORY AUDITORS

KPMG Audit, a division of KPMG SA
3, cours du Triangle — 92939 Paris La Défense Cedex, France
Date of initial appointment: 9 March 2007

Date of expiry of term of office: general meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending on
31 December 2018

In accordance with the French Financial Security Act of 1 August 2003, rotation of KPMG Audit’s signatory took place in 2013.

Mazars
61, rue Henri Regnault — 92075 Paris La Défense Cedex, France
Date of initial appointment: 9 March 2007

Date of expiry of term of office: general meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending on
31 December 2018

In accordance with the French Financial Security Act of 1 August 2003, rotation of Mazars’ signatory took place in 2011.

2.2. ALTERNATE STATUTORY AUDITORS

KMPG Audit IS
3, cours du Triangle — 92939 Paris La Défense Cedex, France
Date of initial appointment: 15 May 2013

Date of expiry of term of office: general meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending on
31 December 2018

Mr Hervé Hélias
61, rue Henri Regnault — 92075 Paris La Défense Cedex, France
Date of initial appointment: 15 May 2013

Date of expiry of term of office: general meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending on
31 December 2018
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3. SELECTED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

The tables below are extracted from the consolidated income statements, balance sheets and cash flow statements for Groupe
Eurotunnel SA for the financial years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been restated in accordance with the amended IAS 19 (“2012
adjusted”). The impact of the restatement is explained in note GG of the consolidated accounts as set out in paragraph 20.3.1 of this
Registration Document.

SUMMARY INCOME STATEMENTS 2012 - 2013

Year ended

Year ended 31 December

31 December 2012

€ MILLION 2013 adjusted
Exchange rate €/£ 1.230
Revenue 993
Other income - 30
Total turnover 1,092 1,023
Operating costs (643) (564)
Operating margin (EBITDA) 449 459
Depreciation (166) (161)
Trading profit 283 298
Other net operating income/(charges) 2 ()
Operating profit (EBIT) 285 294
Share of result of equity-accounted companies (1) -
Operating profit after share of result of equity-accounted companies 284 294
Net finance cost (269) (269)
Net other financial income 5 7
Result before tax: profit 20 32
Income tax expense 81 -
Result for the year: profit 101 32
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SUMMARY BALANCE SHEETS 2012 - 2013

31 December

31 December 2012
€ MILLION 2013 adjusted
Exchange rate €/£ 1.199 1.225
Intangible assets 27 29
Property, plant and equipment 6,529 6,648
Other non-current assets 286 155
Total non-current assets 6,842 6,832
Cash and cash equivalents 277 256
Other current assets 164 167
Total current assets 441 423
Total assets 7,283 7,255
Total equity 2,481 2,154
Total financial liabilities 3,929 3,988
Other liabilities 873 1,113
Total equity and liabilities 7,283 7,255

SUMMARY CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 2012 - 2013
Year ended
Year ended 31 December

31 December 2012
€ MILLION 2013 adjusted
Exchange rate €/£ 1.199 1.225
Net cash inflow from trading 459 459
Other operating cash flows and taxation 6) 2
Net cash inflow from operating activities 453 461
Net cash outflow from investing activities (49) (183)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (380) (801)
Increase/(decrease) in cash in year 24 (23)
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In conducting its business, the Eurotunnel Group is exposed to different risks of an industrial, environmental, human, commercial,
financial or other nature.

The Eurotunnel Group applies the provisions of the reference framework published by the French Financial Markets Authority (AMF) for
internal control and risk management systems. Eurotunnel Group has an active risk management policy designed to protect and
develop its assets and reputation and to safeguard the interests of shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, its other
stakeholders and the environment. The Group has a comprehensive system in place to identify and manage risks, which is described in
chapter 16 of this Registration Document.

For the 2013 financial year, the Eurotunnel Group has carried out the annual review of risks that could have a significant negative impact
on its operations, reputation, financial position or results. This risk review encompassed all the consolidated subsidiaries of the Group.
As stated in the 2012 Registration Document, the MyFerryLink maritime business has been incorporated into the scope of the formal
review of risks in 2013. The ferries are operated exclusively by a worker cooperative which is external to the Group and, consequently,
the associated risks are not included within the scope of this review. The risk management mechanisms now apply across the entire
scope of consolidation.

4.1. RISKS RELATED TO THE ENVIRONMENT IN WHICH THE
EUROTUNNEL GROUP OPERATES

4.1.1 RISKS RELATED TO THE ECONOMIC CLIMATE

The Group’s operations are directly influenced by the prevailing economic conditions in its main markets, particularly France and the
United Kingdom. Changes in cross-Channel traffic and rail freight traffic are linked to the general economic context. While the Group’s
business has demonstrated its resilience during periods of economic and financial crisis and although the British economy is showing
signs of recovery, the Group considers that its business could be impacted by a prolonged economic downturn, as some of the Group’s
customers could turn to low-cost modes of transport. A deterioration or stagnation of economic conditions could have a direct impact
on the volume of rail and maritime traffic in both the passenger and freight segments, or on the activity of the terminals. Uncertainties
about the general economic situation have had and are likely to continue to have a negative impact on the business performance and
financial position of many companies, and this could have repercussions for the Group’s customers and suppliers.

All these risks are measured and monitored at meetings of the corporate management committees to anticipate and prepare for
changes in the economic environment, and to make any necessary strategic and tactical adjustments.

4.1.2 RISKS RELATED TO THE COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

In its different activities, the Group faces strong competition from both international and national players in the private and public sectors.
This competitive environment (presented in chapter 6 of this Registration Document) could intensify across all of the Group’s areas of
activity, particularly during a slump in the truck market and increased price sensitivity among customers at a time of economic recession.

With regard to the activities of the Fixed Link, the Eurotunnel Group faces competition from cross-Channel transport operators, whose
pricing strategies and other competitive initiatives could have a negative impact on Shuttle Service volumes (particularly Truck Shuttle
services) and passenger numbers on High-Speed Passenger Trains. As indicated in chapter 6 of this Registration Document, the
Group’s commercial and operational strategy could be affected by this context, in which service quality remains a crucial distinguishing
factor. The Group adapts its marketing strategy to this competitive environment, particularly during its operational reviews.

Concerning the competitive environment of Europorte, developments in the market and in rail freight transport traffic and related
activities are, due to recent changes, quite specific. Although European rail freight has been open to competition in France since
March 20083, the first private freight train did not run in France until June 2005. In 2012, competition between the operators remained
strong: in the space of 10 years, the French market has opened up as much as the German market has in 20 years of liberalisation. The
situation is different in Great Britain where rail freight is developing and where it is anticipated that it will take an even greater share of the
British freight transport market.
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MyFerryLink faces strong competition from other operators in the Short Straits market. The pricing strategies and other competitive
initiatives of those direct competitors are likely to have an even greater impact given that there is less differentiation between the services
offered (compared with the Fixed Link service).

In response to this intensification of the competition, the Group rationalises its operations and processes in order to adapt its cost
structure, offer new services to its customers and enhance its commercial offering.

4.1.3 MARKET RISKS

Rate risks
The Eurotunnel Group’s debt at the closing rate on 31 December 2013 was €3,929 million. At 31 December 2013, the Group held
floating rate notes with a nominal value of €167 million. The maturity of the Group’s assets and debts is set out below:

Overnight 1 year Over 5
€ MILLION to 1 year to 5 years years
Financial assets - - 167
Financial liabilities 39 156 3,734
Net position 39 156 3,567

As part of the Group’s treasury procedures described in section 16.9 of this Registration Document, its Finance Department continually
monitors movements in inflation and interest rates, and its Treasury Risk Management Committee receives monthly reports containing
forecast and actual rate changes.

Interest rate

As explained in note X of the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document, the risk of adverse
movements in interest rates during the life of the Term Loan is covered by the fact that (i) two tranches of the loan are at a fixed rate, (i) the
two inflation-linked tranches are at a fixed rate and (jii) the last two tranches are at a floating rate and are covered by a swap converting
the floating rate into a fixed rate for the full life of the Term Loan.

Rate of inflation

As explained in note X of the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document, the inflation risk
affects both interest and principal repayments on the two inflation-linked tranches, of £750 million and €367 million respectively. By way
of illustration, a percentage point variation in the inflation rate would have an impact of €13 million on the amount of the principal of
tranches A1 and A2.

Foreign exchange risks

Around half of the Eurotunnel Group’s revenue is generated in sterling, while a larger proportion of both operating and investment
expenditure is in euros. Moreover, the Group’s Term Loan is denominated in sterling for a total of £1.481 billion and in euros for a total of
€1.942 billion.

The Eurotunnel Group makes every effort to match more closely the currencies in which its revenues and expenses are denominated,
and also uses currency hedging to manage its foreign exchange risk effectively. However, there is no guarantee that these measures will
significantly reduce the risk borne by the Eurotunnel Group in the event of a fall in sterling against the euro, or ensure that the
materialisation of this risk would not have a significant impact on the Eurotunnel Group’s financial position and/or ability to service
its debt.

The Eurotunnel Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in euros. At 31 December 2013, its balance sheet exposure to
trading currencies was as follows:

Foreign
currency Net position Hedging Net position
€ MILLION Assets Liabilities liabilities before hedging instruments after hedging
Euro 400 (2,600) - (2,200) - (2,200)
Sterling 400 (2,100) - (1,700) - (1,700)
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The assets and liabilities in the above table do not include fixed assets or equity, which are carried at historical exchange rates.

Fluctuations in the sterling/euro exchange rate have an impact on the value in euros of revenue, costs, expenses and financial income,
as well as on the Group’s assets and liabilities. The following table summarises the exchange rate sensitivity of the Group’s profits and
equity at 31 December 2013:

€ MILLION 2013

Exchange rate variation Actual rate Published +10% -10%
Revenue 1.187 1,092 1,143 1,041
Operating margin (EBITDA) 1.187 449 478 420
Result before tax: profit 1.187 20 36 5
Total equity and shareholders’

funds 1.199 2,481 2,304 2,657

In addition to the measures described above, the Group’s Finance Department continually monitors movements in the sterling/euro
exchange rate, while its Treasury Risk Management Committee receives monthly reports containing forecast and actual exchange rate
fluctuations. A report on the work of the Treasury Risk Management Committee is submitted to GET SA's Audit Committee.

Credit and counterparty risks

Customer credit risk

The Group’s exposure to customer credit risk is limited to its customers in the United Kingdom and eurozone countries, with the

exception of:

e the Railways, who accounted for 26% of the Group’s revenue in 2013;

e the Group’s Passenger Shuttle and MyFerryLink customers who pay for their tickets in advance, particularly via the internet;
consequently the credit risk in relation to these customers is very limited.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on trade receivables, as well as the ageing of those trade receivables and the provision for
bad debts, is explained in detail in note Q to the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

Revenue from the Group’s five largest customers, not including the Railways, accounted for 6% of its total revenue in 2013.

The Group manages its customer credit risk through a policy requiring that every new customer undergo a credit check before being
able to benefit from the Group’s standard credit terms. The Group’s credit risk exposure to account customers is managed by means of
continuous monitoring of their financial situation and of their outstanding debt in relation to the credit limits and payment terms granted
to them.

Suppliers
The Group’s exposure to counterparty risk with its suppliers is managed by framework agreements that contain standard mechanisms
based on third-party guarantees or prepayments and appropriate recovery procedures.

Short-term investments
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on short-term investments is set out in note X to the consolidated financial statements in
paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in (i) term deposits and certificates of deposit with a maximum maturity of six
months, and with counterparties with at least a P-1 short-term rating from Moody’s, and (i) funds and money market funds with a
long-term rating of at least Aaa from Moody’s or AAA from S&P.

The amounts invested by the Group in any one fund or money market fund should not exceed €120 million per fund or money market
fund in euros or £100 million per fund or money market fund in sterling. Investments in term deposits or certificates of deposit with the
same counterparty may not exceed €78 million in France or £65 million in the United Kingdom.

The Treasury Risk Management Committee monitors the Group’s compliance with this investment policy.
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Liquidiity risk
A significant proportion of the Eurotunnel Group’s operational cash flow is taken up by interest payments and, since 2013, the payment
of principal. This expense could reduce the Group’s capacity to finance its investments or possible external growth operations.

A breakdown of the Group’s financial liabilities by contractual maturity is given in note X to the consolidated financial statements in
paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

The terms and conditions of the Group’s bank loans, particularly concerning defaults and early repayment, as well as the financial
covenants that the Group must comply with in respect of debt servicing, are described in chapter 22 of this Registration Document and
note V to the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

The contractual terms of the Group’s hedging instruments (swaps) to cover its variable-rate loans are explained in note V to the
consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

The Group manages its liquidity risk exposure through centralised treasury management by its Finance Department, which continually
monitors the Group’s treasury position. The Group also prepares monthly short- and medium-term cash flow forecasts, which are
presented to the Treasury Risk Management Committee composed of the Head of Financial Control, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer,
and their main managers.

In this context, the Group acquired floating rate notes with a nominal value of €167 million in 2011 and 2012. These notes were issued by
Channel Link Enterprises Finance (CLEF), the securitisation vehicle for the Group’s debt. These notes have the same characteristics as
the Group’s tranche C debt, namely a maturity between 2041 and 2050 (see note Q to the consolidated financial statements in
paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document). This acquisition will in particular improve the Group’s financial results.

As indicated in note X of the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document, the company has
carried out a specific review of its liquidity risk and considers that it is able to meet its future obligations.

As indicated in section 10.6 of this Registration Document, at 31 December 2013 the Group was in compliance with all its debt service
cover ratios (financial covenants).

As indicated in section 10.1 of this Registration Document, GET SA received a Baa2 rating from Moody’s in 2007, which is still valid at
the date of this Registration Document.

Raw materials and energy risks

For the Fixed Link, the Eurotunnel Group uses electricity as its main source of energy, particularly for train traction. The supply of
electricity represents a significant expense for the Eurotunnel Group (accounting for about 5% of overall operating expenditure in 2013)
and a large general increase in the cost of raw materials and electricity could have negative repercussions on the Group’s results.

In the light of the highly volatile energy market, the Group has introduced a risk management policy to hedge market price risk and
volume risk.

Application of the French law on the new organisation of electricity markets (NOME) helps reduce the Group’s exposure to energy
market volatility.

Volume purchases on the UK wholesale market are performed under annual contracts. Purchases are made in tranches to spread the
risk, based on fundamental and technical market analysis.

To mitigate volume risk, the Group closely monitors its electricity use and regularly updates its forecasts.

The Group and its electricity suppliers negotiate the volume constraints in power supply contracts so as to reduce the Group’s volume
risk, by including the option of changing contractual volumes without penalty, or by adding a take-or-pay clause based on an annual
rather than seasonal timeframe.

The Europorte entities favour the use of electrical power. When these subsidiaries use diesel locomotives, the cost price of traction may
be affected by a change in the fuel price. Ways of mitigating this risk are being explored.
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The maritime segment is exposed to risks related to the entry into force of the MARPOL marine pollution regulations mentioned in
section 4.1.5 of this Registration Document, as well as to fluctuations in fuel prices potentially affecting how much it is charged to
purchase capacity.

Risk on shares and other financial instruments

The Group’s investments are governed by its treasury policy and are therefore limited to the list of financial instruments detailed in
“Short-term investments” above and the floating rate notes mentioned in “Liquidity risk” above. The Group does not invest in equities,
interest rate instruments or other derivatives.

4.1.4 RISKS RELATED TO RETIREMENT BENEFITS

In the United Kingdom, the Eurotunnel Group administers three defined benefit pension schemes:

e the main pension scheme, The Channel Tunnel Group Pension Fund, which changed in 2010 from a wholly defined benefit plan to a
hybrid scheme (part defined benefit and part defined contribution);

e a pension fund for GBRf;

e a defined benefit plan closed to new entrants (Senior Executive Pension Fund, open only to senior managers who joined prior
to 2000).

An independent actuary values the schemes’ assets and liabilities. The present value of the schemes’ assets which are not due to be
realised in the short term may undergo significant changes. The present value of the schemes’ liabilities, calculated by discounting
long-term cash flow projections, is inherently uncertain.

Were the values of the schemes’ assets and liabilities to reveal underfunding, the Eurotunnel Group could be asked to fund the shortfall
within the framework of a plan extending over a period of up to 10 years.

Risks associated with the UK pension schemes are managed through a regular review process and meetings with the trustees,
actuaries and other professional advisers.

4.1.5 RISKS RELATED TO THE REGULATORY AND POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT

Regulatory environment

The Eurotunnel Group operates in a highly regulated environment, which results in a high degree of dependency on decisions and
measures over which the Group has very little or no influence. These regulations are subject to change and interpretation by
administrative authorities and courts, and could be considerably tightened by national or European authorities, which would adversely
affect the Group’s business activities and financial results. Compliance with the rules, in their current form and as amended in the future,
could result in increased operating and investment costs. The competent authorities could also adopt other stricter rules or rules in new
areas that are not currently considered, with similar effect.

This regulatory framework includes the European rail directives, particularly Directive 2001/14/EC which concerns the division of rail
infrastructure capacity and the pricing of rail infrastructure, and specifies certain operating rules applicable to rail infrastructure
managers. This regulatory framework is constantly changing, the most recent development being the draft Fourth Railway Package,
which could affect the operation and financial position of Concessionaires as a result of the proposed separation of the activities of
infrastructure manager and rail company. These measures could impose restrictions on the Eurotunnel Group’s business activities and
affect its revenue. These directives can also be subject to change and interpretation by administrative authorities and courts, and the
associated regulations could even be significantly tightened by national or European authorities. On 21 June 2013, the European
Commission issued France and the United Kingdom with a formal request, in the form of a reasoned opinion, inviting the French and
British authorities to implement provisions from the First Railway Package of 2001 (Directives 91/440/EEC and 2001/14/EC) concerning
the charging structures of Railway Companies in the Channel Tunnel. The Commission also considered that the independence of the
IGC could not be guaranteed, finally clarifying that the Shuttle activity was not covered by the opinion. This infringement procedure was
initiated by the European Commission against France and the United Kingdom based on Article 258 of the Treaty on the Functioning of
the European Union (TFEU). Although the procedure launched by the Commission is aimed at the States and not at the Group directly,
the Eurotunnel Group has worked with the French and British governments to assert the legitimacy of its position and has presented
arguments that could be developed in response to the reasoned opinion of the European Commission, with the exception of the
grievances concerning the IGC. This procedure is described in section 20.8 of this Registration Document.
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Operation of the Tunnel is subject to highly detailed regulations drawn up by the IGC and the Safety Authority. The Concession
Agreement described in section 22 of this Registration Document may be terminated by the States in the event of force majeure,
particularly in the event of war or a serious breach by the Concessionaires of their obligations under the Concession Agreement.
Furthermore, if the Eurotunnel Group should be in breach of its obligations under the Concession Agreement, the IGC could impose
significant daily penalties. The IGC has the power to make decisions (particularly in relation to the distance between trains using the
Tunnel) that could lead to a reduction in Tunnel capacity. Eurostar introduced an action of this type as indicated in section 20.8 of this
Registration Document. The regulatory authorities could also adopt new measures relating to safety or other matters, particularly
concerning infrastructure access conditions. This could force the Eurotunnel Group to incur significant additional expenditure, or could
impose restrictions on its business activities and impact its revenue.

The Public Affairs Department is responsible for ensuring compliance with the rights and obligations arising from the Concession, by
both the States and the Concessionaires, and for monitoring relations with the IGC. The Eurotunnel Group has no control over the IGC,
which represents the two governments, particularly the French Ministére des Transports and the British Department of Transport. That
being the case, the obligations assumed under the Concession Agreement require the States to conduct themselves in a specific
manner in the performance of their duties. The Concession Agreement grants the Concessionaires the option of requesting, before the
arbitration tribunal, in accordance with the terms of the Treaty of Canterbury, compensation for breaches of contract by the States.

RFF, the state-owned industrial and commercial enterprise responsible for the planning, development and improvement of the French
national rail infrastructure, has undergone significant changes following the pricing reforms adopted in the 2008-2012 multi-year
contract. This contract set out the ambitions of the government and the responsibilities of RFF to increase the performance of the
national rail network, particularly through an increase in tolls once the constant volume subsidy paid over 2009-2015 comes to an end.
The costs of access to the national rail network are high. Their increase and/or a drop in government subsidies could contribute to a
worsening of Europorte’s financial results. The end of the subsidies would give rise to a marked increase in the operating costs of rail
operators, including EPF, which would be likely to significantly disrupt the market and the pricing policy, and to threaten the
competitiveness of rail freight in the long term. In 2013, although RFF did not receive any subsidies from the French government, RFF
undertook not to pass its additional expenses on to the railway companies.

In the area of transport, the public authorities are recommending the promotion and development of alternative modes of transport.
Encouraging a modal shift from road to rail is one of the main levers of this policy. Yet, France’s secondary rail network, which was
historically very dense, has been neglected and, following a lack of maintenance and use, is gradually being dismantled. However, this
network is essential to the survival of rail freight, since it allows a large part of freight flows to be channelled into the main network.
Without political will on the part of the actors responsible for developing transport infrastructure and the implications of that lack of
political will for the modal shift strategy, the progressive deterioration or eventual disappearance of the feeder networks could have a
major impact on the revenue of EPF, which obtains a third of its business from the transportation of grain.

With regard to the maritime sector, by the time the MARPOL 73/78 regulations for the Prevention of Air Pollution from Ships come into
force in 2015, the Eurotunnel Group, as a ship owner, will have had to do what is necessary in order to obtain International Air Pollution
Prevention Certificates for the ships, confirming that the conditions of the regulations are complied with.

Europorte France, Europorte Channel and GBRf operate under rail freight operators’ licences. These activities may only commence on
the infrastructure after approval of the safety documentation and issuance of a safety certificate by the competent authority.
Furthermore, in order to obtain authorisation to transport certain hazardous materials on a given infrastructure, a safety plan is submitted
and validated by the manager of the infrastructure in question.

The plan to harmonise the conditions of employment of railway workers (both freight and passenger) is one of the objectives of the draft
railway reform which is due to be debated in parliament in the first half of 2014. It is anticipated that a decree will set the common rules
regarding organisation and working time, guaranteeing the “requirements of safety and continuity of public services”, and that the
decree will be supplemented by a sector-wide collective agreement, the drafting of which has been entrusted to a joint committee
composed of the French Public and Rail Transport Union and seven trade union organisations. The establishment of a harmonised
social framework for the whole rail sector could affect the social equilibrium of the company and adversely affect the competitiveness
of Europorte.

Businesses within the Group are subject to different laws and regulations. An amendment or tightening of those regulations could result
in additional investment or operating costs for the Group in order to bring itself into line with those regulatory developments. Changes in
regulations or case law concerning the application of tax rules could also have an impact on the Group’s results. Moreover, other
measures, not directly related to the regulation of the Eurotunnel Group’s business activities, could still affect them. By way of example,
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increased measures to enforce regulations relating to immigration, customs and excise duties could cause delays or affect customer
satisfaction levels.

4.1.6 RISKS RELATED TO EXTREME WEATHER EVENTS

The Shuttle Service, unlike the ferries, is unaffected by sea conditions and is not dependent on the weather. However, the occurrence of
events related to extreme weather conditions, such as major storms or heavy snowfall, can make road networks impassable, thus
preventing customers from accessing the Fixed Link. Such events could also disrupt the functioning of the Fixed Link infrastructure,
reducing its operating capacity or even leading to its temporary closure. Extreme weather can also have an impact on the rail companies
using the Fixed Link and on essential service providers or supply networks that are indispensable for the operation of the Fixed Link
(electricity, water, roads, fuel, etc.). Finally, they can also affect rail freight transport activities and prevent the MyFerryLink ships from
making sea crossings.

Thus, extreme weather events can affect the Group’s business and impact its revenue.

For the Concession, the Eurotunnel Group has on-site weather stations to forecast these events. Moreover, operational continuity plans
ensure the continuity of operations in degraded mode for a given period. In such cases, the Group also has management plans for road
traffic in the vicinity of the terminals.

4.1.7 RISKS LINKED TO TERRORIST THREATS AND ATTACKS

Like other infrastructure operators, the Eurotunnel Group constantly faces the risk of a terrorist threat or attack on its installations,
particularly the Fixed Link, or on neighbouring infrastructure required for circulation of the trains or Shuttles. The Eurotunnel Group
carries out certain activities on behalf of the States and, consequently must implement security and public health measures along with
specific measures for the application of national programmes (such as the Vigipirate security alert system) in accordance with the
Concession Agreement. The Eurotunnel Group adapts its operational practices to meet these requirements and to deliver the required
quality of service. It is not possible to rule out a change in these requirements that would make it necessary for the Group to adapt its
business and commercial practices, leading to an increase in operating costs or deterioration in service quality. That could have an
adverse effect on the Group’s image, competitive advantages, activity, financial position and results. Irrespective of the insurance cover
in place (see section 4.3 below) and government responsibilities, if this risk were to materialise, it could have a significant adverse impact
on the business, revenue and image of the Eurotunnel Group. In addition, safety and security measures could be stepped up, which
could increase passenger inconvenience, reduce capacity and substantially increase the Group’s safety and security-related
expenditure.

Risk management procedures related to the risk of terrorism are described in section 17.2.4 of this Registration Document.

4.1.8 RISKS RELATED TO HEALTH EPIDEMICS

In the European and global health context, the outbreak of an epidemic or the fear of an epidemic are likely to have a negative impact on
traffic, leading to a fall in revenue and/or an increase in costs linked to public health measures.

For the implementation of its operational continuity plans, particularly with regard to operation of the Concession, the Eurotunnel Group
has a crisis management unit which decides on any operational adjustments that may be required, working closely and continuously
with the competent authorities.

4.1.9 RISK OF HARM TO IMAGE AND/OR REPUTATION

The Group may be exposed to reputational risks, particularly when the Group’s values or operational excellence are questioned, or when
its legitimacy as an infrastructure manager or transport operator is challenged.
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Through its organisation and procedures, the Eurotunnel Group makes every effort to prevent the occurrence of operational risks and
disparaging attacks that could harm its image and/or reputation.

Furthermore, in relation to its development, the Group could face opposition from local communities or organisations to the installation
or operation of certain types of equipment or the setting up of new activities. A deterioration in these conditions could result in permits
and licences being refused or delayed, and have a negative impact on the Group’s business. Therefore, the Eurotunnel Group engages
in broad consultation upstream of its projects, builds partnerships with civil society and ensures that its activities generate economic
benefits consistent with the expectations of the communities.

4.2. RISKS RELATED TO CONDUCTING THE BUSINESS OF THE
EUROTUNNEL GROUP

4.2.1 RISKS RELATED TO DEVELOPING AND INVESTING IN THE GROUP’S
BUSINESS

As part of its development strategy, the Eurotunnel Group has pursued in the past, and may pursue in the future, external growth
through acquisitions. Such transactions involve a certain number of risks related to their implementation, the integration of the newly
acquired activities and personnel, failure to generate expected synergies, maintaining uniform controls, procedures and policies, the
appearance of unexpected costs or liabilities and applicable regulations. These risks could have a significant negative effect on the
Group’s business, financial position or results, or on its ability to achieve its objectives.

In order to maintain its quality of service, the Eurotunnel Group is planning large-scale maintenance and replacement of part of its rolling
stock. Given the time required to maintain, build and commission these complex elements, the capital expenditure must be planned
several years in advance. The length of the investment cycle carries risks for the expected return on past investments. The uncertainties
linked to this type of long-term investment could cause significant budget overruns.

4.2.2 OPERATIONAL RISKS

The Eurotunnel Group faces risks inherent in rail transport and infrastructure operation

e The Eurotunnel Group has more than 20 years of experience in maintaining its rolling stock, equipment and infrastructure. It has a
standard maintenance programme, a long-term large-scale maintenance programme, as well as a rolling stock and equipment
replacement plan, as indicated in section 6.2.4 of this Registration Document. However, given the specific nature of the rolling stock,
equipment and infrastructure used for the Fixed Link, the particular conditions and intensity of their use and technological advances,
these programmes and plans may prove insufficient or unsuitable, particularly in the event of premature obsolescence or an increase
in technical faults. This would lead to unforeseen costs or partial or temporary service interruptions, which could affect Eurotunnel
Group’s business, financial position and results. The Eurotunnel Group has implemented standardisation and reconditioning
programmes designed to reduce future maintenance needs and improve the availability of its rolling stock. The impact of the new
industrial solutions introduced to improve operating performance may be hard to master or grasp and could lead to temporary
disruptions to services.

e During the repair or maintenance of its systems, technical incidents/accidents may jeopardise the safety of Eurotunnel Group
employees and subcontractors. The Eurotunnel Group is committed to implementing all safety plans necessary to ensure the
wellbeing of all persons working on its sites.

e Risks related to safety and fire in the Tunnel are covered by the design of the System itself and by a series of principles, procedures
and controls that have been validated by the IGC. With regard to past incidents, the occurrence of another major fire would result in a
substantial increase in the insurance premium. The introduction and effective operation of the SAFE stations reduces the impact of
this historical risk, but cannot reduce the possibility of recurrence. The Group regularly monitors innovations in fire detection and
prevention systems. The Group also takes into account the fact that these risks could come from external entities using the Group’s
facilities and, therefore, as part of its policy to improve safety and service quality, it has two additional independent rescue
locomotives.

2013 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT - GROUPE EUROTUNNEL SA



RISK FACTORS

e Concerning risks related to security, the Eurotunnel Group continues to implement intrusion prevention measures. A sharp increase
in incursions by migrants could require the investment of additional resources or result in a deterioration in service quality and
consequently impact the results of this activity.

e The current state of the rolling stock market requires Europorte in France to place orders to buy and/or lease long before they are
produced and brought into service, creating the risk that the market offering may be inappropriate to Europorte’s needs. When the
time comes, this could affect Europorte’s ability to fulfil its commitments in a timely manner. On the British side, rolling stock that
meets European and national regulations seems to be increasingly difficult to obtain and this could hold back GBRf’s development.

Lack of control by the Group over the activities of the Railways and Railway Companies

The Tunnel is used by High Speed Passenger Train operators and Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services, whose results could be affected
by external events and circumstances beyond the control of the Eurotunnel Group. The Eurotunnel Group does not operate these
services and cannot exert direct influence on the commercial operation of High Speed Passenger Train services or the Train Operators’
Rail Freight Services. The performance, service level and prices offered by these operators to their customers, along with other factors
that may be beyond the operators’ control, influence the use of their services; in turn, these factors affect the revenue that the Eurotunnel
Group receives from the Railways and Railway Companies. The Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services face organisational problems
relating to coordination of national operators, technical constraints and the priority of freight versus passenger traffic on infrastructures
within the European Union. These organisational difficulties could make it hard to achieve significant growth in the volumes transported
by the Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services, and could even lead to a substantial decline in traffic. A significant portion of the Eurotunnel
Group’s revenue therefore depends on the successful operation of these services by entities over which it has no control.

The railway facilities used by the High Speed Passenger Train services and rail freight trains are outside the Eurotunnel Group’s
Concession and could be subject to disruption from various sources. This could result in the stoppage or reduction of this traffic. Such
events could have a negative impact on the Group’s revenue derived from the usage of its railway network.

4.2.3 RISKS RELATED TO HUMAN RESOURCES

Skills

The Group’s business encompasses a wide range of occupations, calling on a variety of skills. In the context of an inverted age pyramid
for the Fixed Link, the replacement of some staff and potential retraining plans are areas that are anticipated by the Group’s Human
Resources Department. The Eurotunnel Group has increased its forward planning in terms of skills management and the transfer
of know-how.

Occupations in the rail industry require lengthy training and other operators are prepared to pay higher salaries. Staff shortages and the
difficulty of replacement within existing teams, including within the management, could affect certain developments. In order to
anticipate the risk of the loss of key skills or the growing scarcity of workers for certain jobs, the Group is pursuing a human resources
policy that is highly oriented towards job management adapted to different contexts and a concern for employability through the
development of training, as indicated in chapter 17 below. Faced with the absence of government training programmes leading to
qualifications in the rail sector, the Group has set up an organisation dedicated to rail industry training courses. In order to retain its key
employees, the Group has introduced long-term incentives and a bonus share scheme open to all Group employees.

Labour relations

In the current economic downturn, the risk of deteriorating labour relations and staff disputes cannot be ruled out. Strikes, walkouts,
industrial action or other forms of unrest could disrupt the activities of the Eurotunnel Group. These could occur not only within the
Eurotunnel Group, but could also affect its customers, subcontractors or suppliers. Developments within the Group could mean that
consultation and negotiation no longer effectively regulate relations between management and staff. In the event of a breakdown in the
negotiation process, those relations could deteriorate, leading to loss of motivation and trust among employees, and affecting the
Group’s external and internal image.

The Group has already implemented restructuring and reorganisation in the past. Further measures cannot be completely ruled out in
the future. Reorganisation could affect the Group’s relations with its employees, giving rise to labour disputes and specifically stoppages,
strikes and other forms of disruption that could have a negative effect on the Group’s business and results.

Labour-related risk management procedures are described in section 17.2 of this Registration Document.
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Quality of working life

One of the Group’s ambitions is to create the right conditions for employee engagement and motivation and to prevent work-related
stress. To help its managers cope with the growing complexity of their work, the Group has invested in the promotion of managerial
practices that place an emphasis on staff development. The Group has implemented initiatives in the most appropriate areas of the
organisation: listening to employees (telephone helpline, psychological support unit, etc.), strategic workforce planning, career ladder
information, development of skills and optimisation of internal mobility. Details of the Group’s strategy and its results are regularly shared
through internal communication, which fosters cohesion.

4.2.4 RISKS RELATED TO DEFAULTING SUPPLIERS OR SUBCONTRACTORS

The Eurotunnel Group relies on subcontractors for parts of its business, particularly relating to security, cleaning (primarily industrial) and
vehicle chocking. It is possible that some of these subcontractors might fail to fulfil their obligations, which could affect the Eurotunnel
Group’s results or financial position. Subcontractor default risk is managed through the Purchasing Department’s careful supplier
selection procedure, as well as through the monitoring of suppliers’ financial positions and close contract management.

The rolling stock and some of the Fixed Link installations have been supplied in very small volumes by a very limited number of suppliers
to meet highly specific operating requirements. The Eurotunnel Group believes that if its original suppliers were unable to supply
replacement parts or whole Shuttles for any reason, or were unwilling to do so on acceptable terms, it would be able to obtain the
necessary equipment from other manufacturers. However, the price or timeframe for such replacements could have an adverse impact
on the Eurotunnel Group’s financial position and prospects. For Europorte, the need to lease new locomotives in coming years brings an
increased risk of reliance on key suppliers. Equipment and materials risk is managed through the purchase of reserve stocks, the
dynamic (annual or six-monthly) review of suppliers, and research into alternative materials and technologies.

The allocation by RFF of poor quality slots or the unavailability of slots could harm Europorte’s image and affect its business. On
22 January 2013, Europorte signed a framework agreement with RFF on the infrastructure capacity required for the rail company to
operate, in addition to a new agreement on slot quality. For the service timetable covered by the deal, RFF agreed to confirm or withdraw
freight slots at least two months before the service is scheduled to run.

The ferries owned by the Group are operated exclusively by a worker cooperative which is external to the Group and could default. The
need to switch operators could have an impact on the results of the maritime segment.

4.2.5 ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS

The Concessionaires are subject to French, English and European environmental regulations, as well as local regulations that require
them to either obtain authorisation for the disposal of certain waste materials or contract an accredited company to remove and dispose
of the waste. Any breach of the environmental regulations would result in them being fined for causing pollution. The regulations also
stipulate that the authorities may force the closure of any facility that does not comply with decisions requiring certain environmentally
harmful activities to cease or be modified.

The Eurotunnel Group has an environmental protection and sustainable development policy which is described in chapter 17 of this
Registration Document. However, there is no guarantee that United Kingdom, French, European, national or local authorities will not
impose new regulations leading to additional expenditure which could have an adverse impact on the results or financial position of the
Eurotunnel Group.

These risks are managed through an environmental analysis, which identifies the various risks and assesses their potential impact. The
resources required to minimise this impact can then be identified. The regulations outline the risks associated with some activities carried
out at the terminals, and specify requirements for reducing and monitoring their impact.

In the United Kingdom, the Concessionaires, as managers of an infrastructure of major importance to the British economy, were
required by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), under the 2008 Climate Change Act, to carry out a study
of the ability of its infrastructure to withstand the foreseeable effects of climate change.
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4.2.6 SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY

The industrial sites and areas in which Europorte operates, and the products transported, present a risk in terms of the environment and
industrial safety

The main customers of Socorail, the Europorte subsidiary specialising in the provision of industrial logistical services, include actors from
the chemical and oil industries subject to the Seveso classification. These industries are subject to very strict safety regulations, therefore
extremely stringent safety criteria are imposed on subcontractors. Although Socorail has, for several years, been engaged in a voluntary
process of ISO 9001: 2008 quality certification and MASE (business safety improvement manual) safety certification, the danger, toxicity
or flammability of some raw materials could cause risks, particularly risks of accidents, fires, explosions and damage to the environment
and wildlife, and could harm the environmental image of Europorte and the Group. The same applies when Europorte’s rail freight
subsidiaries transport various hazardous, toxic or flammable products. Furthermore, the business of rail freight haulage may present
environmental risks in the event of a rail accident, due to the materials transported or the zones crossed. The industrial safety and
environmental risk prevention policy is described in chapter 17.4.2 of this Registration Document.

4.2.7 LEGAL RISKS

Risks related to specific terms of the Concession Agreement

The Concession Agreement under which the Eurotunnel Group operates may only be modified through amendments negotiated with
the States. These negotiations could be long and complex. Were economic, financial or technical developments affecting the Eurotunnel
Group to make rapid changes necessary, the specific terms of the Concession Agreement could limit the Eurotunnel Group’s ability to
adapt or to adjust its business to those developments, which could affect its results and financial position.

Risks related to competition regulation

The Eurotunnel Group’s market, pricing practices and behaviour are governed by competition law, the application of which is supervised
by the French and British competition authorities and the European Commission. This could give rise to the introduction of new
regulatory measures concerning prices, penalties, third-party proceedings for damages and restrictions on the Group’s business
activities. These or other measures could have a significant negative impact on the Eurotunnel Group’s financial position, particularly in
the case of divergent interpretations of a given operation by the French authority and the British authority. As indicated in section 20.8 of
this Registration Document, the French competition authorities did not come to the same conclusion as the British competition
authorities concerning the purchase of certain ex-SeaFrance assets. Furthermore, the Eurotunnel Group cannot be entirely sure that
other future decisions of the competition authorities will not jeopardise the existence of the MyFerryLink subsidiary.

The Group’s management of legal risks is carefully monitored by several departments and, in particular, by the Group’s Legal
Department through a monitoring procedure and meetings with the relevant operational departments.

Risks related to failure to meet contractual obligations
Like any business, the Eurotunnel Group is, by definition, exposed to risks related to failure to meet its contractual obligations to its
customers, suppliers, employees and financial partners.

Customers

The Concessionaires’ obligations to the Railways under the Railway Usage Contract which ends in 2052, or to Railway Companies
under the Network Statement, and the consequences of failing to meet those obligations are detailed in chapter 22 of this Registration
Document. The Group did not see any significant reduction in the Railways’ contributions to its fixed annual charges in 2013 as a result
of unavailability of the Fixed Link. It cannot be ruled out that the Railways may wish, before the end of the Railway Usage Contract, to
renegotiate it or dispute certain of its provisions.

As part of its transport activity, the Eurotunnel Group transports passengers and trucks on board its Shuttles. The Eurotunnel Group’s
commitments are governed by its general conditions of carriage.

Within its rail freight transport and industrial-site management business, Europorte, to secure its activity and reduce the risk of
dependency on a few key customers, has identified possibilities for diversification and growth. Europorte’s commercial policy seeks to
mitigate risks of dependency on a few customers or sectors of activity by diversifying the customer portfolio and developing growth
opportunities in the infrastructure management market.
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Suppliers

The Group’s purchasing procedures and general purchasing conditions set forth the terms of payment for supplier invoices. The
conditions applied by the Group in France are compliant with the obligations defined in the French Economic Modernisation Act of
4 August 2008. The Group has established systems and procedures for processing supplier invoices to make sure that they are paid in
accordance with the contractual terms and conditions.

The following table shows the payment schedule of the Group’s accounts payable at 31 December 2013:

IN MILLIONS Total Not yet due 0-30 days 31-90 days Over 90 days
France (€) 28.6 21.7 5.7 0.4 0.8
United Kingdom (£) 9.4 6.1 2.6 0.4 0.3

The following table shows the payment schedule of the Group’s accounts payable at 31 December 2012:

IN MILLIONS Total Not yet due 0-30 days 31-90 days Over 90 days
France (€) 22.1 15.4 5.0 0.8 0.9
United Kingdom (£) 8.9 6.5 1.9 0.3 0.2

Financial partners

The obligations related to the Group’s Term Loan are described in chapter 22 of this Registration Document. These obligations,
combined with the level of the Eurotunnel Group’s debt, could affect its ability to obtain additional financing in the future and limit its
ability to react to changes that affect its business or the markets in which it operates. The loans and other financing could become
subject to early repayment in full should the Group fail to meet certain of its contractual obligations, or in the event of occurrence of the
events or defaults mentioned in chapter 22 and note V to the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration
Document.

As part of the procedures for the management of these risks, the Finance Department continually monitors the Group’s commitments
and restrictions within the framework of the Treasury Risk Management Committee.

Significant legal proceedings
The Eurotunnel Group is now, and could be in the future, involved in certain administrative or judicial proceedings. The most significant
current or potential proceedings are described in section 20.8 of this Registration Document.

More generally, it cannot be ruled out that, in the future, new legal proceedings, whether related to ongoing proceedings or not, could be
brought against any of the Eurotunnel Group’s entities; were such proceedings to have an unfavourable outcome, they could have an
adverse impact on the business, financial position or results of the Eurotunnel Group.

The main shareholder of GET SA holds a significant percentage of the capital and voting rights
GS Infrastructure Partners (GSIP) holds, through various funds, a significant ownership interest in the capital of GET SA, as indicated in
chapter 18 of this Registration Document.

Consequently, it could be in a position to exert an influence at the general meeting on the Group’s corporate decisions requiring
shareholder approval (the election and dismissal of members of the board of directors, the distribution of dividends, changes to the
articles of association and decisions to undertake important operations for the Group, including new issues of equity securities). Also,
the organisation of corporate governance within the Group (number of independent board members, board committees) as described in
chapter 16 of this Registration Document is another way to moderate this risk.

4.2.8 RISKS RELATED TO INFORMATION SYSTEMS

With the arrival of new technologies, the information system is extending beyond the Group with the outsourcing of certain IT systems
(cloud computing) and new uses by employees (Bring Your Own Device). Attacks via the internet are increasingly complex and
numerous. At the same time, the Group’s activities and processes are becoming increasingly dependent on information systems.
Information system failures could result in losses or leaks of data, delays or additional costs, posing a risk to the Group’s strategy
or image.
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These risks are addressed through functional, technical and legal security measures: securing smartphones, automatic detection of
security vulnerabilities on Group servers, annual intrusion tests, and so on. System redundancy, contingency plans and recovery plans
are in place for strategic systems. Moreover, the Concessionaires that generate a large part of their revenue online and are considered to
be a critical infrastructure operator are subject to particular audit and control obligations in terms of information system security.

4.3. INSURANCE

The Eurotunnel Group’s insurance programmes consist primarily of policies covering material damage and business interruption
(including terrorism) and third-party liability.

For the Fixed Link, the material damage and business interruption policy (including terrorism) is composed of two layers of respectively
€400 million and €300 million, providing total cover of €700 million. The first layer was renewed on 1 January 2014 for two years ending
31 December 2015, and the second layer for one year ending 31 December 2014. Premiums are paid annually.

The Eurotunnel Group’s third-party liability policy (excluding specific programmes) was renewed on 1 January 2014 for two years,
ending 31 December 2015.

The dedicated insurance programme for EPF, EPP and Socorail which was already in place, has been renewed for the period
1 December 2013 to 30 November 2014. It includes cover for material damage and business interruption, third-party liability and
environmental damage.

In certain circumstances, payments by insurance companies under existing insurance guarantees may not be sufficient to cover all of
the loss suffered. Losses in excess of the agreed indemnity limits or the application of deductibles or certain exclusion clauses could
result in the Eurotunnel Group incurring unforeseen costs or could affect its business, financial position or results.

In addition, changes to the insurance market and the occurrence of operational incidents could lead to an adverse change in the
Eurotunnel Group’s insurance programme and the terms and conditions of such insurance, such as the level of premiums, the level of
insurance deductibles and the scope of any exclusions which could have an adverse impact on the Eurotunnel Group’s business,
financial position or results.

As part of the Group’s risk management procedures for this type of risk, it regularly ensures that it has the appropriate level of coverage
and takes corrective actions when needed.
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5. INFORMATION ABOUT
GET SA

9.1. HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF GET SA

5.1.1 COMPANY NAME

Groupe Eurotunnel SA.

5.1.2 REGISTRATION PLACE AND NUMBER

GET SA is registered at the Paris Trade and Companies Registry under registration number 483 385 142.

Its SIRET number is 48338514200029. Its NAF code is 6420Z.

5.1.3 DATE OF INCORPORATION AND DURATION

GET SA was incorporated on 6 July 2005 and was registered on 3 August 2005 for a fixed period of 99 years from the date of its
registration in the Trade and Companies Registry, save for early winding-up or extension, i.e. until 3 August 2104.

5.1.4 REGISTERED OFFICE, LEGAL FORM AND APPLICABLE LAW

The registered office of GET SA is located at 3 rue La Boétie, 75008 Paris.
Telephone: +33 (0)1 40 98 04 60

GET SAis a French public limited company (Société Anonyme) with a board of directors, incorporated under French law. GET SA is
governed by Part Il of the French Commercial Code and decree no. 67-236 of 23 March 1967 regarding commercial companies,
codified in the regulatory section of the French Commercial Code.

5.1.5 IMPORTANT EVENTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS OF GET SA

a) Maritime activity: procedure before the UK Competition Commission
In 2012, the Eurotunnel Group created the company Euro-TransManche Holding SAS as part of the project to acquire certain assets of
the SeaFrance group in liquidation, including notably the ferries the Berlioz, the Rodin and the Nord Pas-de-Calais, for a total of
€65 million. The transfer of ownership of these assets occurred on 2 July 2012, with a clause prohibiting the transfer of the ferries for a
period of five years. The ferries are owned by three subsidiaries of Euro-TransManche Holding SAS. The commercial activity is carried
out by another subsidiary of Euro-TransManche Holding SAS, MyFerrylLink SAS.

Following the appeal by Groupe Eurotunnel SA and SCOP SeaFrance, the Competition Appeal Tribunal issued its judgement on
4 December 2013. This judgement quashed the decision by the UK Competition Commission of 6 June 2013 which prohibited Groupe
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Eurotunnel SA (or any connected party) from operating ferry services out of the port of Dover, either directly or indirectly, for a period of
ten years using the ferries the Berlioz and the Rodin, and for a period of two years for any other ferry.

The Tribunal considered that the UK Competition Commission, having failed to demonstrate that Groupe Eurotunnel SA had acquired an
enterprise and not just individual assets, had not justified that it has jurisdiction in the matter. The Tribunal therefore remitted to the
Competition Commission the question of whether the Eurotunnel Group acquired an enterprise.

In a press release dated 8 January 2014, the UK Competition Commission announced that it would reconsider the question of the
nature of the acquisition by Groupe Eurotunnel SA of the three ferries and the other assets of the former SeaFrance. The Competition
Commission is expected to announce its decision at the beginning of May 2014. The previous decision of the Competition Commission
provided for the implementation of the required remedies within a period of six months from the date of the order.

The Eurotunnel Group confirms its determination to continue its maritime activity and maintains its position that the acquisition of the
former SeaFrance ferries nine months after the liquidation of SeaFrance and the cessation of its activity, does not constitute the
acquisition of an enterprise that would fall within the Competition Commission’s jurisdiction. The Eurotunnel Group believes that the
performance of MyFerryLink increases competition in the cross-Channel market.

In this context, the financial statements at 31 December 2013 have been prepared on the basis that the maritime business will continue.

b) Reasoned opinion issued by the European Commission on the implementation of the first railway package

On 20 June 2018, the European Commission issued a formal request to France and the United Kingdom in the form of a “reasoned
opinion”, asking the French and UK authorities to comply with the provisions of the 2001 first railway package (Directives 91/440/EEC
and 2001/14/EC) with respect, in particular for the financial aspects, to the track access charges for Railway Companies using the
Channel Tunnel and the duration of the contract with the railways. The Commission states that the Shuttle activity is not affected by
this procedure.

In their response to the European Commission in September 2013, the French and UK authorities rejected all the points raised by the
Commission and confirmed the validity of the cross-Channel Fixed Link’s track access charges in relation to European directives.

The Eurotunnel Group does not expect any significant consequences to result from this procedure.

c) Accounting for deferred tax

Given its earnings outlook and its significant cumulative losses, the Group has accounted for a net deferred tax asset of €127 million at
31 December 2013, of which €83 million has been accounted for in the income statement and €44 million in other comprehensive
income. Details of this are shown in note L to the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

5.1.6 RECENT EVENTS

As outlined in section 20.8.2 of this Registration Document, the Competition Commission announced on 8 January 2014 that it would
reconsider the question of the nature of the acquisition by Groupe Eurotunnel SA and that it would give its decision in May 2014. In
accordance with the procedure in the United Kingdom, the Competition Commission published its preliminary findings on
21 March 2014. The Competition Commission maintains its position that the acquisition of the ferries from the former maritime company
SeaFrance constitutes an acquisition of an enterprise and not the acquisition of assets.

The purpose of this report is to allow interested parties to comment on the provisional findings. The Group intends to contest this
analysis and to submit its response within the required timeframe. The final decision is still expected in May 2014.

2013 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT - GROUPE EUROTUNNEL SA



INFORMATION ABOUT GET sA ()

5.2. INVESTMENTS

5.2.1 SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS MADE BY THE EUROTUNNEL GROUP DURING
THE LAST THREE YEARS AND SIGNIFICANT CURRENT INVESTMENTS

The total amount of the Eurotunnel Group’s investments in the last three years is respectively €96,012,000 for the 2011 financial year,
€182,139,000 for the 2012 financial year and €74,382,000 for the 2013 financial year.

Over the last three financial years, the Eurotunnel Group’s main investments in the Fixed Link were:

e the programme to renovate and increase the engine power of 18 locomotives from 5.6 to 7 MW, at a cost of around €39 million,
which will give the Eurotunnel Group a 44-strong fleet of 7 MW locomotives at the end of 2013, better able to handle the heavier
loads that result from the lengthening of Truck Shuttles to 32 carriers and increased truck weights;

e the installation of the GSM-R (approximately €17 million);

e the entry into service of the GSM-P in the North tunnel which is an important element in improving the offer to the customer by
enabling them to use mobile communications services from French or British telecoms operators whilst in the Tunnel on Shuttles and
passenger trains (approximately €14 million);

e the installation of SAFE stations (approximately €11 million);

e decocooning of the ninth Passenger Shuttle and comprehensive periodic maintenance by rake (approximately €10 million);

e catenary power to be cut at platforms and installation of compressors under Passenger Shuttle double-deck loaders (approximately
€5 million);

e floor renovations on the Arbel and Breda Truck Shuttles (approximately €9 million);

e renovation of the fleet of dedicated vehicles that operate in the service tunnel.

Over the last three financial years, the Eurotunnel Group’s main investments in the Europorte segment totalled approximately
€131 million, and consisted mainly of the purchase of rolling stock as part of the ongoing rationalisation of the locomotive fleet, notably
locomotives for Europorte France and GBRf.

As indicated in chapter 6 of this Registration Document, on 2 July 2012 the Eurotunnel Group acquired certain assets from the former
shipping company SeaFrance which was in liquidation, consisting mainly of the vessels Berlioz, Rodin and Nord Pas-de-Calais. The
total investment to acquire and rehabilitate these vessels was €80 million, of which €65 million was for the initial acquisition.

In 2011 and 2012, the Group acquired variable rate notes with a nominal value of €167 million for €150 million. These notes were issued
by Channel Link Enterprises Finance (CLEF), the securitisation vehicle for the Group’s debt, and are identical in their characteristics to
tranche C of the Group’s debt, including their maturity of between 2041 and 2050. This acquisition will improve the Group’s financial
results. These transactions do not result in the modification of the existing contractual obligations relating to tranche C of the debt. As a
result, these notes are accounted for in other financial assets and the related interest income is accounted for in other financial income
as described in note Q to the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

5.2.2 SIGNIFICANT FUTURE INVESTMENTS

Investment projects planned for 2014 fall into three categories: those undertaken in response to outside constraints, those to replace
equipment before it becomes obsolete and those to improve the Group’s performance. Each project has a level of flexibility in terms of
scope and phasing which can be adjusted as circumstances change.

In the current economic environment and given the risk of increased competition in the cross-Channel market, these investments are for
the most part essential to sustaining the competitiveness and market share of the Eurotunnel Group’s activities.

The project to equip the Tunnel with GSM-R continues and requires a total investment estimated at €44 million, of which €14 million is
expected in 2014. This project is to meet obligations under the European directive on interoperability of the European networks and will
allow the circulation of trains run by new entrants, including Deutsche Bahn.

A major project which is required to meet environmental regulations and which forms part of the Group’s sustainable development is the
replacement of chillers for Tunnel cooling plant and air conditioning systems using R22 gas which is prohibited from 1 January 2015.
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Replacement projects in 2014 include floors for the Truck Shuttles, a number of track switches and couplings on the Passenger Shuttles
and locomotives and on Truck Shuttle loader wagons and Club Cars to allow them to operate under optimum conditions of reliability,
safety and security.

Intensive use and the natural life cycle of rolling stock have led to deterioration in some of the wagon equipment. To remedy this, several
programmes have been recently launched to renovate the floors of the Passenger Shuttle carrier wagons. These projects will strengthen
the structure and bodies of the wagons and extend their useful life.

Other projects are designed to boost the Group’s performance, capacity or productivity, notably including the development plan for the

Truck Shuttle activity:

e the comprehensive redevelopment of the French and British terminals including equipping and developing the car parks used by
customers of the Truck Shuttle Service;

e the design of a new generation Truck Shuttle; and

e the reorganisation and development of rolling stock maintenance workshops in order to meet requirements for the next
two decades.

The ElecLink project, in which GET SA holds a 49% share, has received authorisations as described in section 6.4.2 of this Registration
Document. The investment required for this project will be financed by equity and debt raised by Eleclink in accordance with terms and
conditions which have not yet been determined.

GBRf is studying a project for the acquisition of new locomotives to support its growth.

As the owner of ferries, the Eurotunnel Group will need to carry out the modifications required by the MARPOL regulations as indicated in
chapter 4 of this Registration Document.
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6.1. INTRODUCTION

GET SA, the Group’s listed holding company, controls the two Channel Tunnel Concessionaires and Europorte SAS in relation to rail
freight transport activities and, since 2012, Euro-TransManche Holding SAS in relation to maritime activities.

The two Concessionaires operate the Tunnel in accordance with the Treaty of Canterbury and the Concession Agreement. The Treaty of
Canterbury, signed on 12 February 1986, authorised the construction and operation of the Fixed Link by private concessionaire
companies and established the framework of the Concession Agreement, which was signed on 14 March 1986.

Under the terms of the Concession Agreement, the States granted the Concessionaires the right and obligation to design, finance, build
and operate the Fixed Link between France and the United Kingdom for an initial period of 55 years. This term was extended by 10 years
in 1994 and by a further 34 years in 1999. The Concession Agreement thus extended will expire in 2086. The main provisions of the
Treaty of Canterbury and the Concession Agreement are described in chapter 22 of this Registration Document.

The Concessionaires operate the System, which links France and the United Kingdom. The System comprises three tunnels, each
approximately 50 kilometres long, which run mostly under the Channel, along with the Folkestone terminal in the United Kingdom and
the Coquelles terminal in France, the fixed equipment and related installations. Two of the tunnels are single-track rail tunnels, which in
normal service are used by trains travelling in one direction only. The third tunnel, which for most of its length lies between the two main
rail tunnels, provides a safe means of emergency evacuation and access for Tunnel maintenance. There are also four crossing points
between the rail tunnels, so that when maintenance work is being done on a section of one tunnel, trains can switch to the other.

The System is directly linked to the British and French motorway networks. The Folkestone and Coquelles terminals are the departure
and arrival points for vehicles using the Shuttle Services. Shopping and food service facilities are available to customers at each terminal.
Border controls and security checks take place at the departure terminal, so in principle no checks are required at the arrival terminal.
The System is also linked to the French and British railway networks, in particular to their high-speed lines. All rail traffic in the System is
controlled from railway control centres at the French and British terminals.

The holding company Europorte SAS groups all the rail freight transport subsidiaries (Europorte segment) providing a wide range of
integrated rail freight services, including national and international haulage, local services for secondary lines, and services to industry
(individual junction management, infrastructure maintenance, and wagon loading and unloading). The external-growth operations
carried out between 2009 and 2010 thus give Europorte a greater density on the ground in France and Britain, allowing it to extend its
range of services.

The holding company Euro-TransManche Holding SAS groups all the maritime subsidiaries (MyFerryLink maritime segment) owning
three vessels, which are operated commercially using a series of charter agreements under which SCOP SeaFrance is responsible for
the equipment and nautical management of the vessels on the sea route between the ports of Calais in France and Dover in the
United Kingdom, and which are marketed by the subsidiary MyFerryLink SAS.

In 2013 Eurotunnel Group earned its revenue from four main sources:
e the Fixed Link activities, mainly:
— the Shuttle Service (Le Shuttle) for both the transport of trucks and the transport of cars, motor homes, caravans, coaches,
motorcycles and trailers on its Passenger Shuttles;
— payments made for use of the Railway Network by High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar) and by Train Operators’ Rail Freight
Services;
e the Europorte rail freight segment;
e the MyFerryLink maritime segment.
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The breakdown of the Eurotunnel Group’s 2013 revenue is as follows:

2012
IN € MILLION restated™ Variance 2012

Exchange rate €/£ 1.187 1.187 1.28
Shuttle Services 477 470 +2% 478
Railway Network 289 280 +3% 286
Other revenues 13 13 +2% 13
Sub-total Fixed Link Concession 779 763 +2% 777
Europorte 239 206 +16% 209
MyFerryLink 74 7 7
Revenue 1,092 976 +12% 993

*  Restated at the exchange rate used for the 2013 income statement (£1= €1.187).

MyFerryLink began operations on 20 August 2012.

Unless otherwise indicated, the information in this chapter 6 originates from sources within the Eurotunnel Group.

6.2. CROSS-CHANNEL ACTIVITIES

6.2.1 MAIN MARKETS

The Eurotunnel Group operates in the transport market between continental Europe and the United Kingdom. It offers (i) a Shuttle
Service between Calais and Folkestone, and which competes directly with ferry operators between Dover and the Continent in the
transport of passengers, cars, coaches and trucks, and (i) a Railway Network on which Railway Companies can run rail freight trains and
High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar), and (jii) a maritime transport service between Dover and the Continent, under the MyFerryLink
brand, in direct competition with other ferry operators and Shuttle Services between Calais and Folkestone.

a) Freight market

Freight traffic between continental Europe and the United Kingdom is commonly divided into four modes:

e Roll-On/Roll-Off accompanied: trucks and trailers crossing the Channel or the North Sea on Shuttles or ferries at the same time as
the road tractor and driver, mostly via the Short Straits;

e Roll-On/Roll-Off unaccompanied: trailers crossing the Channel or the North Sea independently of the road tractor, mostly via North
Sea routes;

e Rail freight: conventional or intermodal trains through the Tunnel; and

e Lift-On/Lift-Off: moveable containers or swap bodies loaded on Lift-On/Lift-Off container ships, mostly on the North Sea routes.

The market is based on three corridors:

e the Short Straits: all routes from continental Europe to Dover, Folkestone and Ramsgate (including the Tunnel);

e the English Channel: all routes from continental Europe to ports on the south coast of the United Kingdom to the south-west of
Folkestone; and

e the North Sea: all routes from continental Europe to ports on the east coast of the United Kingdom to the north of Ramsgate
(including the Thames Estuary).

The modal distribution varies by geographic zone. For accompanied trucks, the long trip across the English Channel or the even longer
trip across the North Sea is costly. These routes are more suitable for Roll-On/Roll-Off unaccompanied and Lift-On/Lift-Off solutions.

By contrast, the shorter crossing times of the Short Straits are more appropriate to time-sensitive traffic, and attract a much larger share
of Roll-On/Roll-Off accompanied traffic.
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Short Straits
In the freight market, the Truck Shuttle Service is in direct competition with ferry operators on the accompanied road transport route
across the Short Straits, including MyFerryLink.

Over the last 15 years, there has been a marked shift towards the use of accompanied trucks in the freight market between continental
Europe and the United Kingdom. The trend in favour of accompanied trucks has now come to an end and market shares between the
routes are now relatively stable.

However, the Roll-On/Roll-Off accompanied mode on the Short Straits routes continues to grow because it provides the shortest and
quickest route for crossing the Channel.

The Short Straits’” (Truck Shuttles’ and ferries’) share of the freight market rose on the back of the success of the Roll-On/Roll-Off
accompanied mode, reflecting:

e the lack of development of cross-Channel rail freight;

e capacity increases and changes in pricing policies by the various operators.

The freight market continued to grow in 2013 by an estimated 4.7% compared with 2012, but nevertheless remains some 5% below
2007, before the economic crisis and in particular the economic slowdown in the United Kingdom. The extent and timing of the
economic recovery in the United Kingdom are difficult to determine.

b) Passenger market

Until 2008, the international passenger transport market from and to the United Kingdom grew steadily. Most of this growth was
concentrated on trips to southern or Eastern Europe, markets in which the Eurotunnel Group is not active. The impact of the global
economic environment largely reversed this trend between 2009 and 2012. The passenger market achieved significant growth in 2013
compared with 2012, mainly during the summer period (source: International Passenger Survey estimates).

The Passenger Shuttle Service and the MyFerryLink maritime service transport all passengers travelling with their vehicles between
Calais, Folkestone and Dover. They are in direct competition with ferry operators in the Short Straits market. The transport services for
passengers travelling without their vehicles provided by airlines or by High-Speed Passenger Trains constitute a marginal and indirect
source of competition to these two services.

Eurostar services principally operate in the market for transporting passengers travelling without their vehicles between Paris and
London and between Brussels and London. Eurostar’'s main competitors are airlines.

Short Straits

During the 1990s, this market was characterised in particular by a high proportion of day trips, with passengers attracted by duty-free
purchases or other economic benefits. These advantages have disappeared, so the number of day trips on the Short Straits route is on a
sustained downward trend. However, the number of long-stay (five days and over) and short-stay (fewer than five days) trips increased
as a result of:

e the withdrawal of passenger services on other cross-Channel routes, which led to a transfer of traffic to the Short Straits;

e the adoption of dynamic pricing by some operators, particularly the Eurotunnel Group;

e airline pricing policies and an end to the steady fall in air fares; and

e ajrport disruption and delays.

The car market declined significantly in 2012, partially offset by one-off events such as the Diamond Jubilee and the 2012 London
Olympic Games in June, August and September. The market contracted by 2.4% in 2012 compared with 2011. The car market
significantly recovered by about 2.8% compared with 2012, mainly during peak periods, the summer and school holidays in
the United Kingdom.

c) Competitive position in the Short Straits market
The Shuttle Services and the MyFerryLink maritime service are in direct competition with the ferry services operated by P&O Ferries and
DFDS Seaways. They compete indirectly with airlines and to a lesser extent with Eurostar.

i) Ferry operators
Cross-Channel ferry operators are using larger ships to handle greater volumes of traffic and to achieve economies of scale over the long
term, looking for growth in the freight market rather than in the passenger market (cars). On 15 October 2012, the Nord-Pas de Calais
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region approved the declaration of the project for the development and expansion of the Port of Calais in the public interest. The Port of
Dover plans to create a new terminal in the Western Docks to accommodate larger ferries.

Following the withdrawal of Hoverspeed in October 2005, SpeedFerries in November 2008, LD Lines in September 2010 and the
liquidation of SeaFrance in January 2012, the Eurotunnel Group’s main competitors are P&0O and DFDS Seaways.

P&O
Since March 2006, P&O Ferries (“P&QO”) has been a subsidiary of DP World, a worldwide operator of port facilities.

P&QO is the most important ferry operator on the Short Straits, with five vessels, and is in direct competition with Eurotunnel Group both in
the freight market and in the passenger market.

P&O operates up to five vessels (Pride of Kent, Pride of Burgundy, Spirit of Britain, Spirit of France and European Seaway), two of which
are new and, at 210 metres, are the longest ships deployed on routes to and from Dover. These two vessels can each carry 180 heavy
goods vehicles, double the capacity of the existing ships!™.

DFDS Seaways
Previously a subsidiary of the Danish group AP Moeller-Maersk, Norfolkline DFDS Seaways has been owned by the Danish company
DFDS since the end of 2009.

In 2013, DFDS Seaways had three ships operating on the Dover-Dunkirk link, all delivered in 2005 and 2006. They have a lower
passenger capacity than those traditionally used by P&O Ferries.

Once SeaFrance ceased trading, LD Lines’ Norman Spirit was transferred from Le Havre to bolster DFDS’s fleet on the Dunkirk-Dover
route. Since 17 February 2012, DFDS Seaways has been running a service between Calais and Dover. In 2013, DFDS Seaways
operated two vessels on the Dover-Calais link (Norman Spirit and the former Moliére of SeaFrance)®.

MyFerryLink
The MyFerryLink maritime service is described in section 6.2.5.

i) Shuttle Services
Competitive advantages of the Shuttle Service

The Eurotunnel Group considers that, under normal operating conditions, its Shuttle Service enjoys considerable competitive

advantages over ferries even though certain market segments are inaccessible to it, notably out-of-gauge vehicles and certain

dangerous goods. These competitive advantages are as follows:

e speed: the standard travel time between the French and British motorways is much shorter than via the ferries;

e departure frequency: the Eurotunnel Group’s Shuttle Service runs more frequently than any of its competitors and it runs every day of
the year;

e reliability: the Shuttle Service, unlike the ferries, is unaffected by sailing conditions and is not dependent on the weather; and

e environmentally friendly: the electric power it uses for traction generates much lower greenhouse gas emissions than fossil fuels.

Eurotunnel’s Shuttle Service also offers:

e a freight service that is independent of the passenger service, which has a peak tourist season;

e more efficient management of loading/unloading; and

e the direct management of its terminals, in contrast to the ferries, for which port operations are managed by third parties.

Eurotunnel Group considers that the maritime transport service under the MyFerryLink brand, while completely different from the Shuttle
Service, offers its customers a lower-cost alternative with the same Eurotunnel Group standards in terms of security, safety and
customer service.

i) Airlines
Airlines, and particularly low-cost airlines, also have an indirect impact on the Short Straits market. These companies serve many
destinations in continental Europe and so compete with operators in the Short Straits, including the Passenger Shuttle Service in the

™ www.poferries.com

@ www.dfdsseaways.fr
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short-stay leisure market. Many destinations in France are now served by low-cost airlines offering an alternative means of transport
between France and the United Kingdom.

iv)  Eurostar
To a lesser extent, Eurostar’s High-Speed Passenger Trains compete indirectly with the Passenger Shuttle Service in the leisure market.

6.2.2 FIXED LINK: ACTIVITIES

The Eurotunnel Group operates and directly markets a Shuttle Service through the Tunnel and also manages the safe and efficient
passage of High-Speed Passenger Trains and of the Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services on the Railway Network.

a) Shuttle transport activities

The Eurotunnel Group’s sales, marketing and operations strategy is focused on clearly differentiating its product from that of its

competitors. This strategy aims to ensure outstanding service quality and optimum security, and involves the following key measures:

e constant alignment of supply with demand, ensuring optimal load factors on the Shuttles;

e commercial strategies providing a product offering even better suited to customers’ needs and ensuring better control of Eurotunnel
Group’s distribution network; and

e cost control achieved through programmes to optimise maintenance and production management cycles and renegotiating the
main sub-contracting agreements (the areas in which Eurotunnel Group uses sub-contractors are described in section 17.2.1 i) of
this Registration Document).

This business model focuses on operating margins and seeks to maximise profitability rather than to increase volume and market share.

i) Truck Shuttle Service
Introduction

The Truck Shuttle Service carries trucks between France and the United Kingdom on Shuttle trains. In each terminal, drivers pass
through dedicated check-in, security and border control facilities. Other facilities for trucks are located close to the terminals. Drivers and
their passengers do not remain in their vehicles during the crossing, but travel in a separate carriage (“Club Car”) specially designed for
this purpose.

The Eurotunnel Group has 15 Truck Shuttles (six of which have capacity for 31 trucks and nine have capacity for 32 trucks), thus
enabling the Group to operate up to six departures per hour in each direction.

Strategy

Truck service marketing strategy

The strategy is based on an optimisation of Truck Shuttle revenue and a pricing policy that reflects the value of the service provided by
the Eurotunnel Group and its speed, ease and reliability.

Throughout the year, the Eurotunnel Group gives priority to customers under contract, only providing transport to occasional customers
as available capacity allows.
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Truck Shuttle Service market share
Eurotunnel Group estimates that its share of the Truck Shuttle Service market on the Short Straits corridor has evolved as follows:

2013 2012

Market share®**
Vehicles® (estimate) Vehicles® Market share®*

Accompanied trucks 1,362,849 38.6% 1,464,880 43.5%

* Number of accompanied trucks transported by the Truck Shuttle Service.

*k

The market share percentages are derived by calculating the Truck Shuttle Service’s accompanied truck traffic as a proportion of the total of such traffic
on the Short Straits market as reported by IRN Services Ltd.

2012 was marked by the absence of the traditional operator SeaFrance and the resulting redistribution of traffic, as well as by additional
traffic generated by the London Olympic Games. The market share of Truck Shuttles therefore continued to rise, reaching 43.5% for the
year, a record since the Fixed Link was opened. The introduction of the MyFerryLink maritime service, as well as the new Calais-Dover
service provided by DFDS, helped to re-establish at the Port of Calais a range of transport services comparable to that which existed
before the departure of the traditional operator SeaFrance.

The resulting partial redistribution of traffic resulted in a significant fall in market share of the Truck Shuttle Service in 2013, which stood at
38.6% for the year, comparable to that of 2007.

i) Passenger Shuttle Service (Le Shuttle)
Introduction

The Passenger Shuttle Service carries cars, motor homes, caravans, coaches, motorcycles and trailers between France and the
United Kingdom on Shuttles. Tickets can be bought in advance at www.eurotunnel.com, by telephone from the customer service
centre, from travel agents and on arrival at check-in. Customers remain in their vehicle throughout the crossing, which normally lasts
approximately 35 minutes from platform to platform. Each Passenger Shuttle has two sections: a double-deck section mainly for cars
and motorcycles and a single-deck section reserved for vehicles higher than 1.85 metres, mainly coaches, minibuses and cars with roof
boxes or towing caravans.

Eurotunnel Group has nine Passenger Shuttles able to carry up to 180 cars or 120 cars and 12 coaches. The Passenger Shuttle Service
can operate up to five departures per hour in each direction.

Strategy
The business model aims to optimise Passenger Shuttle revenue by increasing the average revenue per Shuttle departure.

Pricing policy (“Dynamic Pricing”)

The Group’s pricing system calculates and adjusts ticket prices according to departure time and Shuttle load factor. Currently, more than
80% of Le Shuttle car customers who book their tickets do so online. This policy optimises passenger revenue and the average ticket
price for passenger vehicles (cars, motor homes, caravans, motorcycles, etc.).

Adapting capacity to demand

The capacity of the Passenger Shuttle Service is constantly adjusted to improve loading rates and reduce costs. Several operational
changes have been made to continuously improve this strategy, such as better distribution of Shuttle departures during the day, fewer
Passenger Shuttles running at off-peak times and more during peak times, and the introduction of more flexibility in train crew
management.

Over the medium term, this policy has allowed the Eurotunnel Group to optimise the load factor, which went from 45% in 2004 to 60%
in 2013.
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Passenger Shuttle Service market share
The Eurotunnel Group estimates that its share of the car and coach passenger markets on the Short Straits were as follows:

2013 2012
Market share
Vehicles (estimated) Vehicles Market share
Cars® 2,481,167 50.5% 2,424,342 50.8%
Coaches®™ 64,507 41.6% 58,966 41.2%

* Number of vehicles transported by the Passenger Shuttle Service. The market share percentages are calculated by converting the number of vehicles
transported into Car Equivalent Units (“CEU”) and determining the Passenger Shuttle Service’s share of total CEU transported on the Short Straits as
reported by IRN Services Ltd.

Ak

Number of vehicles transported by the Passenger Shuttle Service. The market share percentages are calculated by determining the Passenger Shuttle
Service’s share of the total number of coaches transported on the Short Straits as reported by IRN Services Ltd.

Despite a subdued market environment in 2012, traffic growth was made possible by gains in market share. In 2012, as a result of the
contraction in supply following the exit of the traditional operator SeaFrance, the Shuttle Service increased its share of the car market to
almost 51% for the year, up 4.4 percentage points on the previous year.

In a rapidly growing passenger transport market and despite the re-establishment of a range of maritime services comparable to that
existing before the departure of the traditional operator SeaFrance, the market share of the Passenger Shuttle Service remained
relatively stable (—0.3% compared with 2012).

b) Railway Network

In 2013, Eurotunnel Group earned 26% of its revenue (37 % of Fixed Link revenue) from the use of the Railway Network by High-Speed
Passenger Trains and Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services. The Eurotunnel Group does not operate these trains but manages their safe
and efficient passage through the Tunnel infrastructure.

The use of the Tunnel by the Railway Companies is governed by the Railway Usage Contract with the national Railways, which is in force
until 2052. Under this charging framework, the Railways are obliged to pay to the Eurotunnel Group fixed annual charges and variable
charges according to the number of passengers on High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar). The variable charges are determined
according to a toll formula that applies throughout the life of the Railway Usage Contract, and which takes into account the effects of
inflation to a certain extent. In addition, the Railways are required to contribute to the operating costs of the System, as well as to
investment costs relating to the modernisation of equipment.

A simplified pricing mechanism for freight trains has been put in place, with charging per freight train instead of charging per tonne of
freight. This scale is published annually by the Eurotunnel Group in its Network Statement, which sets out access conditions to its
Railway Network implementing the charging framework of the Railway Usage Contract for all Railway Companies for the operation of
High-Speed Passenger Trains and freight trains.

The Eurotunnel Group’s revenue for its Railway Network depends solely on receiving variable charges payable according to the number
of passengers transported by the Eurostar High-Speed Passenger Trains and the number of freight trains, and the annual fixed charges
as well as the contribution made by the Railways to operating costs.

In 2013, the Eurotunnel Group generated €289 million of revenue from the use of its Railway Network.

i) High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar and new market entrants)

Market developments

The market for High-Speed Passenger Train services (Eurostar and future new market entrants) comprises business and leisure
passengers travelling between the United Kingdom and continental Europe. The market is geographically diverse and includes
passengers travelling between London and Paris or London and Brussels and passengers travelling between other points in the
United Kingdom and France, Belgium, the Netherlands and Germany. Eurostar’s High-Speed Passenger Trains connect London with
the centre of Paris and Brussels and compete directly with airlines on travel time, frequency, comfort and price. For short-stay leisure
travel, Eurostar also competes with low-cost airlines in terms of price, capacity and choice of destinations. Eurostar operates a direct
service to Disneyland Paris, a winter service to Bourg Saint Maurice and a summer service to Avignon in the south of France.
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Combined data on market growth for Eurostar and the airlines are presented below.

2013 (estimated) 2012
Paris-London and Brussels-London Passengers Passengers
passenger market (thousands) Growth (thousands) Growth
Air and Rail
Paris-London 8,985 3.0% 8,720 1.5%
Brussels-London 3,538 1.7% 3,480 2.6%

Sources: BRB, SNCF and CAA.

The combined volume of air traffic and rail traffic, in number of passengers, between Paris and London increased by 3.0% between
2012 and 2013. During this same period, the volume of Eurostar rail passenger traffic increased by 2.6%.

The combined volume of air traffic and rail traffic, in number of passengers, between Brussels and London increased by 1.7% between
2012 and 2013. During this same period, the volume of Eurostar rail passenger traffic increased by 1.3%.

Market share
The data below summarises the growth in Eurostar’s share of the High-Speed Passenger Train market on the Paris-London and
Brussels-London routes.

2013 (estimated) 2012
High-Speed Passenger Train market Passengers Market Passengers Market
share (Eurostar) (thousands)® share®** (thousands)™® share®*
Paris-London 7,163 79.7% 6,979 80.0%
Brussels-London 2,969 83.9% 2,932 84.3%

Sources: SNCF and BRB.

** Market share percentages are derived by calculating the volume of rail passengers as a proportion of the total volume of air and rail passenger traffic
between Paris and London and between Brussels and London as provided by the CAA, BRB and SNCF.

The share held by Eurostar High-Speed Passenger Trains in the passenger market for the Paris-London route has reduced slightly to
79.7% on average for 2013, against 80.0% for 2012. Over the same period, their market share on the London-Brussels route fell slightly
from 84.3% to 83.9%.

The competitive environment of High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar)

In the business travel market, Eurostar’s High-Speed Passenger Trains compete with the traditional and low-cost airlines that offer
regular flights between Paris and London and between Brussels and London. In the leisure travel market, Eurostar’s main competitors
are the low-cost airlines, not only on the routes served by Eurostar but also to other destinations. Eurostar has taken several successful
initiatives in terms of marketing and special offers over the internet, targeting the leisure travel segment. However, the Eurotunnel Group
believes that there is still growth potential in these markets, particularly through the addition of extra capacity, and, in future, in the
London-Amsterdam, London-Cologne/Frankfurt, London-Geneva and London-Mediterranean markets, by offering direct services by
Eurostar or other Train Operators.

In this context, the liberalisation of the international rail passenger transport market on 1 January 2010, to which the Eurotunnel Group
responded by publishing efficient and non-discriminatory conditions for access in its Network Statement, offers new entrants the option
to operate cross-Channel High-Speed Passenger Train services in competition with Eurostar and the airline sector, to existing or new
destinations.

High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar)

Since 1 September 2010, Eurostar’s High-Speed Passenger Train services have been jointly operated by Eurostar International Limited,
now 55% owned by SNCF, 40% owned by London and Continental Railways Limited (which is under the control of the British
government, as is BRB) and 5% owned by SNCB. In December 2013, the government announced its intention to sell its 40% share.

Since 2007, when High Speed 1 and the London terminal at St Pancras International opened, the Eurostar High-Speed Passenger Train
service has used a high-speed line between London and the Eurotunnel Group’s UK terminal. This line improves service reliability and
reduces the transit time between Paris and London or Brussels and London by around 20 minutes. In addition, St Pancras International
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station improves rail links with Northern England, due to the proximity of rail services from St Pancras, King’s Cross and Euston stations.
Ebbsfleet International station, located near the M25 London orbital motorway, also allows Eurostar’s operators to expand their
catchment area.

In 2013, Eurostar ran 16 departures in each direction between Paris and London and eight to ten trains in each direction between
London and Brussels on business days, with adjustments depending on the day, the season and the destination. Some trains make
intermediate stops at Ebbsfleet or Ashford International in the United Kingdom and at Calais-Fréthun or Lille-Europe in France. Eurostar
also runs a service to Disneyland Paris five days a week and a seasonal direct service from London and Ashford to Bourg Saint-Maurice
(from December to April) and to Avignon (from July to September).

In 2013, the number of Eurostar passengers going through the Tunnel rose by 2.2% to 10.1 million compared with 2012 (source:
Eurostar).

Eurostar International Limited has announced plans to run a new service between London and Lyon and Marseille from 2015, and
between the United Kingdom and the Netherlands from 2017, with the other possibilities being Germany, the south of France and/or
Switzerland.

Deutsche Bahn has also declared its intention to launch Intercity-Express (ICE) passenger train services from London to Brussels, then
Rotterdam and Amsterdam on the one hand, and Cologne and Frankfurt on the other from 2017. The trainsets needed for these
services received IGC approval in June 2013.

i) Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services

Market developments

Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services compete with most modes of sea and road freight transport between continental Europe and the
United Kingdom.

The freight volume transported by the Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services is summarised below.

Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services 2013 2012

Cross-Channel rail freight (million tonnes) 1.36 1.23
Number of journeys 2,547 2,325

Sources: Eurotunnel, DB Schenker, SNCF/Captrain and Europorte Channel.

Competitive environment of Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services

Rail freight through the Tunnel, originally developed by state-run Railways, initially had disappointing results and organisational difficulties
which resulted in a drop in traffic from 3 million tonnes to 1 million tonnes between 1998 and 2007. International rail freight is also held
back by inadequate national infrastructure (train gauge and length, quality and availability of paths), distortions that favour sea or road
transport and excessive constraints (whether regulatory, social or technical).

In order to retain and relaunch Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services, since 2007 the Eurotunnel Group has pursued a comprehensive
competitive strategy aimed at addressing the specific challenges in the cross-Channel freight market through the implementation of
certain measures in respect of open-access rail development, border restrictions and competitive pricing policies for rail freight services.
Between 2007 and 2010, the disappearance of conventional wagonload services resulted in the loss of more than a third of traffic, which
was partially offset by the revival of intermodal traffic and conventional full trains. Between 2010 and 2013, the development of these
services generated 21% growth in traffic.

In May 2013, still with a view to encouraging the development of freight train traffic of Railway Companies in the Tunnel, Eurotunnel
Group launched a programme to help launch new services (ETICA).

Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services

The Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services between continental Europe and the United Kingdom are run by Railway Companies including

DB Schenker (on behalf of BRB), SNCF (and its Captrain subsidiaries), Europorte, and potentially any freight train operator in open

access. Three different types of freight trains use the Railway Network:

e intermodal trains, composed of platform wagons transporting containers or swap bodies;

e conventional trains (carrying goods on pallets in enclosed wagons or bulk loads in adapted wagons such as tankers, hoppers,
platforms, etc.) making up a full train;
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e trains with specialised wagons for transporting new cars.

Rail freight trains are in competition with most modes of freight transport in operation between continental Europe and the
United Kingdom.

In order to revive cross-Channel rail freight, the Eurotunnel Group has adopted a strategy that is based on three policies: (i) development

of open access for all operators of rail freight trains, (i) dealing effectively with border restrictions, and (jii) a simplified and competitive

pricing policy:

e an average toll charge of £3,000 (€4,500) per train (in 2007 values), for a train travelling at 120 km/h during an average busy period;

e asimplified pricing structure (one toll charge per train, taking account of speed and peak and off-peak transit) allowing operators to
optimise their trainloads;

e real and effective open access and the capping of essential cross-Channel service costs (dealing with border restrictions and
specialised Class 92 locomotives) at €600 (in 2007 values); and

e competitive total costs compared with the road transport sector in order to encourage rail freight development.

After 2010, with its repeated disruptions to rail freight and the end of single wagonload services, the development of new services
between 2011 and 2013 drove an increase in traffic of 21% in the number of trains (and 21% in tonnage transported) compared with
2010, including both the creation of new intermodal services and a short-term increase in the transportation of steel. Following the
announcement by RFF of a security surcharge of around €600 per train, growth came to a halt in 2012. This was followed by a return to
growth in 2013, intensified by the introduction of the ETICA growth plan, resulting in annual growth in 2013 of 10% compared with the
previous year.

c) Other revenues
The Fixed Link generated €13 million in other revenues in 2013, representing 1% of the Eurotunnel Group’s total revenue (2% of Fixed
Link revenue).

These other revenues consist mainly of (i) revenue from third-party retail businesses in the terminals on both sides of the Tunnel,
(i) revenue paid for telecommunication lines in the Tunnel, (iii) revenue related to the property business, (iv) the sale of travel insurance
products in the United Kingdom, and (v) revenue related to CIFFCO training.

i) Revenue from third-party retail businesses
The Eurotunnel Group has built facilities for its customers on its two terminals in France and the United Kingdom, including shops and
other retail outlets.

Access to the shops, bars and restaurants is available only to customers travelling on the Shuttle Services. They are located inside the
terminals, after check-in. These facilities are operated by third parties under three- to ten-year concession agreements on the French
side and under leases on the British side.

In 1994, a 30-year contract was signed to operate three service stations on the two terminals’ access and egress roads.

The Eurotunnel Group also earns modest revenues from the leasing of advertising space at the two terminals and alongside the egress
routes from the terminals.

The Eurotunnel Group’s strategy is to offer travellers who choose to stop before making the crossing a choice and level of service
consistent with the overall quality and value of service offered by the Eurotunnel Group. In 2013, the Victor Hugo passenger terminal
building in Folkestone was refurbished (shortly to be followed by the Charles Dickens building in Coquelles) to the highest international
airport standards in order to create a pleasant environment for customers.

i)  Property business
The Eurotunnel Group owns and manages plots of land near its French and British terminals.

As an extension of its mission to design, build and operate the Fixed Link, the Eurotunnel Group was also given responsibility for local
land development. The Fixed Link is not just a transport infrastructure: it was also designed as a platform for the future economic
development of the Kent and Calais regions. On the ZAC joint development zone, seven plots remain to be sold covering a total area of
11.8 hectares. Three plots were sold in 2013, one to a supermarket chain and two to fast food chains.
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The Eurotunnel Group, in the interests of sustainable development, has restored the site of the former factory where the tunnel lining
segments were made, and which was later used as a shelter for illegal immigrants (“Red Cross Centre”). This restoration work has
paved the way for a major commercial and tourism development project to stand alongside the Cité de I’'Europe shopping centre
in Coquelles.

As part of efforts to strengthen its partnership with the town of Sangatte-Blériot and the Conseil Général of the Pas-de-Calais, the
Eurotunnel Group signed an agreement with the Conseil Général of the Pas-de-Calais on 6 January 2009 covering measures to support
this ambitious tourism development project.

As part of the responsibility for local land development given to it by the French authorities at the beginning of the Fixed Link project, and
in order to further boost the appeal of the Pas-de-Calais region as a tourist destination, Euro-lImmo GET, a Groupe Eurotunnel SA
subsidiary, submitted a successful bid for the land development concession for the integrated seaside eco-village and golf course
project at the Porte des Deux-Caps. The concession agreement was signed on 18 February 2013.

In general terms, the development of the area entrusted to Euro-Immo GET, the project supervisor, encompasses all the work relating to
roads, networks, open spaces and various facilities designed to meet the needs of the future occupiers, owners, inhabitants and users
of the new buildings. The concessionaire will manage the assets acquired until they are transferred to the builders. The concession will
last for 10 years.

iy~ Training

The Centre International de Formation Ferroviaire de la Céte d’Opale (CIFFCO) is the Group’s specialist subsidiary for providing
professional training for the rail industry. The training centre is open to all European rail companies, infrastructure maintenance
companies and their subcontractors. It can train engineers working on the French national rail network, as well as those of neighbouring
countries. Accredited by the French public rail safety authority (EPSF), CIFFCO prepares trainees for 15 different occupations.

6.2.3 FIXED LINK: CAPACITIES

a) The System

i) The Tunnel

A limited number of trains or Shuttles can pass through the Tunnel every hour. The Tunnel capacity is expressed in terms of the number
of standard paths per hour in each direction. A standard path is defined as the time it takes a Shuttle train operating at 140 km/h to cover
that part of the System which, under normal operating conditions, is used by all other trains travelling through the Tunnel.

One of the key factors determining the Tunnel’s capacity is the signalling system. At the date of this Registration Document, the System
permits 20 standard paths per hour in each direction. Under the Railway Usage Contract, trains belonging to the Railways have the right
to use up to 50% of the hourly capacity in each direction. High-Speed Passenger Trains and Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services,
because of their faster or slower speeds relative to the Eurotunnel Group’s Truck and Passenger Shuttle Services, use more than one
standard path to travel through the Tunnel. At peak times, speeds can be adjusted to maximise the number of trains and Shuttles
travelling through the Tunnel. In 2013, the maximum number of standard paths used by Passenger and Truck Shuttle Services was ten
per hour in each direction.

At the date of this Registration Document, the Tunnel’s capacity under normal operating conditions does not constitute a significant
constraint limiting growth in the different types of traffic.

In the medium or long term, the Eurotunnel Group believes that it will be possible to increase the Tunnel’s capacity by the following

means:

e setting uniform operating speeds for all trains, which would allow more trains to run on the same number of standard paths. At the
date of this Registration Document, goods trains travel in the Tunnel at a speed of 100 or 120 km/h, while High-Speed Passenger
Trains can reach a speed of 160 km/h in the Tunnel. These speed differentials use a large part of the System capacity, because they
require the Eurotunnel Group to leave greater intervals between trains than would be necessary if they all travelled at the same speed.
Use of the System’s capacity could therefore be improved by shifting slow or infrequent freight trains to off-peak times, and by
scheduling trains that travel at speeds higher (160 km/h) or lower (120 km/h) than the standard path (140 km/h) so that they run in
flights during peak hours;

e increasing the power of the locomotives pulling the Shuttles to allow the use of longer trains or reduce transit times;
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e reducing the space between trains using the Tunnel (to 2 minutes 30 seconds instead of 3 minutes currently) so as to raise System
capacity to 24 standard paths per hour in both directions, although this would mean improving the fixed equipment; and
e improving the signalling system, notably with ERTMS (this initial phase creates no additional capacity).

Some of these measures require approval by the IGC, which has supervisory authority over Tunnel operation.

The Eurotunnel Group and the French and British mobile telephone operators signed an agreement for a dedicated optical relay system
using 2G and 3G telephone and GSM-P mobile internet networks. This service enables passengers on Shuttle Service and High-Speed
Passenger Trains to use their mobile to make calls and access the internet. These services have already been put in place in the north
tunnel and will shortly be extended to the south tunnel.

i) Terminals
Currently, ten boarding platforms are in service at the French terminal and ten at the British terminal.

Both terminals were designed so that the number of boarding platforms could be increased to 16. In order to maintain traffic fluidity and
to increase the number of hourly Truck Shuttle departures, capacity at the terminals will be expanded. The Terminal 2015 project notably
includes the development of a secure parking area for approximately 300 trucks in Coquelles and an increase in the number of tolls and
in the number of access lanes to the check-in barriers.

The terminals have self check-in lanes for all customers, along with an automatic number plate recognition system. These systems
improve traffic flow and reduce operating costs. In a constant drive to improve its quality of service, the Coquelles and Folkestone
terminal buildings have been refurbished. A play area with a variety of play equipment and a digital display screen was created in the
Charles Dickens building in Coquelles. Meanwhile, the Victor Hugo building in Folkestone was given award-winning sanitary facilities, a
prayer room and special facilities for severely disabled people.

b) Rolling stock
Plans to develop the Shuttle fleet are described in section 6.2.4 of this Registration Document.

c) Railway Services (passenger and rail freight)

Under the Railway Usage Contract, trains using the Railway Network are entitled to use up to 50% of the total capacity of the Tunnel that
is allowed by the signalling system. This currently amounts to ten standard paths per hour in each direction for High-Speed Passenger
Trains (Eurostar and new entrants) and Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services. Goods trains currently transport an average load of about
500 to 600 tonnes each, although some of them can transport up to 1,000 tonnes of freight, and travel at speeds varying between 100
and 120 km/h. An increase in the average load or the travel speed of goods trains would allow the Railway Companies to increase freight
train traffic without additional use of the Tunnel’s capacity. Similarly, increasing load factors on High-Speed Passenger Trains (those of
Eurostar and new market entrants) and synchronising them so that they run in flights would enable more passengers to be transported
without using additional Tunnel capacity. Under the terms of the Railway Usage Contract, the Eurotunnel Group may use any surplus
capacity not used by the Railway Companies if they have not confirmed their capacity requirement by the previous day. Use of this
surplus capacity provides the Eurotunnel Group with additional flexibility in optimising the flow of traffic and scheduling passenger and
freight trains and Shuttle Service departures.

6.2.4 FIXED LINK: SYSTEM RELIABILITY

a) Tunnel availability and maintenance
Scheduled weekly maintenance of the Tunnel is planned and structured so as to promote efficient use of the Tunnel and cause minimal
disruption to commercial operations.

The Eurotunnel Group has set itself an objective of limiting service disruptions due to fixed equipment failure to less than 0.75% despite
continual traffic growth. In 2013, Tunnel availability was maintained at 99.71% compared with 99.79% in 2012.

It should be noted that the creation of special fire-fighting stations (SAFE) helps to preserve the infrastructure in case of a fire on board a
Truck Shuttle.
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b) Rail replacement

Rails on the terminals are replaced as part of the routine maintenance programme, without major disruption to commercial services. A
new strategy has reduced costs without harming the quality of the track. This strategy aims to avoid systematically replacing both lines
of rails, but only those rails that are worn or that present defects.

A new tunnel rail replacement campaign will start in 2014 and will be completed in early 2016. Thirty-three kilometres of track will be
replaced each year, on Friday, Saturday and Sunday nights over 11 weekends at the start of each year. Resin rails will be installed along
the 11 km of the Tunnel which are most susceptible to corrosion.

c) Maintenance and availability of rolling stock

The Eurotunnel Group has also set itself the objective of achieving better utilisation of its transport capacity by improving load factors on
its rolling stock. This is in addition to improving the availability of the rolling stock by modifying maintenance procedures in order to
optimise periods of operation between maintenance visits.

The repair and maintenance programmes implemented by the Eurotunnel Group have helped to improve the reliability of the electric
locomotives and Truck and Passenger Shuttles. In planning its maintenance programmes, the Eurotunnel Group’s objectives are
the following:

e ensure that safety requirements are met;

e avoid rolling stock being out of service for prolonged periods; and

e maximise the number of Shuttles available at peak hours.

Under current maintenance programmes, light maintenance and safety inspections are carried out every 44 days or 30,000 km for the
locomotives, Truck Shuttles and Passenger Shuttles. Every 600 to 1,200 days, depending on the vehicle and the number of kilometres it
has covered, each Shuttle is taken out of service for six weeks to undergo an extensive preventive maintenance programme. The entry
into service of the ninth Passenger Shuttle made it necessary to bring back the mothballed rake into service and to concentrate the
extensive preventive maintenance programmes on shuttles outside peak times. The entry into service of this additional capacity will
address the unavailability caused by the mid-life programme for Passenger Shuttles, scheduled from 2018 to 2022.

The departure cancellation rate for Passenger Shuttle Services due to faults in rolling stock was 1.4% in 2013, lower than in 2012. The
departure cancellation rate for Truck Shuttle Services due to faults in rolling stock was 1.6% in 2013, while it was 1.8% in 2012. The
number of stops in the Tunnel due to faults in rolling stock was 37 in 2013, compared with 33 in 2012. The Eurotunnel Group is
embarking on simplification and renovation programmes aimed at further reducing future maintenance requirements and improving
reliability.

The LSM (Large Scale Maintenance) programme is being stepped up with a view to:

e meeting safety requirements (bogie, brake, coupling, batteries, etc.);

e restoring and improving the reliability of systems that have reached about a third or half of their overall potential (canopy, SDL
hydraulic, etc.);

e extending the life of wagons (Breda floors, Arbel floors, etc.); and

e ensuring customer comfort (air conditioning, toilets, interiors, etc.).

d) Maintenance strategy

The TIME (Tunnel Infrastructure Maintenance Excellence) programme has led to a reduction in overnight maintenance from three to two
nights per weekend from September 2012, as a result of reduced sub-contracting costs, optimisation of maintenance times and
efficient working methods. This optimisation is ongoing and, since early 2013, maintenance work on the terminals on Friday and
Saturday nights has been limited and is now transparent for commercial operation and all of the Tunnel’s capacity is fully available
to customers.

The process of optimising the rolling stock maintenance strategy has continued. Its aims are:
e to improve the availability, performance and quality of the Shuttles,

e to increase processing capacity and so minimise the total cost of maintenance, and

e to rationalise technical choices and industrial resources.

This process is based on several lines of work:
e the extension of the light and in-depth preventive maintenance cycles, both for Truck Shuttles and for Passenger Shuttles, which has
a significant impact on the availability of Shuttles and processing capacity;

2013 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT - GROUPE EUROTUNNEL SA



DESCRIPTION OF THE EUROTUNNEL GROUP’S ACTIVITIES

e the technical redesign of maintenance on systems with a high impact on performance and quality, focusing on the relevance of
maintenance instructions and the implementation of appropriate LSM programmes; and

e the optimisation of key processes such as corrective maintenance, re-profiling and axle replacement, with improvement in the
efficiency of human, industrial and IT resources.

e) Projects
In 2013, the Eurotunnel Group pursued its locomotive renovation and power-increase programme for 18 additional units, which will
bring the fleet of 7 MW locomotives to 44 in 2014.

Various projects are planned in the short or medium term to further improve System reliability and efficiency, including:

e an overhaul of the maintenance IT system, including implementation of an infrastructure maintenance planning system;

e the replacement of the two main radio systems — one handling the transmission of information between trains and the control centre
and the other handling radio transmissions throughout the entire Concession —with a GSM-R system based on European
standards. To this end, a contract was signed on 15 December 2009 and the launch of the GSM-R service is planned for 2014. The
GSM-R project, involving the replacement of the current analogue radio by a digital radio system for track-to-train radio
communications, continued during the year, with the aim of launching the service by the end of 2015. The concession radio will also
become digital by the end of 2014 for all land, Tunnel and terminal communications; and

e the pilot study for third-generation Truck Shuttles.

6.2.5 MYFERRYLINK MARITIME ACTIVITIES

The Eurotunnel Group’s MyFerryLink maritime subsidiaries lease their ships to the SCOP (an operating company outside the Eurotunnel
Group) and market the cross-Channel crossings for freight and passenger vehicles.

The Eurotunnel Group has entered into lease agreements with the SCOP which operates the ferries on the Short Straits route. In turn,
the Eurotunnel Group, via its subsidiary MyFerryLink SAS, purchases capacity from the SCOP and sells the crossings under the
MyFerryLink brand. These contractual relationships are described in chapter 22 of this Registration Document.

The status of these activities as regards the French and British competition authorities is presented in section 20.8 of this Registration
Document.

The Berlioz and Rodin ferries can carry from 1,200 to 1,900 passengers and 120 trucks or 700 cars. The freight ferry Nord
Pas-de-Calais can transport up to 85 trucks. The three vessels in service make up to 24 crossings a day.

Over the 12 months of trading in 2013, this activity generated revenue of €74 million for the Group, compared with €7 million for the four
and a half months of trading in 2012.

i) MyFerryLink maritime freight activity
The Eurotunnel Group considers that the market share of maritime freight transport under the MyFerryLink brand across the Short
Straits is as follows:

2013 2012

Market share**
Units™ (estimated) Units®™ Market share®*

Accompanied and unaccompanied
freight 326,274 9.1% 11,417 0.3%

* Accompanied and unaccompanied freight transported under the MyFerryLink brand.

Ak

The market share percentages are calculated by determining MyFerryLink’s share of the total number of units transported on the Short Straits as
reported by IRN Services Ltd.

MyFerryLink’s share of the cross-Channel Short Straits freight market in 2013 was 9.1%; it reached 9.6% in December 2013, compared
with 4.2% in January 2013.
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i) MyFerryLink passenger maritime activity
The Eurotunnel Group considers that the market share of maritime passenger transport under the MyFerryLink brand across the Short
Straits is as follows:

2013 2012
Market share
Vehicles (estimated) Vehicles Market share
Cars® 316,811 6.5% 45,908 0.9%
Coaches®* 721 0.5% 11 N/S

* Number of vehicles transported under the MyFerryLink brand. The market share percentages are calculated by converting the number of vehicles
transported into Car Equivalent Units (“CEU”) and determining MyFerryLink’s share of the total CEUs transported on the Short Straits as reported by
IRN Services Ltd.

** Number of vehicles transported under the MyFerryLink brand. The market share percentages are calculated by determining MyFerryLink’s share of the
total number of coaches transported on the Short Straits as reported by IRN Services Ltd.

In 2018, MyFerryLink’s share of the cross-Channel Short Straits car market was 6.5%.

6.3. ACTIVITIES GROUPED WITHIN EUROPORTE

6.3.1 EUROPORTE’S MAIN MARKETS

a) UK rail freight market
Rail freight is growing and is set to take an even larger share of the UK'’s freight market in future. The UK rail freight market is valued at
circa £900 million with GB Railfreight having a current market share of approximately 12%.

The market operates within the following sectors:

e bulk: coal, construction, petrochemicals, steel and waste,

® intermodal: international and domestic,

e automotive,

e infrastructure: Network Rail/London Underground/rail services.

The volume increase of freight moved by rail between 1993 and 2013 has increased from 21 billion tonne-kms to 156 billion tonne-kms.
Rail’s share of overland freight movement is 12%, up from 8% in 1993. Approximately 35% of the coal consumed by UK power stations
is transported by rail.

Around 30% of rail freight is intermodal container traffic. This number is forecast to grow subject to government grant support.

In the United Kingdom, the sensitivity and behaviour of customers in response to environmental issues is already influencing purchasing
criteria and has led companies to pursue or prove their commitment in this field. Thus, for example, two large British supermarket
chains, Tesco and Sainsbury’s, are making increasing use of rail freight in their supply chains to reduce their carbon footprint.

The environmental advantages of rail freight are clear: 26% of the UK’s CO, emissions come from transport, 90% of this being road
transport®, while rail freight produces three to four times less CO, per tonne transported than road transport, and up to ten times fewer
polluting emissions®.

@ www.freightonrail.org.uk
@ www.freightonrail.org.uk
& www.dft.gov.uk

©  www.dft.gov.uk
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The UK'’s three main political parties are in favour of rail for freight distribution, recognising its role as a green alternative to road transport.

This support is obvious when we consider the following points:

e promotion of the growth of rail freight — 2007 White Paper on rail transport® which included the launch of the Strategic Rail Freight
Network and supported a doubling in rail freight volumes,

e promotion of the efficiency and capacity of the railway network, as specified in the publication from the Department for Transport in
September 2009 entitled: “Strategic Freight Network: The Longer-Term Vision”®, and

e the strategic funding of the freight programme: through the Transport Initiatives Fund, the Department for Transport has contributed
funding to Network Rail specifically for investments focused on rail freight.

b) French rail freight market

In the first three quarters of 2013, French rail freight volumes reached 25.4 billion t/km, an increase of 2.8% compared to 2012
(24.7 billion t/km). In the same period, Europorte in France transported 1.2 billion t/km, an increase of 10.3% compared with the first
three quarters of 2012.

6.3.2 EUROPORTE’S ACTIVITIES IN FRANCE

Europorte was able to consolidate its businesses in France during 2013. Thanks to its denser coverage in France, Europorte is
positioned as a growth vehicle for the Group, present across the entire rail freight transport logistical chain, from the collecting and
routing on primary and secondary networks (Europorte France) or loading and unloading of wagons on private branch lines on industrial
sites (Socorail), to running freight trains in the Channel Tunnel (Europorte Channel) and managing rail infrastructure (ports, private and
public/private industrial sites) in France and Belgium. Europorte is developing its various complementary activities concurrently in order
to offer its customers complete and customised solutions that meet their expectations in terms of integrated logistical chains and high
quality of service.

Europorte’s activities in France generated revenues of €110 million during 2013.

a) Europorte France (EPF)

Europorte France is a private rail company that offers its customers a service hauling freight trains throughout the railway network. Every
day, EPF carries out main line rail haulage operations 24 hours a day and seven days a week throughout France with connections to
neighbouring European countries, in partnership or as an open-access operator, particularly in Belgium where EPF has railway
authorisations (licence and certificate).

For its operations, which averaged 210 trains per week in 2013, EPF has a fleet of approximately 70 main line electric and diesel
locomotives interoperable with neighbouring European countries. They are used on average by 264 drivers and operators authorised for
safety operations on the French railway network and, in some cases, in Belgium.

EPF has designed its operating model based on six key parameters, specifically with a view to serving its private industrial customers:
e optimising transport plans based on regular paths,

e organisation of the rail businesses through regional hubs (Le Havre, Dunkirk, Lérouville, Dijon, Lyon, Marseille, etc.),

e guaranteed service through the provision of reliable human and other resources dedicated to traffic,

e regular and punctual delivery of goods,

e safety on customers’ private branch lines and on the national railway network, and

e communication on the status of customers’ freight traffic.

Europorte transports all types of goods, with the exception of explosive, nuclear and biological materials. Its entire operating system is
designed in accordance with the rules on transporting dangerous goods, to maximise the safety of its operations. A major feature of
2013 was the start of large-scale hydrocarbon transportation and the continued development of the grains business from a production
centre based around Dijon and the Champagne region of Burgundy, making Europorte the second biggest rail operator in this sector
in France.

EPF has sought to diversify the goods it transports and its customers, to balance out the risk of seasonal fluctuations in the volumes
transported; revenues from EPF’s two largest customers in maritime and land containers, which accounted for 44% of its revenue in
2010, fell to 15% in 2013.
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Europorte France also continued to consolidate its rail business along France’s north/south corridor through its hubs at Lérouville, Dijon
Lyon, Fos/Marseille and Toulouse. This allowed it to handle, in partnership with other operators, nearly 44,000 single wagonloads in
2013. Europorte France also developed a complementary range of “spot” trains, to meet growing demand from rail freight customers
for one-off transport requirements.

b) Socorail

For more than 40 years, Socorail has been providing internal logistical services on industrial sites: wagon handling operations, track

maintenance, loading/unloading wagons and trucks, and operations on ships. Socorail’s activities cover a range of services to industry,

mainly involving dispatch and reception of basic, semi-finished or finished products, and management of rail infrastructure:

e the management of branched terminal installations including reception, handling and dispatch of loaded or unloaded wagons and
the associated administrative processing,

e |oading or unloading wagons, particularly tank-wagons,

e terminal rail services in port zones and on the French railway network,

e the provision of rail haulage engines on a full-service basis,

e track maintenance,

e traffic management of rail networks at various ports,

e the management of front offices and loading tracks for tank-wagons,

e the operation of the port terminal for an oil refinery, and

e ancillary activities.

Socorail works on 40 industrial sites and the infrastructure of seven ports, including 20 sites classified as SEVESO Il in the oil, chemicals,
steelmaking, automotive and construction materials sectors. Socorail is MASE and ISO 9001 certified. Present throughout France,
Socorail manages wagons, trucks, operations on ships and port infrastructure.

Since 2011, with the integration of Europorte Services, Socorail has developed a service offering for rail infrastructure managers,
consisting of traffic management and railway maintenance. Over the last few years, these activities have expanded considerably since
Socorail has won all the tenders it has bid for. It now manages the delegated management contracts for the ports of Dunkirk, Nantes
Saint Nazaire, Bordeaux, Strasbourg and La Rochelle, in addition to the maintenance contract for the ports of Le Havre and Rouen. In
2013, Socoral continued to expand by offering wagon maintenance services. This new business complements its logistics activities on
industrial sites and local services.

For the first time in its history, the delegated port infrastructure management sector is Socorail’s main business, accounting for 33% of its
2013 revenue, followed by oil/hydrocarbon refining with 28%. The contributions from chemicals and services to the French railway
network and port terminals were 11% and 10%, respectively.

c) Europorte Proximité (EPP)

Europorte Proximité operates and manages full trains or individual wagons over short distances with reduced traffic, and manages rail
infrastructure subcontracted from SNCF or local authorities. EPP operates 80 km of lines around the branch at Gray, in eastern France,
where there is also a maintenance workshop for diesel locomotives. EPP maintains its own rolling stock and that of Europorte France.

d) Bourgogne Fret Service

Europorte has set up a local railway operator in partnership with its customer Cerevia (a union of agricultural cooperatives) to offer other
customers or train operators a way to collect grain along secondary lines. Bourgogne Fret Services, which began operations in
July 2013, is designed to make better use of Europorte’s resources while offering Cerevia a logistics system that will allow it to form
strategic alliances and grow its zone of influence.

e) Europorte Channel

Europorte Channel provides rail traction services. It uses specialised Class 92 Brush locomotives to haul freight trains between the
Tunnel’s two terminals at Dollands Moor in the UK (Kent) and Fréthun in France (Pas-de-Calais). The locomotives are equipped to go
through the Tunnel and are certified for the whole of the UK’s electrified railway network, including, since the end of 2011, for HS1.
Europorte Channel is a key part of Eurotunnel Group’s plans to develop cross-Channel rail freight, bringing to this business the same
qualities and straightforward service that made the Shuttle a success. Europorte Channel also offers integrated cross-Channel
solutions, including hauling trains in the UK:

e FEuroporte Channel operates a link, three times a week, for the logistics specialist DFDS providing multimodal goods transport

through the Tunnel from Daventry (Northamptonshire, UK) to Novara (Piedmont, Italy).
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e Since February 2013, Europorte Channel has managed the infrastructure maintenance contract for the rail freight transport service
for Network Rail (High Speed) Limited on HS1.
e Since November 2013, Europorte Channel has been responsible for delivering car transport trains to UK depots.

Europorte Channel has provided ground services for all rail freight moving through Fréthun since 2007. These services include coupling
and uncoupling locomotives, shunting, safety checks, management of regulatory documents and monitoring of cross-Channel traffic.

6.3.3 EUROPORTE’S ACTIVITIES IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

GB Railfreight (GBRY) is the United Kingdom'’s third largest rail freight operator employing some 550 staff and generating turnover of
€129 million in 2013. Its activities cover all rail freight service segments, both short and long haul: intermodal combined transport, bulk
traffic (including coal), infrastructure equipment, rail industry services, construction materials, petrochemicals and metals, and general
commodities.

As a result of the business relationship established with energy suppliers Drax Power and more recently with E-On Energy, GBRf is the
first company to transport biomass as an alternative to coal in the United Kingdom. It has also been also a major supplier to the Crossrail
project, the suburban rail network of more than 100 km which will serve London and its environs from 2018.

The company has long-term contracts in place for the majority of its customers. During 2013, the company renewed several of its
existing contracts, most notably with two major customers, Network Rail and Mediterranean Shipping Company UK. The new Network
Rail contract, which runs for five years, brings a significant increase in activity. The company has also secured major new contracts for
the transport of aggregates.

The main sectors of GBRf’s activity are summarised below:

Bulk transport

Bulk transport services represented 56% of GBRf’s revenue in 2013. The transport of coal between ports and power stations represents
half of this activity and is complemented by a service transporting biomass. GBRf was the first company in the United Kingdom to
transport biomass as an alternative to coal.

Intermodal transport
The transport of containers is the second largest sector of activity for GBRf (21% of revenue) after bulk transport. This sector is largely
concentrated on services out of the Port of Felixstowe, the UK’s major container port. GBRf is the main rail operator from the port.

This sector is particularly susceptible to the economic environment since it is linked to the level of imports and exports to and from the
United Kingdom. The gradual recovery of the UK economy should have a positive effect in this regard. The planned extension to the Port
of Felixstowe represents an opportunity to develop GBRf’'s container services.

Infrastructure services
Infrastructure maintenance activities whereby the company transports equipment to and evacuates waste material from infrastructure
construction sites represented 20% of revenue in 2013.

GBRf’s long-term strategy is based on differentiating itself from its competitors in terms of quality of service and safety management, and

has three main strands:

e Organic growth: The company’s strategy is to continue developing its business in the infrastructure modernisation and bulk transport
sectors, by building on existing contractual agreements and winning new business. In particular, GBRf is looking to expand its
business of transporting biomass and to benefit from the development of this product as an alternative to coal in the UK power
generation sector.

¢ Rolling stock: GBRf continues to invest in new material, and in 2013 launched a programme for the acquisition of 21 new class 66
locomotives in order to support its growth and maintain service quality. The company’s growth is also supported by the mutualisation
of locomotives between the different Europorte companies.

e GBRfseeks to offer optimal working conditions to its employees, thereby ensuring that it retains the expertise needed to maintain the
high level of service quality expected by its customers.

Furthermore, in conjunction with Europorte France, GBRf continues to promote cross-Channel rail freight traffic.
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6.4. OTHER ACTIVITIES

6.4.1 EURO CAREX

The Eurotunnel Group is involved in the Euro Carex project via its subsidiary London Carex Limited. Faced with ever stricter
environmental constraints and rising fuel prices, Paris CDG, Amsterdam Schipol, Lyon St Exupéry and Liége airports linked up with
logistics companies including FedEx, TNT and La Poste to try to encourage a transfer of air freight onto the European high-speed railway
network. London Carex is part of this umbrella organisation, the Euro Carex Association, tasked with developing the British end of the
network. The Carex concept is similar to a cargo aircraft running on rail: high-speed trains that have been modified to carry air freight
containers. A full-scale trial was carried out in March 2012 with a Carex TGV carrying parcels from Lyon St-Exupéry to London
St Pancras with a stop at Roissy-CDG. The trial proved the concept to the satisfaction of all Carex partners. In 2013, London Carex
continued its studies into setting up a branched terminal on HS1 and, under the aegis of Euro Carex, coordinated the drafting of
specifications, notably examining the conversion of high-speed passenger wagons that have reached the end of their commercial life
into freight wagons, as is the case in the aviation industry.

6.4.2 ELECLINK

Via its subsidiary GET Elec Limited, the Eurotunnel Group joined forces with European venture capital company Star Capital Partners in
2011 to create ElecLink Limited, a joint venture 49% owned by GET SA and 51% by Star Capital. The ElecLink project aims to lay a new
electricity interconnector between the French and British grids by running two direct current cables through the Tunnel. The project fits in
with the European policy to develop infrastructure between member states and will provide a completely secure way to optimise
electricity transmission. In 2013, the construction and operation of the interconnector were approved by National Grid and Réseau de
transport d’Electricité (RTE). On 7 February 2014, the IGC gave its prior approval for the installation of the electricity interconnector for
the transmission of energy through the Fixed Link. Various special applications required for the development of the project are being
examined by the competent authorities. The project represents an investment as indicated in chapter 5 of this Registration Document.

6.5. DEPENDENCY

Other than the material agreements described in chapter 22 of this Registration Document, the Eurotunnel Group’s business activity is
not dependent on any industrial, commercial or financial contract. Furthermore, the Eurotunnel Group’s business is not dependent on
any patent or licence agreement.
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7. ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE

The Group, of which Groupe Eurotunnel SA (GET SA) is the parent company, is organised around the following three business sectors:
e the Fixed Link segment;

e the Europorte segment; and

e the MyFerryLink maritime segment.

7.1. FIXED LINK

France Manche SA (FM) and The Channel Tunnel Group Limited (CTG) are the Concessionaires of the Tunnel. These two companies,
whose shares are twinned, have formed a partnership operating under the Eurotunnel name. FM and CTG are the borrowing entities
under the current bank financing agreements.

Eurotunnel Services GIE (ESGIE) and Eurotunnel Services Limited (ESL) employ and manage the personnel of the Eurotunnel Group,
essentially for the activities of the Concession. Eurotunnel Trustees Limited is now inactive. The Centre International de Formation
Ferroviaire de la Céte d’Opale (CIFFCO), provides professional training services in the rail sector and undertakes any activity leading
directly or indirectly to the development of the business of a provider of professional training.

Eurotunnel SE heads the distribution of Truck Shuttle Service activity.

Eurotunnel Financial Services Limited is authorised by the Financial Services Authority to resell insurance products offered to
passengers when they make their reservations. CTG acts as a representative of Eurotunnel Financial Services Limited for these
requirements.

Gamond Insurance Company Limited, a subsidiary entirely controlled by CTG, is registered in Guernsey and its sole purpose is to
provide the Eurotunnel Group with insurance against acts of terrorism. Gamond Insurance Company Limited takes out reinsurance with
Pool Re.

7.2. EUROPORTE

The subsidiaries of the holding company Europorte SAS are as follows:

e The French subsidiaries of Europorte SAS: Europorte France (EPF), Europorte Proximité (EPP), Socorail and Europorte
Channel (EPC)

e EuroSco, incorporated to optimise management of the rolling stock belonging to the Europorte companies; and

e (B Railfreight Limited (GBRY), a freight operator in the United Kingdom.

In January 2013, Europorte SAS registered Bourgogne Fret Services, jointly owned with Cérévia.
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7.3. MARITIME ACTIVITIES

The maritime activity comprises the hiring out of the ship and the marketing of cross-Channel crossings. It is headed by
Euro-Transmanche Holding SAS and includes:

e the entities that own the boats (Euro-TransManche, Euro-TransManche 3Be, Euro-TransManche 3NPC);

e MyFerryLink SAS and MyFerryLink Limited which deal with the marketing activities.

Following the acquisition of the ships in early July 2012, business commenced on 20 August 2012.

7.4. OTHER

The corporate purpose of Euro-lmmo GET SAS, a subsidiary of Société Immobiliere et Fonciére Eurotunnel (SIFE), is the management
and development of property assets, and the performance of associated activities.

Eurotunnel Developments Limited and its subsidiary Orbital Park Limited were responsible for the development of all property in the
United Kingdom which was not used in connection with the operation of the System. These companies are no longer active.

The Cheriton Resources companies are finance or investment companies, mostly inactive. London Carex Limited is involved in a
potential project for the development of rail freight in the United Kingdom, as explained in section 6.4 of this Registration Document.

GET Elec Limited acts as holding company for the Group’s stake in the ElecLink project, as indicated in section 6.4.

The transactions to buy floating rate notes described in note Q.2 to the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of this
Registration Document, were carried out by Eurotunnel Agent Services Limited.

7.5. FLOWS BETWEEN THE COMPANIES OF THE GROUP

Various agreements have been entered into between GET SA and its subsidiaries (provision of services and financing) to structure the
following operational and financing flows:

Concerning operational flows, GET SA undertakes, on behalf of its subsidiaries, various services which include financing and
administrative management or general strategy. The cost of these services is equally shared between FM and CTG, in accordance with
article 19 of the Concession Agreement under which the two Concessionaires share equally at cost price, all expenses and all revenues
from the Fixed Link for the period during which they operate. GET SA also charges its services to the other operating subsidiaries of the
Group (Euro-TransManche Holding SAS and Europorte SAS), as “management charges” which correspond to head office charges and
services provided for the needs and the development of its subsidiaries.

The financial flows between GET SA and its subsidiaries fall within three categories:

e flows resulting from debts and receivables created under the 2007 financial restructuring of the Group, as governed by the Master
Intra group Debt Agreement (MIGDA) as described in chapter 22 hereafter;

¢ flows relating to the financing of GET SA’s activities by the Concessionaires;

e flows put in place in order to finance new businesses.

Specific loans have also been set up for the purposes of financing the business of GET ElecLink Ltd and EASL.
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Simplified organisational structure of the Eurotunnel Group
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

8.1. EUROTUNNEL GROUP’S PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

On 31 December 2013, the Eurotunnel Group owned or was using the following property, plant, equipment and other moveable assets:

Gross value (€000) m 2012

Concession property, plant and equipment

Tunnels 6,549,501 6,549,501
Terminals, and related land and buildings 2,071,725 2,072,245
Fixed equipment and machinery 3,283,923 3,278,892
Rolling stock 2,012,800 2,002,294
Office equipment 108,709 103,010
Assets in the course of construction 52,970 48,152

Other property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment 234,587 226,504

Total 14,314,215 14,280,598

The net book value of property, plant and equipment is set out in note O to the consolidated financial statements contained in
paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

The Eurotunnel Group’s Concession property, plant and equipment comprised the land and works required for the operation of the
Tunnel pursuant to the Concession Agreement in France and the United Kingdom. It includes the railway infrastructure (tunnels, tracks,
fixed equipment, rolling stock, roads, networks etc.), the Passenger and Truck Service terminals and the office buildings in Coquelles
and Folkestone, as well as various maintenance buildings and workshops.

In France, allimmoveable property, plant and equipment cited in the Concession Agreement is the property of the French State and will
revert to it upon expiry of the Concession period in 2086. In the United Kingdom, the government has required CTG to transfer to it the
title to freehold land and property acquired for the purpose of construction and operation of the Tunnel and in exchange has granted
leases for the duration of the Concession Agreement.

Upon expiry of the Concession Agreement, the interests of CTG and FM (in their capacity as Concessionaires) in all moveable property
and intellectual property rights necessary for the operation of the Tunnel pursuant to the Concession Agreement will become, without
consideration, the joint property of the two States.

Other property, plant and equipment is principally composed of the rolling stock fleet belonging to Europorte and its subsidiaries and the
ferries owned by the Euro-Transmanche companies.

In addition, the Eurotunnel Group owns various plots of land as part of its property development activities, described in chapter 6 of this
Registration Document.

Moveable assets owned by the Eurotunnel Group comprised mainly office equipment, IT equipment, vehicles and furniture.

The Eurotunnel Group’s budgets do not include the acquisition of any other major item of property, plant and equipment, and the
Eurotunnel Group does not intend to make any such acquisitions in the near future, with the exception of the investments described in
section 5.2 of this Registration Document.
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The security interests in the Eurotunnel Group'’s fixed and moveable property granted in connection with the Term Loan are described in

paragraph 22.4.2 of this Registration Document and in notes V and BB to the consolidated financial statements in paragraph 20.3.1 of
this Registration Document.

8.2. ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINTS

Environmental constraints are described in chapter 17 of this Registration Document.
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9. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
RESULTS

9.1. SIGNIFICANT FACTORS THAT HAVE OR COULD HAVE A MATERIAL INFLUENCE ON THE GROUP’S
OPERATING REVENUE

9.2. COMPARISON OF FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 AND 31 DECEMBER 2013
9.2.1 Summary
9.2.2 Fixed Link Concession segment

9.2.3 Europorte segment

9.24 MyFerryLink segment
9.2.5 Other income

9.2.6 Operating margin (EBITDA)
9.2.7 Operating profit (EBIT)
9.2.8 Pre-tax profit

9.2.9 Net result
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (€D)

Pursuant to EC Regulation 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 on the application of international accounting standards, the consolidated
financial statements of GET SA for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union at 31 December 2013.

Pursuant to article 28-1 of EC Regulation 809/2004, the comparison of the results of the Eurotunnel Group for the financial years ended
31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012 as found in chapter 9 of the 2011 and 2012 Registration Documents respectively, and the
financial statements relating to the years ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012 as found in paragraph 20.3.1 of the 2011
and 2012 Registration Documents respectively, are included by way of reference in this Registration Document.

The following information relating to Groupe Eurotunnel SA's financial situation and consolidated results must be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements contained in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

9.1. SIGNIFICANT FACTORS THAT HAVE OR COULD HAVE A
MATERIAL INFLUENCE ON THE GROUP’S OPERATING REVENUE

The main factors with an impact on revenue are described in chapters 4 and 6 of this Registration Document.

9.2. COMPARISON OF FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2012 AND 31 DECEMBER 2013

In order to enable a better comparison between the two years, the 2012 consolidated income statement presented in this section has
been recalculated at the exchange rate used for the 2013 income statement of £1 = €1.187. The 2012 income statement presented in
this section has been restated in accordance with the amended IAS 19 (see note GG to the consolidated accounts as set out in
paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document).

9.2.1 SUMMARY

In 2013, the Group’s consolidated revenues exceeded €1 billion for the first time, increasing by €116 million (12%) compared to 2012, to
€1,092 million. Operating costs totalled €643 million, an increase of €386 million, €76 million of which resulted from the new maritime
activity MyFerryLink (12 months of operations in 2013 compared to four and a half months in 2012). EBITDA amounted to €449 million,
including a €22 million loss for the MyFerryLink segment. Excluding €30 million of insurance indemnities relating to the 2008 fire
accounted for in 2012, EBITDA improved by €30 million (7 %) compared to 2012, of which €22 million was generated by the Fixed Link,
€17 million by Europorte along with a decrease of €9 million for the MyFerryLink segment. Excluding the impact of the insurance
indemnities, the operating profit increased by €31 million to €285 million. The Eurotunnel Group’s result before tax for the 2013 financial
year was a profit of €20 million. Excluding the losses generated by MyFerryLink and the impact of the insurance indemnities, the pre-tax
result for the Fixed Link and Europorte segments improved by €39 million.

After taking into account a net tax credit of €81 million arising from the initial recognition of a deferred tax asset, the Group’s result after
tax for the 2013 financial year was a profit of €101 million.

Free Cash Flow!" of €129 million was generated in 2013 compared to €133 million in 2012 (which included €30 million of insurance
indemnities). At 31 December 2013, the Group held cash balances of €277 million (€256 million at 31 December 2012).

" The calculation of Free Cash Flow is shown in section 10.8 of this Registration Document.
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2012 2012
€ MILLION restated” Variance adjusted™

Exchange rate €/£ 1.187 1.187 1.23
Fixed Link 779 763 +2% 777
Europorte 239 206 +16% 209
MyFerryLink 74 7 7
Revenue 1,092 976 +12% 993
Other income - 30 30
Total turnover 1,092 1,006 +9% 1,023
Fixed Link (827) (333) —2% (338)
Europorte (220) (204) +8% (206)
MyFerryLink (96) (20) (20)
Operating costs (643) (557) +15% (564)
Operating margin (EBITDA) 449 449 = 459
Depreciation (166) (161) +3% (161)
Trading profit 283 288 —2% 298
Other net operating income/(charges) 2 (4) 4)
Operating profit (EBIT) 285 284 0% 294
Share of result of equity-accounted

companies 1 - -
Net finance costs (269) (265) +2% (269)
Net other financial income 5 8 7
Pre-tax profit 20 27 32
Income tax expense 81 - -
Profit for the year 101 27 32

*  Restated at the rate of exchange used for the 2013 income statement (£1 = €1.187).

** Adjusted in accordance with the amended IAS 19 (see note GG to the consolidated accounts as set out in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration
Document).

The evolution of the result before tax and excluding insurance indemnities by segment compared to 2012 is presented below:

€ MILLION
Improvement/(deterioration) of result Fixed Link® Europorte MyFerryLink®* Total Group
Pre-tax profit: 2012 restated at the
2013 exchange rate 21 9) (15) 3)
Improvement/(deterioration) of result:
Revenue +16 +33 +67 +116
Operating expenses +6 (16) (76) (86)
EBITDA +22 +17 9) +30
Depreciation +2 Q] ©) (5)
Trading result +24 +16 (15) +25
Other net operating
income/(charges) +4 +1 +1 +6
Operating result (EBIT) +28 +17 (14) +31
Net financial charges and other 5) (1) 2 8)
Total changes +23 +16 (16) +23
Pre-tax profit for 2013 44 7 (31) 20

*

Excluding insurance indemnities for operating losses resulting from the fire in 2008 (€30 million in 2012).

** MyFerryLink began operations on 20 August 2012.
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9.2.2 FIXED LINK CONCESSION SEGMENT

The Group’s core business is the Channel Tunnel Fixed Link Concession which operates and directly markets its Shuttle Services and
also manages the circulation of High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar) and the Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services through its
Railway Network. This segment also includes the Group’s corporate services.

€ MILLION m 2012 Variance

Exchange rate €/£ 1.187 1.187

Shuttle Services 477 470 +2%
Railway Network 289 280 +3%
Other revenue 13 13 +2%
Revenue 779 763 +2%
External operating costs (182) (184) —-3%
Employee benefits expense (145) (149) —2%
Operating costs (327) (333) —2%
Operating margin (EBITDA) 452 430 +5%
EBITDA®/revenue 58.0% 56.2% 1.8pts

*

Excluding insurance indemnities for operating losses resulting from the fire in 2008 (€30 million in 2012).

a) Fixed Link Concession revenues
Revenue generated by this segment, which in 2013 represented 71% of the Group’s total revenue, increased by 2% compared to 2012,
to €779 million.

i) Shuttle Services

Traffic (number of vehicles) m 2012 Change

Truck Shuttle 1,362,849 1,464,880 —7%
Passenger Shuttle:
Cars® 2,481,167 2,424,342 +2%
Coaches 64,507 58,966 +9%

*

Includes motorcycles, vehicles with trailers, caravans and camper vans.
Shuttle Services’ revenue for 2013 amounted to €477 million, up 2% (€7 million) compared to the previous year.

Truck Shuttle
The cross-Channel Short Straits truck market continued to grow in 2013, up by an estimated 4.7% compared to 2012, but nevertheless
remained some 5% below 2007 (before the economic crisis).

In 2012, Truck Shuttle traffic benefitted from the demise of the historic operator SeaFrance as well as from a large part of the additional
traffic generated by the London Olympic Games. In 2013, the number of trucks transported by Shuttles decreased by 7%, but at 38.6%
in 2013, the Truck Shuttle’s market share remains above the average market share recorded before 2012.

Passenger Shuttle
The cross-Channel Short Straits car market returned to growth in 2013 (estimated at 2.8%). The number of cars transported by the
Passenger Shuttles increased by 2% in 2013 compared to 2012 and the car activity’s market share remained stable at 51%.

The cross-Channel Short Straits coach market recorded strong growth compared to 2012 (estimated at 8%) and the Fixed Link’s coach
market share increased by 0.5 points to 41.6%. The Passenger Shuttle’s coach traffic increased by 9% in 2013, boosted by the new
scheduled services launched in the second half of 2012.
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i) Railway Network

Traffic m 2012 Change

High-Speed Passenger Trains (Eurostar):

Passengers® 10,132,691 9,911,649 +2%
Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services®*:

Number of tonnes 1,363,834 1,227,139 +11%

Number of trains 2,547 2,325 +10%

* Only passengers travelling through the Channel Tunnel are included in this table, excluding those who travel between Paris-Calais and Brussels-Lille.

** Rail freight services by train operators (DB Schenker on behalf of BRB, the SNCF and its subsidiaries, and Europorte) using the Tunnel.

The Eurotunnel Group earned revenues of €289 million in 2013 from the use of its Railway Network by Eurostar’s High-Speed Passenger
Trains and by the Train Operators’ Rail Freight Services, an increase of 3% compared to 2012.

In 2013, the number of Eurostar passengers using the Tunnel increased by 2% compared to 2012 and passed the symbolic milestone of
10 million passengers in a year for the first time, thanks to strong demand in the leisure market.

In order to generate addition cross-Channel rail freight, Eurotunnel announced on 30 May 2013 the ETICA scheme (Eurotunnel Incentive
for Capacity Additions) which provides financial assistance to railway undertakings who start up new rail freight services using the
Tunnel, aiming to support their initial investment costs.

The number of rail freight trains increased by 10%, mainly due to an increase in steel transport, an upturn in certain intermodal traffic and,
at the end of the year, the new services generated by ETICA.

b) Fixed Link Concession operating costs
The Fixed Link segment’s operating costs amounted to €327 million in 2013, a decrease of 2% compared to 2012. Excluding
non-recurring items, charges remained stable.

9.2.3 EUROPORTE SEGMENT

The Europorte segment covers the entire rail freight transport logistical chain in France and the UK. It includes GBRf in the UK, and
Europorte France, Socorail, Europorte Proximité and Europorte Channel.

€ MILLION m 2012 Variance

Exchange rate €/£ 1.187 1.187

Revenue 239 206 +16%
External operating costs (135) (128) +6%
Employee benefits expense (85) (76) +11%
Operating costs (220) (204) +8%
Operating margin (EBITDA) 19 2 +€17m

a) Europorte revenues
The increase of €33 million in Europorte’s revenues (16%) has been generated by new contracts started in 2013 and in the second half of
2012, as well as by an increase in volumes on some existing contracts.

b) Europorte operating costs

In the context of the growth in activity levels, the increase in operating expenses has been limited to 8% in the year reflecting the impact
of measures to improve productivity that began in 2011 and which have been demonstrating their effectiveness since the second half of
2012 as well as the effect of lower start-up costs for new contracts.

Europorte’s operating margin improved significantly compared to 2012, with a positive EBITDA of €19 million, up €17 million.
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9.2.4 MYFERRYLINK SEGMENT

The Eurotunnel Group’s maritime subsidiaries “MyFerryLink” lease their ships to the SCOP (an operating company outside the
Eurotunnel Group) and market the cross-Channel crossings for freight and tourist vehicles.

The Eurotunnel Group’s maritime activity began on 20 August 2012 with two of the ferries (the Rodin and the Berlioz). Since
February 2013, all three of the ferries have been in operation on the Short Straits (including the Nord Pas-de-Calais).

74

Revenue 7
Operating costs (96) (20)
Operating margin (EBITDA) (22) (13)

a) MyFerryLink revenues

Freight 326,274 11,417
Cars® 316,811 45,908
Coaches 721 11

*

Includes motorcycles, vehicles with trailers, caravans and camper vans.
The segment generated revenues of €74 million in 2013 compared to €7 million in the four and a half months of operations in 2012.

MyFerryLink’s share of the cross-Channel Short Straits freight market in 2013 was 9%; it reached 9.6% in December 2013 compared to
4.2% in January 2013. For the car activity, market share was 6.5% for 2013.

b) MpyFerryLink operating costs
Operating costs of €96 million for the year mainly comprise the purchase of ferry crossings from the SCOP as well as commercial and
administrative costs.

9.2.5 OTHER INCOME

In 2012, other income of €30 million related to cash received in the year for the final settlement of insurance indemnities arising from the
fire in 2008.

9.2.6 OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDA)

EBITDA by business segment (excluding other income) evolved as follows:

€ MILLION Fixed Link® Europorte MyFerryLink Total Group
EBITDA® 2012 430 2 (19) 419
Improvement/(deterioration):
Revenue +16 +33 +67 +116
Operating costs +6 (16) (76) (86)
Total +22 +17 (9) +30
EBITDA 2013 452 19 (22) 449

*  Excluding insurance indemnities for operating losses following the fire in 2008 (€30 million in 2012).
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At €449 million in 2013, the Group’s operating margin improved by €30 million compared to 2012 excluding insurance indemnities in
2012; €22 million of this increase was generated by the Fixed Link segment and €17 million by Europorte, whilst MyFerryLink’s EBITDA
reduced by €9 million.

9.2.7 OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT)

Depreciation charges increased by €5 million to €166 million in 2013, mainly as a result of the new maritime activity.

The operating profit in 2013 amounted to €285 million, an improvement of €31 million compared to 2012 (excluding the €30 million of
insurance indemnities relating to the 2008 fire).

9.2.8 PRE-TAX PROFIT

At €269 million in 2013, net finance costs increased by €4 million compared to 2012 at a constant exchange rate, as a consequence of
the additional 2% margin on tranche C of the debt since July 2012, partially compensated by the decrease in inflation rates and the
resulting effect on the nominal value of the index-linked tranche of the debt.

In 2013, “net other financial income” included interest receivable on the floating rate notes of €7 million (2012: €6 million).

The Eurotunnel Group’s consolidated result before tax for the 2013 financial year was a profit of €20 million.

9.2.9 NET RESULT

Given its earnings outlook and its significant accumulated tax losses, the Group has accounted for a credit of €83 million in its 2013
income statement in relation to a net deferred tax asset. This credit consists of the initial recognition of a €70 million net deferred tax
asset arising from temporary differences and the activation of €13 million of carryforward tax deficits reflecting those losses which are
expected to be utilised in the next three years. At 31 December 2013, unrecognised deferred tax assets amounted to €1,554 million.
See note L to the consolidated accounts as set out in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document for further details.

In 2013, income tax expense also includes a charge of €2 million for tax on dividends (3% of the €65 million dividend paid in 2013).

The consolidated result after tax for the Eurotunnel Group for the 2013 financial year was a profit of €101 million.
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10.1. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE EUROTUNNEL GROUP’S
SHARE CAPITAL

Information concerning the Eurotunnel Group’s share capital is set out in note R of GET SA's consolidated financial statements contained
in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration Document.

In 2007, the Moody’s credit rating agency assigned a rating of Baa2 to GET SA which remains in effect at the date of this Registration
Document.

10.2. CASH FLOWS IN 2013 AND 2012

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

€ MILLION 2013 2012
Exchange rate €/£ 1.225
Net cash inflow from trading 459
Other operating cash flows and taxation 2
Net cash inflow from operating activities 461
Net cash outflow from investing activities (183)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (801)
Increase/(decrease) in cash in year (23)

In total, the net cash inflow in 2013 was €24 million, compared to a net cash outflow of €23 million in 2012, an improvement of
€47 million.

a) Cash flow from operating activities

Net cash inflow from operating activities remained stable in 2013 compared to 2012 at €459 million. After net other operating payments

and taxation of €6 million in 2013, the net cash inflow from operating activities decreased by €8 million to €453 million. This is explained

mainly by:

e a net increase of €14 million for the Fixed Link activity (increase of €20 million in receipts and €6 million in operating costs),

e the absence of €30 million of insurance indemnities received in 2012 in respect of the fire in 2008,

e a net increase of €20 million in Europorte’s operating cash flows, and

e anet operating cash out flow from the MyFerryLink segment’s activity in 2013 of €17 million in 2013 compared to the net cash out
flow of €21 million for the start up of the business and the four and a half months of operations in 2012.

b) Cash flow from investing activities

Net cash flow from investing activities decreased from €183 million in 2012 to €49 million in 2013. In 2012, net cash flows from investing
activities included payments of €74 million for the acquisition of certain assets from the ex-SeaFrance group and the cost of the
rehabilitation of the three ferries and €51 million for the acquisition of new locomotives for Europorte.

The net cash flow from investing activities of €49 million in 2013 included:

e €37 million relating to the Fixed Link (2012: €59 million) of which €10 million was spent on the project to install the GSM-R (digital
radio communication) system and €5 million on the renovation and power upgrade of locomotives,

e net payments of €3 million for Europorte, the investment in the multi-year programme to acquire new locomotives for Europorte in
France and GBRf having been financed by sale and lease back transactions,

e payments of €6 million for the MyFerryLink segment mainly in relation to the rehabilitation of the ferries,

e net payments of €5 million relating to the Group’s investment in ElecLink Limited, a joint venture 49%-owned by GET SA, which was
established to build and operate a new electricity interconnector between the French and British national grids by running two direct
current cables through the Tunnel, and

e €2 million received in respect of sales of fixed assets.
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Cash flow from financing activities

Net cash outflow from financing activities in 2013 amounted to €380 million compared to €301 million in 2012. During 2013, it
comprised mainly:

€241 million of interest paid on the Term Loan and associated hedging transactions (2012: €228 million); the increase results from
the application of the 2% step-up on the margin applicable to the tranche C debt since 28 June 2012,

€46 million paid in respect of the first scheduled repayments on the Term Loan,

€35 million paid under the share buy back programme (2012: €44 million),

€65 million paid in dividends (2012: €44 million),

interest received totalling €8 million of which €6 million was in respect of the floating rate notes owned by the Group (2012: €9 million
of which €6 million was in respect of the floating rate notes).

10.3. BORROWING CONDITIONS AND FINANCING STRUCTURE OF
THE EUROTUNNEL GROUP

The financing structure of the Eurotunnel Group is set out in section 22.4 of this Registration Document.

10.4. RESTRICTIONS ON THE USE OF CAPITAL RESOURCES

The restrictions resulting from the financial covenants provided in the Term Loan are described in section 22.4 of this Registration
Document.

10.5. SOURCES OF FUNDS FOR FUTURE INVESTMENTS

Significant future investments for the Fixed Link are expected to be self-funded. Acquisition of rolling stock for Europorte may be funded
by external loans or sale and leaseback operations.

10.6. DEBT SERVICE COVER RATIOS

Pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan, the Eurotunnel Group is required to meet the following financial covenants:

At each half-year closure, the debt service cover ratio may not be less than 1.10. For the purposes of this test, the ratio is calculated,
on arolling 12 month period, on a consolidated basis taking into account (i) as regards the calculation of available cash flow for the
servicing of debt, the borrowers and guarantors in connection with the Senior Facilities, and (i) as regards the calculation of debt
servicing, the Eurotunnel Group. Failure to meet this financial covenant amounts to one of the events of default and accelerated
payment as described in note V of the consolidated financial statements contained in paragraph 20.3.1 of this Registration
Document.

At each six-monthly test date after 31 December 2007, the ratio of operating cash flow to the total synthetic debt service on the Term
Loan may not be less than 1.25. For the purposes of this test, the ratio is calculated taking into account the hypothetical amortisation
on the Term Loan and on the basis of a rolling 12 month period prior to the date of the test. Failure to meet this ratio on a six-monthly
testing date would lead to restrictions on the use of the Group’s excess available cash flow on the date of the next interest payment
on the Term Loan until such time as the test is met once again. These restrictions include, in particular, the ability of the Eurotunnel
Group to pay dividends and to finance new activities. Failure to meet this test on three consecutive six monthly testing dates would
trigger a prepayment event, under which the Group’s excess available cash flow would have to be used towards prepayment of the
Term Loan until the testing date on which the ratio is met once again.

The debt service cover ratio and the synthetic service cover ratio for Groupe Eurotunnel SA at 31 December 2013 were 1.63 and
1.73 respectively, and thus the financial covenants for the period were respected.
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10.7. LONG TERM DEBT TO ASSET RATIO

The Group defines its Long Term Debt to Asset Ratio as the ratio between long-term financial liabilities less the value of the floating rate
notes held by the Group as a percentage of tangible fixed assets. At 31 December 2013, the ratio was 57.3% compared to 56.3% at
31 December 2012 (restated at the exchange rate at 31 December 2013).

31 December

2013 31 December 2012

€ MILLION restated published
Exchange rate €/£ 1.199 1.199 1.225
Long-term financial liabilities A 3,890 3,893 3,934
Other financial assets: floating rate notes B 151 151 152
Long-term financial liabilities less other

financial assets A-B=C 3,739 3,742 3,782
Tangible fixed assets: property, plant and

equipment® D 6,529 6,647 6,648
Long-Term Debt to Asset Ratio C/D 57.3% 56.3% 56.9%

*

Concession fixed assets are converted using historic exchange rates.

10.8. FREE CASH FLOW

The Group defines its Free Cash Flow as net cash flow from operating activities less net cash flow from investing activities (excluding the
initial investment in new activities and the acquisition of shareholdings in subsidiary undertakings) and net cash flow from financing
activities relating to debt service plus interest received (on Cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets).

The Group’s Free Cash Flow in 2013 remained relatively stable compared to 2012 at €129 million, the increase in interest paid and the
first scheduled debt repayments having been compensated by the decrease in investments (see paragraph 10.2 above for

more details).
31 December 31 December
€ MILLION 2013 2012
Exchange rate €/£ 1.199 1.225
Net cash inflow from operating activities 453 461
Net cash outflow from investing activities (49) (183)
Adjustment for investment in subsidiary undertakings - 1
Adjustment for the acquisition and rehabilitation of the maritime assets 6 74
Interest paid on loans and hedging instruments (242) (229)
Scheduled debt repayments (47) -
Interest received 8 9
Free Cash Flow 129 133
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11. RESEARCH AND
DEVELOPMENT,
TRADEMARKS, PATENTS
AND LICENCES

11.1. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The high traffic volumes in the System have led the Eurotunnel Group to focus its research and development strategy on the
investigation of materials, designs, tools and systems with the potential to extend the life of tracks both in and out of the tunnels.

Moreover, in order to deal with issues specific to it, the Eurotunnel Group has mobilised its own resources and those of external partners
for the purposes of research and development in order to make fresh improvements and solve the technical uncertainties and stumbling
blocks in connection with operations outside standard criteria. A number of innovative projects were carried out, such as the installation
of catenary infrastructure and automation systems that allow catenaries to be turned off at the loading platforms without affecting
Shuttle operations, the reinforcement of the floors and chassis of Truck Shuttles and a design study for a new generation of
Truck Shuttles.

The Group is also a founding member of the Railenium Scientific Cooperation Foundation’s board of directors. Railenium is an Institute
for Technological Research in the rail industry, selected within the framework of France’s economic stimulus plan (“le Grand Emprunt”). It
is composed of a Scientific Cooperation Foundation and a test centre. Railenium’s mission is to provide a platform for rail infrastructure
R&D, testing, engineering and training. The Foundation pools the work of research bodies and companies to develop research and
development programmes in the field of rail infrastructure and systems, which may go as far as industrial prototyping. The Institute’s
partners include seven research and training organisations, fifteen industrial companies involved in construction, services and
engineering, and three infrastructure operators (RFF, SNCF and the Eurotunnel Group).

The Eurotunnel Group wishes to develop standard rail traffic between continental Europe and the United Kingdom, which means
avoiding the use of Class 92 locomotives. The Group carried out tests with Siemens’ new generation Vectron locomotives, on the night
of 25 to 26 January 2013, to check compatibility with systems and safety standards in the Tunnel. A locomotive in standard
configuration was put through traction, braking and pantograph tests while hauling wagons with a total weight of 1,350 tonnes. The
Eurotunnel Group had previously carried out similar trials in September 2012 with Alstom’s new generation Prima Il locomotives.

11.2. TRADEMARKS, PATENTS AND LICENCES

11.2.1 TRADEMARKS AND DOMAIN NAMES

The Eurotunnel Group’s main trademarks are the nominative, figurative and semi-figurative trademarks that protect the “Eurotunnel”
name and the design of the logo. The other trademarks used are registered mainly to protect the corporate names of the Eurotunnel
Group companies, particularly “France Manche”, “Europorte” or “MyFerryLink”, and certain brand names, such as “Le Shuttle”.
At the date of this Registration Document, the Eurotunnel Group also owns approximately 380 domain names, including
“eurotunnel.com”.
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11.2.2 PATENTS

The Eurotunnel Group has also filed for patents relating to specific aspects of its business.

At the date of this Registration Document, three systems, including that relating to the SAFE stations, are the subject of patents in force
filed by FM. Europorte’s patent application for a system for transferring sand to train sandboxes was published on 22 November 2013.

11.2.3 LICENCES

The Eurotunnel Group has no licence granted by a third party allowing it to use a third party’s trademark. It has granted a non-exclusive
licence to use the trademark “Autoconvergent maintenance system for complex high-volume equipment”.
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12. INFORMATION ON
TRENDS

For several years now, the Eurotunnel Group has been pursuing a development strategy based on creating value over the long term. This
theme, based on a series of plans to improve competitiveness, draws on the Group’s key strengths:

e unique know-how as a rail infrastructure manager, a source of great credibility with its partners;

e a continuously improving service offering;

e an economic model with robust fundamentals.

In 2014, the Eurotunnel Group will strive to strengthen its alternative sources of growth, while also reaffirming the priority given to safety
and service quality. The Eurotunnel Group will endeavour to improve its competitiveness by continuing to adapt its activities and seeking
to improve its operational efficiency.

Improving competitiveness requires investment, which is a key lever of differentiation in relation to competitors. Moreover, in a context of
intense competition between operators and depressed economic conditions, service quality remains a crucial distinguishing factor.
Therefore, the Eurotunnel Group plans to make substantial investments, more specifically in the terminals and rolling stock with the aim
of supporting performance in the long term, to increase EBITDA-generating capacity and operational cash flow.

Thus, for the Fixed Link, in order to transport over ten million customers a year in the best possible conditions of comfort while also

optimising journey times, the Eurotunnel Group will step up its efforts to improve its organisation and facilities:

e As has been done for the Victor Hugo terminal in Folkestone, the Charles Dickens passenger terminal building in Coquelles will be
refurbished to the best international airport standards, to accommodate customers in a pleasant setting.

e To support the growth in freight traffic and increase the number of departures per hour, the capacity of the terminals will be
expanded. The Terminal 2015 project, which will kick off in 2014, will include the construction in Coquelles of a secure parking area
as well as the creation of additional toll lanes and check-in access lanes at the Coquelles and Folkestone terminals.

e Renewal of the rolling stock is continuing at a steady pace. Focus areas for 2014 include a campaign to renew and modernise the
club car wagons for truck drivers, and continuation of the preparatory work for the acquisition of new Truck Shuttles with
aerodynamic studies and other tests.

e Improving competitiveness also requires innovation. The Eurotunnel Group plans to continue its modernisation drive and adopt
state-of-the-art technology, equipping the Concession with the necessary infrastructure and tools for the next twenty years (GSMP
in the North tunnel, real-time information tools) by 2015.

A leading logistics and rail-services operator, Europorte differentiates itself through service quality. Europorte has implemented major
continuous improvement actions, including the optimisation of processes for the manufacture and reliability of its equipment. After years
of strong growth, Europorte plans to continue improving its competitiveness by optimising use of its human, technical and financial
resources.

MyFerryLink is now positioned in the Short Straits market in line with the Group’s expectations, as a challenger with two powerful
competitors. MyFerryLink’s future is however dependant on the UK Competition Commission’s final decision in respect of its services
from the port of Dover, which is expected in May 2014.

Based on the anticipated increase in the Group’s business coupled with implementation of its investment policy, the Group has set itself
the following financial goal for 2014: an EBITDA of €460 million for 2014 and of more than €500 million for 2015.

This goal is based on data, assumptions and estimates which are considered to be reasonable, although they may change or be
modified due to uncertainties linked to the economic, financial, competitive and regulatory environment. In addition, the materialisation
of certain risks described in Chapter 4 “Risk factors” of this Registration Document would have an impact on the Group’s activities and
ability to achieve its objectives. Moreover, the achievement of targets supposes successful implementation of the strategy presented in
Chapter 6 “Activity” of this Registration Document. Consequently, the Eurotunnel Group makes no commitments or guarantees
regarding achievement of the targets, and the forward-looking information contained in this chapter should not be used to establish
results forecasts.
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13. FORECASTS

The Group does not publish forecasts.
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14.1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this Registration Document, the members of the board of directors of GET SA are as follows:

Name

Position

Gender

Nationality

Date of
Appointment

Date term expires

Jacques Gounon

Philippe Camu

Patricia Hewitt

Peter Levene

Colette Lewiner

Colette Neuville

Perrette Rey

Robert Rochefort

Jean-Pierre

Trotignon

Philippe Vasseur

Tim Yeo

Chairman and
Chief Executive
Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

M

French

Belgian

Australian

British

French

French

French

French

French

French

British

26 May 2010

26 May 2010

26 May 2010

26 April 2012

26 April 2012

26 April 2012

20 March 2013

26 May 2010

26 April 2012

26 May 2010

26 May 2010

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2013

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2013

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2013

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2015

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2015

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2015

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2015

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2013

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2015

General meeting called to approve
the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2013

General meeting called to approve

the financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2013
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The table below sets out the appointments held by members of the board of directors of GET SA in French and foreign listed companies

outside of the Eurotunnel Group, as at the date of this Registration Document.

Name

Office

Company

Listed on

Jacques Gounon
Philippe Camu
Patricia Hewitt
Peter Levene

Colette Lewiner

Colette Neuville
Perrette Rey

Robert Rochefort
Jean-Pierre Trotignon
Philippe Vasseur

Tim Yeo

Director, Chairman of the
audit committee

Partner-Managing Director
Senior Independent Director
Director

Director
Director
Director
Director

Director

Director

None

None

None

Director

Director

Chairman of the board of directors

Aéroports de Paris

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc

BT Group plc

China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited

Bouygues/Colas
Nexans (S.A.)

Crompton Greaves
TGS Nopec Geophysical

Company (ASA)
Lafarge (S.A.)"
ATOS

None

None

None

CIC

Bonduelle SA

AFC Energy PLC

Euronext Paris

New York Stock
Exchange

London Stock
Exchange

Shanghai

Euronext Paris
Euronext Paris
Mumbai

Oslo Bdrse

Euronext Paris
Euronext Paris
None

None

None
Euronext Paris
Euronext Paris
AIM London

" End of term: 7 May 2014
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The table below lists the companies outside the Eurotunnel Group in which members of the board of directors of GET SA have held
office (other than in private asset management structures) as a member of a board of directors, or management or supervisory board, or
in which they have been a partner with unlimited liability during the last five years, and the companies in which they still hold a position of
this nature, as at the date of this Registration Document.

66

Other positions
held outside

Name the Eurotunnel Group

Company

Dates

Jacques Gounon
committee

Philippe Camu

Director, chairman of the audit

Partner Managing Director
Member of the Investment

Aéroports de Paris

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc
Goldman Sachs Infrastructure Partners,

2008 to date

2010 to date
2006 to date

Committee the Goldman Sachs infrastructure
investment fund (GSIP)
Director Associated British Ports Holdings Limited 2006 to date
Member of the remuneration Associated British Ports 2006 to date
committee
Director ABP Subholdings UK Ltd 2006 to date
Director ABP Acquisitions UK Ltd 2006 to date
Director ABP Bonds UK Ltd 2006 to date
Director ABP Mezzanine Holdco UK Ltd 2006 to date
Alternate Director ABP Finance Plc 2011 to date
Director ABPA Holdings Ltd 2011 to date
Director Redexis Gas S.L (formerly Endesas Gas 2010 to date
T&D)

Director Distribuidora Regional del Gas, S.A.U. 2010 to 2014
Director Redexis Gas Distribucion (formerly Endesa 2010 to 2014
Gas Distribucion, S.A.U.)

Director Redexis Gas Transporte (formerly Endesa 2010 to 2014
Gas Transportista, S.L.U.)

Director Redexis Gas Baleares SA (formerly GESA 2010 to 2014

Gas, S.A.U.
Director Transportista Regional de Gas, S.A. 2010 to 2014
Director LNi Group Oy 2012
Director LNi Verkko 2012
Director Sintonia SA Until 2009
Patricia Hewitt Senior Independent Director BT Group plc 2008 to date

Chair UK India Business Council (UKIBC) 2009 to date
Chair UK India Business Council India (Pvt) Ltd 2013 to date
Chair Katha Children’s Trust 2010 to date

Member of the Asia-Pacific
Advisory Committee

Chairman of the board

Peter Levene
Director

Vice Chairman of the board
Chairman of the board

Director

Chairman of the board

Barclays Group plc

General Dynamics UK Limited
Haymarket Group Ltd

Starr International Company, Inc.
Starr Underwriting Agents Ltd

China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited

Tikehau Investments Limited

2009 to 2012

2001 to date
2006 to date
2011 to date
2011 to date
2013 to date

2013 to date

Director China Construction Bank 1997 to 2012
Chairman NBNK Investments plc 2010 to 2012
Director Total SA 2005 to 2011
Chairman Lloyd’s 2002 to 2011
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Name

Other positions
held outside
the Eurotunnel Group

Company

Dates

Colette Lewiner

Colette Neuville

Perrette Rey
Robert Rochefort

Jean-Pierre
Trotignon

Independent Director,
chairwoman of the
remuneration committee

Independent Director, member
of the strategic committee

Director

Independent Director, member
of the audit committee

Director, member of the
strategy and sustainable
development committee

Chair of the board of directors

Independent Director, member
of the remuneration and
appointment committee

Independent Director
Founder and chair

Director

Director

Member of the supervisory
board

Censeur
Member of the governing body

Director

Director

Director

None

Chief Executive

Director

Director

Member of the supervisory

board

Director

Deputy chief executive officer

Bouygues (S.A.)

Nexans (S.A.)

Colas (S.A)

TGS Nopec Geophysical Company (ASA) —
Norway

Lafarge (S.A.)"

TDF (SAS)
Crompton Greaves

La Poste (S.A)

Association de Défense des Actionnaires
Minoritaires (ADAM)

Faider (Federation of Independent Defence
Associations for Retirement Savers)

ATOS
ATOS

ATOS

Ecole de droit et management, Paris
[I-Assas

ARCAF (Defense Association for Public
Servant Retirement Savers)

Euroshareholders

Vie financiére

None

CREDOC

BNP Paribas Personal Finance (CETELEM)
French Red Cross

Plastic Omnium Environnement SAS
(extension of scope of Compagnie
Signature SAS)

BG Bonnard et Gardel Holding SA
(Switzerland)

Groupe Eurotunnel SA

2010 to date

2004 to date

2011 to date
2006 to date

2010 to 2014

2010 to date
2013 to date

2005 to 2011
1991 to date

2008 to date

2012 to date
2008 to 2009

2010 to 2012
2009 to date

2011 to date

2006 to 2007
2005 to 2007
None

1995 to 2009
20083 to date
2006 to 2009
2000 to date

2011 to date

2008 to 2009

" End of term: 7 May 2014
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Name

Other positions
held outside
the Eurotunnel Group

Company

Dates

Philippe Vasseur

Chairman of the supervisory
board

Director

Chairman of the board of
directors

Chairman of the board of
directors

Director

Director

Permanent representative —
CFCMNE (Director)

Chairman of the board of
directors

Chairman of the supervisory
board

Director

Permanent Representative —
CFCMNE (Censeur)

Chairman of the supervisory
board

Director

Chairman of the board of
directors

Director
Director

Chairman of the board of
directors

Director

Member of the supervisory
poard

Permanent representative —
CMNE Belgium

Vice-chairman of the board of
directors

Chairman of the supervisory
board

Permanent representative —
CMNE Belgium (director)

Director

Permanent Representative —
CMNE Belgium (Director)

Chairman of the board of
directors

Permanent Representative —
CMNE Belgium (Director)

Permanent Representative —

CMNE Belgium (Vice-chairman)

Permanent Representative —
CMNE Belgium

Banque Commerciale du Marché Nord
Europe

Bonduelle SAS

Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Lille Liberté
(société coopérative de crédit a capital
variable)

Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Nord
Europe (société anonyme coopérative)
Caisse Solidaire du Crédit Mutuel Nord
Europe (société coopérative de crédit a
capital variable)

CIC SA

Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel

Chamber of industry and commerce of the

Nord-Pas-de-Calais Region (public body)
Groupe La Francaise

Holder SAS
LOSC Lille Métropole

Nord Europe Assurances SA

Nord Europe Partenariat

Société de Développement Régional de
Normandie

BKCP (SCRL) (Belgium)

BKCP Securities (SA) (Belgium)

Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe Belgium (SA)
(Belgium)

Crédit Professionnel SA (Belgium)

La Francaise AM Private Bank (SA)

(Luxembourg)

Mobilease (SA) (Belgium)

Beobank (formely Citibank Belgium SA)
CMNE France

BKCP (SCRL)

BKCP Noord (SCRL)
BKCP Noord (SCRL)

Creédit Professionnel Interfédéral (SCRL)
Crédit Professionnel Interfédéral (SCRL)
Federale Kas Voor Het Beroepskrediet

(SCRL)
Alverzeele (SA)

2000 to date

2008 to date

2005 to date

2000 to date

2005 to date

2001 to date

2005 to date

2011 to date

2006 to date

2005 to 2013
2005 to date

2006 to date

2009 to date
2001 to date

2001 to date
2005 to 2013
2000 to date

2000 to date
2011 to date

2009 to date

2012 to date

1999 to 2007

2007 to 2009

2006 to 2009
2006 to 2009

2000 to 2008

2006 to 2008

2004 to 2009

2009 to 2011
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Other positions

held outside Company Dates

Name the Eurotunnel Group

Tim Yeo Chairman of the board of AFC Energy PLC 2006 to date
directors
Chairman of the board of TMO Renewables Limited 2010 to date
directors
Director TMOTMO Renewable Energy Group 2013 to date

Limited

Director TMO Bio Tech Limited 2013 to date
Director Anacol Holdings Limited 1979 to date
Director Adeptt Ltd 2013 to date
Chairman of the board of Eco City Vehicles PLC 2007 to 2012
directors
Director General Securities Register, Limited 1979 to date
Director [Tl Energy Limited 2006 to 2013
Director Locana Corporation (London) Limited 1979 to date
Chairman of the board of Univent PLC 1995 to 2009
directors
Director First London PLC 2008 to 2010

For the purposes of their corporate appointments within the Eurotunnel Group, the service address of the board members is the
registered office of GET SA, 3 rue La Boétie, 75008 Paris.

Biographical details for each of the members of the board of directors of GET SA as at the date of this Registration Document are set
out below:

Jacques Gounon

Jacques Gounon, 60, is a graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique and chief engineer of the Ponts et Chaussées. He started his career in
public service in 1977 and later became Chief Executive of the Comatec group (1986-90), Director of development for the Eiffage group
(1991-93), Industry advisor to the French Employment Minister (1993-95), Principal Private Secretary to the French Secretary of State
for Transport (1995-96), Deputy Chief Executive of Alstom (1996), Chairman of the business sector and Member of the Executive
Committee of Alstom (2000), Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive of the Cegelec group (2001). He became Chairman and Chief
Executive of Eurotunnel in 2005, and then of Groupe Eurotunnel SA in 2007. He is a director of Aéroport de Paris and the French
association of companies limited by shares (ANSA).

Philippe Camu

Philippe Camu, 46, a graduate of the French HEC is Partner — Managing Director of Goldman Sachs, London. He manages the
European activity of Goldman Sachs Infrastructure Partners, the Goldman Sachs fund for investment in infrastructure. Philippe Camu
began his career with Goldman Sachs in 1992 in the Corporate Finance department and joined the Real Estate Principal Investment
department in 1997. He is a member of the Goldman Sachs Infrastructure Partners investment committee and a director of Associated
British Ports companies, and Redexis Gas (formerly Endesa Gas). He became a member of the board of Groupe Eurotunnel SA on
26 May 2010.

Patricia Hewitt

Patricia Hewitt, 65, a graduate of Cambridge University and Labour Member of Parliament for 13 years until 2010, Patricia Hewitt first
worked for Age Concern (the largest UK charity working with the elderly). She was Economic Secretary at the Treasury (1998-1999),
then Minister for e-Commerce and Small Business at the DTl (1999-2001) and subsequently Secretary of State for Trade and Industry
and Cabinet Minister for Women (2001-2005) before becoming Secretary of State for Health (2005-2007). She is a director of British
Telecom. She became a member of the board of directors of Groupe Eurotunnel SA on 26 May 2010.

Hugues Lepic

Hugues Lepic, was a director of Groupe Eurotunnel SA between 26 May 2010 and 20 March 2013. A graduate of the French Ecole
Polytechnique and holder of an MBA from Wharton, University of Pennsylvania, he is the founder and chief executive officer of Aleph
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Capital Partners LLP, an investment company based in London. He joined the merchant banking division and the private equity branch
of Goldman Sachs in London in 1996 before becoming managing director in 1998 and partner in 2000. He was partner-managing
director of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., between 2000 and 2012 and managed the merchant banking division of Goldman Sachs in
Europe. He was directly responsible for private equity and distressed investment in Europe between 2006 and 2012. He was a member
of the European executive committee of Goldman Sachs and a member of the investment, risk and strategy committees of the
merchant banking division of Goldman Sachs. Hugues Lepic started his career in 1990 in the mergers and acquisitions department of
Goldman Sachs in New York, then London.

Peter Levene

Peter Levene, 72, a Foundation Shareholder of Eurotunnel, joined the defence group United Scientific Holdings in 1963, and rose to the
post of group chairman in 1981. Subsequently, he was asked by Secretary of State for Defence to act as his Personal Advisor in the
MoD, and then as Permanent Secretary in the role of Chief of Defence Procurement, a position which he held for six years. He thereafter
held the post of Advisor to the Secretary of State for the Environment, to the President of the Board of Trade and to the Chancellor of the
Exchequer. He was appointed as Advisor to the Prime Minister on Efficiency and Effectiveness from 1992 to 1997. During this period, he
also served as Chairman of the Docklands Light Railway and then Chairman and Chief Executive of Canary Wharf Ltd. He served as a
member of the Board of Directors of J. Sainsbury plc from 2001-2004 and of Total SA from 2005-2011. He is currently Chairman of
General Dynamics UK Ltd, Starr Underwriting Agents Ltd and vice-president of Starr International Company, Inc, and a member of the
boards of Haymarket Publications. He is a member of the House of Lords economic affairs committee. He served as Sheriff of London
from 1995-96 and as Lord Mayor of London for the year 1998-99. He received a knighthood in 1989 and became a Life Peer in
July 1997 as Lord Levene of Portsoken. Previously, he served as Chairman of Lloyd’s of London, the world’s leading specialist insurance
and reinsurance market from 2002-2011, after having been Vice Chairman of Deutsche Bank. Prior to this, he held the position of
Chairman of Bankers Trust International, Morgan Stanley and Wasserstein Perella. Peter Levene’s appointment as a director of the
board of GET SA was ratified by the general meeting held on 26 April 2012.

Colette Lewiner

Colette Lewiner, 68, is a graduate of the Ecole Normale Supérieure and holds a degree and doctorate in physics. She is a director of
Nexans, TGS-Nopec, Groupe Bouygues Lafarge and Compton Greaves and is non-executive chair of TDF. Colette Lewiner began her
career as a university lecturer, conducting research into electrical and magnetic phenomena in new semi-conductors. In 1979, she
joined EDF in the research and development directorate and then established the development and commercial strategy division. In
1992, she became chair and chief executive of SGN-Reseau Eurisys, a subsidiary of Cogema, and then joined Capgemini to set up the
Utilities sector, which she then managed. In 2000, following the merger of Capgemini and Ernst and Young, Colette Lewiner was
appointed managing director of GSU (Global Sector Unit). In 2004 she took on responsibility for the group’s Global Marketing unit (which
she headed until 2008) alongside responsibility for the global Energy, Utilities and Chemicals sector. In July 2012, Colette Lewiner left this
post to become energy adviser to the chairman of Capgemini. Colette Lewiner is the author of a textbook on nuclear power stations and
of numerous scientific papers. She is a Commander of the Légion d’Honneur and of the Ordre National du Mérite. Colette Lewiner’s
appointment as a director of the board of GET SA was ratified by the general meeting held on 26 April 2012.

Colette Neuville

Colette Neuville, 77, is a law graduate and a graduate of the Paris Institute of Political Studies, and holds a post-graduate degree in
economics and political science. She has worked as an economist for NATO, for the national office for irrigation (ONI), for the
government of Morocco and for the Loire-Bretagne agency. Colette Neuville is founding Chairman of ADAM (the French association for
the defence of minority shareholders). She is a member of the board of directors of Faider and ATOS. She is also a member of the
commission on retail investors and minority shareholders of the AMF. Since 2009, she is a member of the governing board of the MBA
school of the Panthéon-Sorbonne university. She became a director of TNU on 15 December 2005. She has been a director of GET SA
since 9 March 2007 and chairs the nomination and remuneration committee. She is also a member of the audit committee. She has
been appointed as Senior Independent Director by the board of directors on 14 February 2014.

Perrette Rey

Perrette Rey, 71, holds a doctorate in corporate law and a post-graduate degree in economic management both from the University of
Paris I; she is a graduate of the Paris political studies institute (IEP), the Paris institute of business management (IAE) and the Paris centre
for better management (CPA). She started her career as commercial director for SOVA, a mechanics, metal and steel family businesses
prior to setting up her own business as a management, organisation and IT consultant then becoming responsible for a management
and IT publication. She joined the Banques Populaires group where she was successively in charge of strategy, budget, finance and IT
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and later an advisor to the chairman of the Banques Populaires group. She was elected as a judge on the Paris commercial court in
1992, becoming in turn president of a chamber, vice-president and the first woman (and to date the only woman for 450 years) to be
elected president of the Paris commercial court, then president of the general council of commercial courts, which brings together all the
French commercial courts, between 2004 and 2008. She chaired the French observatory for businesses in difficulty set up by the
chamber of commerce and industry of Paris-lle-de-France. From 2008 to 2013, she was a member of the French state shareholding
commission. Perrette Rey was appointed by the board of directors of GET SA and her appointment was ratified by the general meeting
on 15 May 2013.

Robert Rochefort

Robert Rochefort, 58, has been a member of the European Parliament representing a constituency in southwest France since
July 2009. He is a graduate of the French Ecole Nationale de la Statistique et de I’Administration, and holds a post-graduate degree in
economics and a masters degree in mathematics. He is an economist and sociologist, and was chief executive of CREDOC (French
research centre for the study and observation of living conditions) from 1995 to 2009. He was a member of the French Economic
Analysis Council and a director of the French Red Cross. His is a director at BNP Paribas Personal Finance (Cetelem). He joined the
board of directors of TNU on 7 April 2004. He has been a director of GET SA since 9 March 2007 and chairs the audit committee.

Jean-Pierre Trotignon

Jean-Pierre Trotignon, 63, is a graduate of Ecole Polytechnique and of the Ponts et Chaussées engineering school, and holds a masters
degree in Science from the University of Berkeley. He became Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Autoroutes du Sud de la France
(1987-1992) and Chief Executive Officer of Compagnie Signature SA from 1992 to 1998. He joined the Caisse des Dépots
Développement (C3D) group in 1998, where he was in turn Chief Executive Officer of Egis Projects S.A. (1998-2000), Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of ISIS SA (1998-2001), Amministratore Delegato of Egis Italia S.p.A. (2000-2001) and deputy director for
continental Europe of Transdev SA (October 2001 to January 2003). Between 1999 and 2003, alongside his appointments with C3D
and Ubifrance, he was Chairman of the Port Autonome of Dunkirk. After two years as Chief Executive Officer of Ubifrance, he joined
Eurotunnel in August 2005 as Chief Operating Officer in charge of all commercial, operational and technical aspects of the business, in
France and in the UK before being appointed as Deputy Chief Executive from 2008 to 2009. He became a member of the board of
GET SA in 2010 and chairs the safety and security committee. On 30 June 2011, he became a director of a Swiss company, BG
Bonnard et Gardel Holding SA.

Philippe Vasseur

Philippe Vasseur, 70, former Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Food from 1995 to 1997, has been the member of French Parliament
for the Pas-de-Calais area several times between 1986 and 2000. He has been a member of the Finance Commission for the French
Parliament throughout his parliamentary career, regional councillor for the Nord-Pas-de-Calais between 1992 and 1998 and mayor of
Saint-Pol-sur-Ternoise (Pas-de-Calais). A former economics journalist, he resigned from all his political appointments in 2000 in order to
return to the private sector in which he holds the position of Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe as well as various other positions in
companies controlled by Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe (BCMME, Caisse de Lille-Liberté, La Frangaise AM, Nord Europe Assurances, SDR
Normandie). He is also director of Bonduelle and Chairman of Réseau Alliances, which brings together 200 Nord-Pas-de-Calais
businesses involved in social and environmental responsibility. In 2011, he was elected chairman of the Chamber of Commerce and
Industry of the Nord de France. He has been a director of GET SA since 20 June 2007.

Tim Yeo

Tim Yeo, 68, is a graduate from Cambridge University, Member of the House of Commons representing Suffolk South and Chairman of
the House of Commons Energy and Climate Change Select Committee. He was government minister for the environment and rural
affairs between 1990 and 1994, and a member of the shadow cabinet between 1998 and 2005, with roles including shadow Secretary
for Trade and Industry, and Transport and the Environment. Tim Yeo is Chairman of AFC Energy PLC and TMO Renewables Limited. He
was also the founding Chairman of The Children’s Trust, a charitable organisation which took over the management of a hospital for
disabled children. He has been a director of GET SA since 20 June 2007 and chairs the strategy and sustainable development
committee.
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14.2. COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

The board of directors has put in place an audit committee, a nomination and remuneration committee, a security and safety committee,
a strategy and sustainable development committee as well as an ethics and governance committee. The composition and terms of
reference of each committee are set out in paragraph 16.2.3 of this Registration Document.

14.3. GENERAL MANAGEMENT

Chief Executive Officer
Jacques Gounon is Chief Executive Officer of GET SA and Chairman of its board of directors.

Emmanuel Moulin was appointed Deputy Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2014, the date of implementation of a new distribution for

the supervision of businesses and support functions between the executive and operating officers:

e Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, keeps the supervision of strategy, communication, safety and ethics, public
affairs, internal audit, shareholder relations, investor relations, investment policy and the company secretariat; and

e The two Chief Operating Officers, Michel Boudoussier, Chief Operating Officer in charge of the Concession/Channel Tunnel and
Pascal Sainson Chief Operating Officer in charge of the rail freight business, continue to manage their respective current fields of
activity, under the supervision of Emmanuel Moulin.

Emmanuel Moulin, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, supervises activities managed by the two Chief Operating Officers (Concession and
rail freight) and keeps the supervision of the finance department, the legal department, business services, treasury and the Group
human resources department.

Michel Boudoussier is Chief Operating Officer in charge of the Concession business. In this capacity, the directors in charge of each of
the following areas report to him: industrial matters, commercial, human resources in France and in the United Kingdom safety and
sustainable development, railways and all operational teams.

Pascal Sainson is Chief Operating Officer in charge of the rail freight business development.

Composition of the Executive Committee

Name Position

Jacques Gounon Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Michel Boudoussier Chief Operating Officer — Concession
Philippe de Lagune Safety and Ethics Director

Patrick Etienne Business Services Director
Emmanuel Moulin Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Pascal Sainson Chief Operating Officer — Europorte
John Smith Managing Director — GBRf

Jo Willacy Commercial Director — Concession
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The table below sets out the list of companies, other than subsidiaries of GET SA, in which the members of the Executive Committee of
GET SA have held office as members of a management or supervisory board or in which they have been a partner during the last five
years, and the companies in which they still hold a position of this nature:

Name Position Company Dates

Jacques Gounon Jacques Gounon’s appointments
are given in section 14.1 of this
Registration Document

Michel Boudoussier - - _
Philippe de Lagune - - -
Patrick Etienne - - _
Emmanuel Moulin - - _
Pascal Sainson Chairman Calais Développement 2004 to 2010

Vice-chairman Calais Promotion 2009 to 2010
Chairman Association pour la Promotion du 2009 to 2010
Développement Economique
Territorial
John Smith - - -
Jo Willacy - - -

Biographical details for each member of the Executive Committee members appear below.

Jacques Gounon
Jacques Gounon’s biographical details are given in section 14.1 of this Registration Document.

Michel Boudoussier

Michel Boudoussier, 50, studied at the Ecole Normale Supérieure and subsequently became an Engineer at the Corps des Mines. He
joined the Eurotunnel Group on 3 May 2010 as Chief Operating Officer in charge of the Channel Tunnel Operations. Following several
appointments in the French Ministry for Industry, in 1995, Michel Boudoussier, a specialist of the railway industry, joined the French
Ministry for Town and Country Planning. Michel Boudoussier spent a large part of his career with SNCF, starting as manager for freight in
the Lorraine region. In 2003, he became SNCF Regional Director for Normandy, before becoming, in 2006, SNCF Regional Director for
the Nord-Pas-de-Calais region. From September 2008, Michel Boudoussier was Human Resources Director for the Infrastructure arm
of SNCF.

Patrick Etienne

Patrick Etienne, 53, joined the Eurotunnel Group in 1992 after 10 years with SNCF Armement Naval. Manager of the control of sales
systems, from 2000 he managed the Group’s internet business. In 2004, he was appointed operational restructuring director, and
became purchasing director in 2005. In 2009, he was appointed Business Services Director which currently includes purchasing and IT.
He also manages the property development department of the Group. He is chairman of EuroSco SAS, Euro-Immo GET and SIFE
(Société Immobiliere et Fonciére Eurotunnel). He was appointed as a director of GET Elec Limited and ElecLink Limited on
28 November 2011. He is also chairman of all the Euro-TransManche companies and in particular MyFerryLink SAS.

Emmanuel Moulin

Emmanuel Moulin, 45, is a graduate of ENA and of the Institut d’Etudes Politiques of Paris and of ESSEC. He joined Groupe Eurotunnel
on 28 August 2012 as Chief Financial and Corporate Officer. He started his career in the Transport Department of the French Treasury in
1996 and moved to the office of Treasury and Monetary policy between 1998 and 2000 before taking up the role of deputy director at the
World Bank in Washington. Between 2003 and 2005 he was general secretary of the Club de Paris before joining Citigroup Global
Markets in 2006 with responsibility for France and Belgium. In 2007, he was appointed deputy private secretary to the French Finance,
Industry and Economy Minister, Christine Lagarde, before taking on the role of economic advisor to the French President between 2009
and 2012. He has been appointed as deputy Chief Executive Officer of GET SA on 1 January 2014.

Pascal Sainson

Pascal Sainson, 56, is a civil aviation engineer. He started his career at the Direction Générale de I’Aviation Civile from 1983 to 1986, he
was Head of Programming and Development at Air Littoral from January 1987 until August 1988, then Manager of Air Operations and
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Manager of Programming and Planning at TAT European Airlines. He joined TNU in 1996 as Service Delivery Director. Appointed to the
management committee in April 2001, he has held successively the positions of Business Services Director, Shuttle Services Director,
Divisional Operations Director and Director of Operations. He is chairman of the French companies of Europorte.

Jo Willacy

Jo Willacy, 50, holds an MA in Modern History and Economics from the University of Oxford. She was Commercial Director of
Hummingbird Helicopters from 1992 to 1994 and Managing Partner of Quadrant Consultants Ltd. from 1994 to 2003. She joined
Eurotunnel in April 2003 as Senior Marketing Manager and was appointed Director of the Commercial Passenger Division in
November 2004 and Commercial Director in 2007.

John Smith

John Smith is 52 and graduated from Loughborough University of Technology with an honours degree in Mechanical Engineering. John
is also a Chartered Mechanical Engineer. John joined the nationalised British Railways in 1977 and has spent 18 years in the nationalised
industry followed by 18 years in the private sector. He set up GB Railfreight in 1999 exploiting the open access arrangements that were
facilitated by the privatisation of the UK railway industry. Since this date he has led the business as Managing Director. John Smith joined
the Executive Committee of the Eurotunnel Group on 9 September 2013.

Philippe de Lagune

Philippe de Lagune is 65. He joined the Eurotunnel Group as Security and Ethics Director on 9 September 2013. Philippe de Lagune,
Prefect, has exercised various senior roles within public service and was previously the French coordinator for security at the London
Olympics in 2012. He is in charge of high-level relations with the French and British public authorities in respect of security. He is the
designated director for ethics as referred to in the Group’s Charter of Ethics and Behaviour.

14.4. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST WITHIN THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS, THE MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS
AND IN GENERAL MANAGEMENT

To GET SA's knowledge, there are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties owed to GET SA by any of the persons referred to
in sections 14.1, 14.2 and 14.3 of this Registration Document, and their private interests or other obligations.

GET SA has measures in place to prevent potential conflicts of interest between the directors and GET SA which are described in
paragraph 16.2.1 of this Registration Document.
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14.5. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN GET SA’S SHARE CAPITAL AS
AT THE DATE OF THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Number of

GET SA

Name Position Ordinary Shares
Jacques Gounon Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 9,743
Philippe Camu Member of the board of directors 1,000
Patricia Hewitt Member of the board of directors 1,000
Peter Levene Member of the board of directors 2,000
Colette Lewiner Member of the board of directors 1,000
Colette Neuville Member of the board of directors 5,182
Perrette Rey Member of the board of directors 1, 000
Robert Rochefort Member of the board of directors 5,800
Jean-Pierre Trotignon Member of the board of directors 1,667
Philippe Vasseur Member of the board of directors 1,000
Tim Yeo Member of the board of directors *1,024

* Tim Yeo also holds 5,981 share CDIs.

As recommended by the Afep/Medef Code, article 16 of the by-laws was amended in 2012 to increase the minimum number of Shares
that directors must hold from 100 to 1,000.

14.6. STATEMENTS REGARDING DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

As at the date of this Registration Document, there are no family connections between any of the members of the board of directors or
the Executive Committee.

In addition, as at the date of this Registration Document, no member of the board of directors or Executive Committee has been:
e convicted of fraud during the past five years;

e implicated in any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation proceedings during the past five years; or

e charged with any offence or any official public sanction by any statutory or regulatory authority during the past five years.

To GET SA's knowledge, no director has been banned by a court to act as a member of a board of directors, a management or
supervisory board of an issuer or from participating in the management or conducting the business of an issuer during the past
five years.

14.7. CONCESSION COORDINATION COMMITTEE

The Concession Coordination Committee performs the functions of the common body specified in Article 18 of the Concession
Agreement. As set forth in the Concession Agreement, the Concession Coordination Committee is responsible for:

e coordinating the operation and maintenance of the Fixed Link; and

e representing the Concessionaires at the IGC with respect to all matters concerning the operation of the Fixed Link.

The members of the Concession Coordination Committee are:
e Jacques Gounon;

e Michel Boudoussier; and

e Emmanuel Moulin.
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15. REMUNERATION
AND BENEFITS

15.1. REMUNERATION POLICY FOR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

15.2. REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS PAID BY GET SA AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES TO EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF
GET SA (INCLUDING ALL CONDITIONAL OR DEFERRED REMUNERATION)

15.2.1 Remuneration of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

15.2.2 Remuneration of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer
15.2.3 Attendance fees

15.8. TOTAL AMOUNT SET ASIDE OR OTHERWISE RECOGNISED BY GET SA AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES TO PAY FOR
PENSIONS, RETIREMENT, AND OTHER BENEFITS

15.4. REMUNERATION ELEMENTS OWED OR ALLOCATED IN THE 2013 FINANCIAL YEAR TO EACH EXECUTIVE
OFFICER OF THE COMPANY, SUBMITTED TO THE SHAREHOLDERS FOR APPROVAL

15.5. OTHER REMUNERATION POLICY CONSIDERATIONS
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15.1. REMUNERATION POLICY FOR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The remuneration policy for the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer is decided by the board of
directors based on the work and recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Following the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the board of directors wanted the remuneration policy
for the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, as well as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers, to be simple,
offer continuity over time and be consistent with the Group’s remuneration policy, including for the management.

The board of directors decided that the remuneration policy should encourage long-term performance in all key areas of the business,
whether they be strategic, workforce-related, social or environmental, and not only financial issues. In line with the European
recommendation of 30 April 2009, the performance criteria for the executive officers’ variable remuneration have been designed to
encourage long-term performance.

Following a proposal of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the board of directors ensures that the remuneration of the
executive officers is consistent with the long-term interests of the company and its shareholders, and that the different components of
the remuneration of the executive officers (fixed and variable remuneration, possible granting of additional retirement benefits and share
options) are commensurate and in keeping with the principles set out in the Afep/Medef Code.

In particular, the board of directors strives to adhere to the following guidelines:

e Completeness: all the elements that make up the remuneration of executive officers and directors are reviewed each year: fixed part,
annual variable part and share options, benefits in kind, attendance fees and retirement conditions;

e Intelligibility of the rules and balance: the rules are simple, stable, transparent and, where possible, enduring; each element of the
remuneration is clearly substantiated and is in keeping with the general interest of the company: the variable part intended to reflect
the actual contribution of the executive officers to the success of the Group changes according to criteria representing the results of
the Group and operational targets set for the year. At the start of each financial year, the board of directors, on the recommendation
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, defines each of the targets set for the executive officers for the year in question and
determines what proportion of the overall variable part each of them may obtain. After the close of the financial year, the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee evaluates the achievement of said targets and, based on that assessment, the board of directors
decides the variable part to be awarded to each executive officer. The variable remuneration awarded for a given financial year is
therefore paid in the following year:

— the part based on the achievement of targets linked to the Group’s intrinsic annual performance is based on financial indicators
determined according to Group objectives;

— the part based on the achievement of operational targets is based on criteria set taking into account the capacity to achieve
certain strategic objectives;

— the share options include internal (EBITA target and payment of dividends) and external performance criteria to ensure their
financial alignment with the long-term interests of the shareholders.

e Measurement: remuneration is determined taking into account the general interests of the company, market practices and the
performance of the directors. Given the general economic context, the company did not offer a new share option plan for the
directors for 2013 and limited the adjustment of the fixed part of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration to inflation
and the collective salary increases in the company in France and the UK since 2008. In addition, for 2013, given that the overall
performance of the company depends on good management of relations with all the stakeholders, a labour relations performance
criterion was included in the calculation of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration.

e Consistency and benchmarking: the remuneration of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer was determined taking into account that of
the previous Deputy Chief Executive Officer and that of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officers, as
well as market practice; to set the remuneration of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in 2008, the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee commissioned a specialised consultancy to undertake a study of the positioning of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration in relation to the salaries paid by other French and British companies for similar positions; this
fixed remuneration remained unchanged from 2008 until 2013, when the remuneration was adjusted to take into account inflation.
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15.2. REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS PAID BY GET SA AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES TO EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF GET SA (INCLUDING
ALL CONDITIONAL OR DEFERRED REMUNERATION])

15.2.1 REMUNERATION OF THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The remuneration of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Jacques Gounon, as determined by the board of directors on the
recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, is composed of:

e fixed remuneration;

e annual variable remuneration subject to performance criteria;

e attendance fees;

® a benefit in kind;

e a supplementary defined contribution retirement plan;

e |ong-term variable remuneration in the form of company share options, granted subject to performance criteria.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is not entitled to any severance or non-competition payments. He is not eligible to benefit from
the collective schemes for the allocation of free shares in place within the Group.

The arrangements for Jacques Gounon’s remuneration, as described above, relating to his position within the Eurotunnel Group
companies, will remain in place until a subsequent decision is taken by the board of directors of GET SA, on the recommendation of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Annual fixed remuneration:

The fixed part of the gross annual remuneration of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer was increased from €450,000 to
€500,000 as of 1 April 2013. Because this fixed part had not changed since 2008, while company salaries have collectively increased, in
line with inflation, on 20 March 2013 the board of directors decided to increase the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s fixed
remuneration to reflect the impact of inflation in France and in the United Kingdom since 2008.

Annual variable remuneration for 2013:
The annual variable remuneration is capped at 100% of the fixed part, i.e. €5600,000, and is subject to meeting performance criteria.

For 2013, the board of directors had approved the proposal made by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee to keep the two
financial criteria applied each year since 2010, with each representing 25%:

e net profit for the last year relative to the net profit stated in the budget (after adjustment for exceptional items): 25%

e operating cash flow relative to the cash flow stated in the budget (after adjustment for exceptional items): 25%

The board of directors also defined the following four operational criteria:
e maintain Truck Shuttle revenue: 12.5%;

e FEuroporte: operational reorientation in line with the budget: 12.5%;

e innovation capacity: innovation and project creation strategy: 12.5%;
e (CSR: quality of social dialogue to enhance performance: 12.5%.

The financial data are adjusted for exceptional exogenous factors (such as the extraordinary income of €83 million recognised in 2013
for deferred tax assets and foreign exchange gains and losses) in order to neutralise their impact and keep genuinely comparable data.

On 12 February 2014, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee examined these criteria.

The Committee examined the quantitative criteria (financial and operational) and quantified the degree to which they had been met. The
Committee found that the net result and operational cash flow targets had been met, the target of maintaining the Truck Shuttle revenue
had not been fully met, and the target of operational reorientation of the Europorte activity in line with the budget had been exceeded.

The Committee also undertook a qualitative evaluation of the criterion of quality of social dialogue to enhance performance, as well as
the innovation capacity criterion; this evaluation was nonetheless governed and guided by quantified indicators. The Committee found
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that the quality of social dialogue objective had been achieved and considered that the criterion relating to innovation and project
creation strategy had not been fully achieved.

Criteria Target Performance
Net result: in line with the budget 25% 25%
Operational cash flow: in line with the budget 25% 25%
Truck Shuttle services: maintain revenue 12.5% 11.25%
Europorte: operational reorientation in line with the budget 12.5% 15%
Innovation and project creation strategy 12.5% 9.375%
Quality of social dialogue 12.5% 12.5%

At its meeting on 14 February 2014, the board of directors considered the performance of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer by
reference to the performance indicators set out above and, following the recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, fixed the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s variable remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2013 at €490,625,
or 98% of the target gross annual fixed remuneration, compared with 100% (€450,000) in 2012.

Annual variable remuneration for 2014

For 2014, the board of directors decided to maintain two financial criteria, including the net result criterion, which has been applied since
2010. Until this year, the second financial criterion had been operational cash flow; for 2014, this has been replaced by the published
target EBITDA. Given the proximity of operational cash flow for the Group, the choice of published EBITDA as a target for the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration makes the objective more intelligible in the interests of consistent and transparent disclosure.
As in previous years, the board of directors decided to retain a proportion of 50% based on operational criteria, in order to have
performance criteria that cover all key company issues.

Financial objectives:

e Consolidated net profit for the year compared with the net profit estimated in the budget: (25%);

e EBITDA target: €460 million in 2014 at the exchange rate of £1=€1.199 (25%); the target that would enable the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer to receive 100% of the entitlement for this criterion would be a 2014 EBITDA of €460 million.

Operational objectives:

e Consolidation of the Group’s long-term growth prospects: 30%;

e Innovation: technological innovation capacity: 10%;
Achievement of this objective will be evaluated on the basis of different factors, such as the renewal in 2014 of the club car wagons
(television, etc.), the use of new technologies to optimise operational and business processes, and the implementation of GSM-P in
the North Tunnel in 2014 (public telephony);

e Improving the company’s performance in terms of social and environmental responsibility: 10%;
Achievement of this objective will be evaluated based on various material evidence, subject to three indicators, including staff
turnover, which should not exceed 5 in 2014, and professional development, calculated based on the ratio below:

Number of hours of training given

Average headcount X 30
The annual variable remuneration ceiling remains equal to 100% of the basic salary, which is currently €500,000.

The financial data is adjusted for exceptional exogenous factors (such as the extraordinary income of €83 million recognised in 2013 for
deferred tax assets and foreign exchange gains and losses) in order to neutralise their impact and keep genuinely comparable data.
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With regard to qualitative criteria, the variable remuneration of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is adjusted as follows,
depending on the degree of attainment of the budgetary target concerned:

e 50% of the maximum if 80% of the target is attained;

e 60% of the maximum if 85% of the target is attained;

e 80% of the maximum if 90% of the target is attained;

* 90% of the maximum if 95% of the target is attained;

e 100% of the maximum if 100% of the target is attained;

e 110% of the maximum (exceptional bonus) if 110% of the target is attained;

e 120% of the maximum (exceptional bonus) if 120% of the target is attained.

The budgetary targets for 2014 were determined according to the Group’s budget, as considered by the board of directors. The
performance levels required to attain these targets were established precisely, and may not be disclosed for confidentiality reasons.

Benefits in kind/Attendance fees
For 2013, Jacques Gounon received an allowance of £540 per month for the use of his personal vehicle, i.e. €8,888 over the year (2012:
£6,480 or €7,970 based on the exchange rate applied to the 2012 income statement).

Jacques Gounon receives attendance fees for his role as a director of GET SA (see the table in paragraph 15.2.3 below).

Supplementary defined contribution pension plan/Death/disability insurance

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer does not have a defined benefit pension plan. In the same way as other senior managers
employed in France by Eurotunnel Group, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer benefits, with respect to the French part of his
remuneration, from the same supplementary pension plan afforded to any other senior manager employed by ESGIE beyond the B
remuneration bracket. This plan, whose beneficiaries include people other than the Group’s executives and corporate officers, is not a
defined benefit plan. It is a defined contribution plan, which would currently grant the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer an estimated
pension of €2,748.10 per year (non-commutable annuity), assuming he retires at the age of 65.

With respect to the French and British parts of his remuneration, he benefits from basic retirement benefits and supplementary
retirement benefits. In 2013, employee contributions to this supplementary pension scheme totalled €18,230 (2012: €17,905) and
employer contributions totalled €29,538 (2012: €29,012). In 2013, employee contributions to the supplementary pension scheme
totalled €1,481 (2012: €1,455), out of a total of €12,606 for all employees concerned (2012: €12,395), while employer contributions
totalled €5,925 (2012: €5,820), out of a total of €50,424 (2012: €49,580) for all employees concerned.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is covered by the staff private death/disability insurance and the personal accident policy
available to employees of GET SA.

Long-term variable benefits

Pursuant to the authorisation granted by resolution 25 of the combined general meeting of 26 May 2010, on the recommendation of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the board of directors approved the terms of a share option scheme and proceeded to grant
options on 16 July 2010, 21 July 2011 and 20 July 2012.

For each of these grants, the board of directors ensured that the options granted to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer did not
exceed 10% of all options granted.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer was excluded from the list of employees eligible to benefit from the 2011 and 2012 collective
bonus share award schemes, authorised by the general meeting of 28 April 2011.

In addition to legal requirements, the board of directors resolved, as for the other plans, that the exercise price could not be less than:

e the average share price of the Company’s shares on NYSE EURONEXT during the 20 last trading days preceding the date on which
the options to purchase shares are granted;

e the average of the last three months preceding the date on which the share options are granted;

e the average of the buyback price for the shares where they are held by the Company as of the grant date, in accordance with
articles L. 225-208 and L. 225-209 of the French Commercial Code.
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2010 share option scheme
On 16 July 2010, under the said scheme, the board of directors granted Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
116,000 conditional options.

The exercise price is set at €6.42.

In its meetings on 21 July 2011 and 20 July 2012, the board of directors noted that the performance criteria for options granted on
16 July 2010 had been met. Consequently, under article 4.1 of the scheme rules, only continuing employment on the fourth anniversary
of the grant remains to be determined.

The internal and external performance criteria were as follows:

e 50% of the options granted are subject to the following performance criterion being met: (i) the general meeting of shareholders of
GET SA deciding the distribution of a dividend, and (i) the EBITDA in the consolidated annual financial statements, for the relevant
financial year, being at least equal to that in the scheme rules.

— with respect to 25% of the options, this condition being measured against the 2010 financial statements submitted for approval
by shareholders at the 2011 general meeting,

— with respect to 25% of the options, this condition being measured against the 2011 financial statements submitted for approval
by shareholders at the 2012 general meeting.

e 50% of the options granted are subject to the following performance criterion being met: GET SA share price performance against
the SBF120® share index, such performance being at least equal to the performance of the said index, to be measured over a period
starting with the opening share price on the grant date (16 July 2010) and ending 12 months later:

— withrespect to 25% of the options, this condition being measured on the basis of actual share price for the period 16 July 2010 to
15 July 2011,

— withrespect to 25% of the options, this condition being measured on the basis of actual share price for the period 16 July 2011 to
15 July 2012.

2011 share option scheme
Pursuant to the said scheme, on 21 July 2011, the board of directors granted Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
130,000 conditional options.

The exercise price is set at €7.52.

The board of directors decided on the internal and external performance criteria, which reflect those of the 2010 share option scheme,

and are as follows:

e 50% of the options granted are subject to the following performance criterion being met: (i) the general meeting of shareholders of
GET SA deciding the distribution of a dividend, and (i) the EBITDA in the consolidated annual financial statements, for the relevant
financial year, being at least equal to that in the scheme rules:

— with respect to 25% of the options, this condition being measured against the 2011 financial statements that were approved by
shareholders at the 2012 general meeting; the board of directors considered on 20 July 2012 that this performance criterion had
been met; and

— with respect to 25% of the options, this condition will be measured against the 2012 financial statements that were submitted for
approval by shareholders at the 2013 general meeting; at its meeting on 24 July 2013, the board of directors considered that this
performance criterion had been met;

e 50% of the options granted are subject to the following performance criterion being met: GET SA share price performance against
the SBF120® share index, such performance being at least equal to the performance of the said index, to be measured over a period
starting with the opening share price on the grant date and ending 12 months later:

— withrespect to 25% of the options, this condition being measured on the basis of actual share price for the period 21 July 2011 to
20 July 2012; the board of directors noted on 20 July 2012 that this performance criterion had not been met; and

— with respect to 25% of the options, for the period from 21 July 2012 to 20 July 2013; at its meeting on 24 July 2013, the board of
directors considered that this performance criterion had not been met.

The board of directors ensured that this grant of options to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer does not exceed 10% of all options
granted.
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2012 share option scheme
Pursuant to the said scheme, on 20 July 2012, the board of directors granted 137,000 conditional options to Jacques Gounon,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

The exercise price is set at €6.33.

The internal and external performance criteria are as follows:

e 50% of the options granted are subject to the following performance criterion being met: (i) the general meeting of shareholders of
GET SA deciding the distribution of a dividend, and (ii) the EBITDA in the consolidated annual financial statements, for the relevant
financial year, being at least equal to that in the scheme rules.

The board of directors will assess whether this performance condition has been met as follows:

— with respect to 25% of the options, this condition being measured against the 2012 financial statements that will be submitted for
approval by shareholders at the 2013 general meeting; at its meeting on 24 July 2013, the board of directors considered that this
performance criterion had been met;

— with respect to 25% of the options, this condition will be measured against the 2013 financial statements that will be submitted
for approval by shareholders at the 2014 general meeting.

e 50% of the options granted are subject to the following performance criterion being met: GET SA share price performance against
the SBF120® share index, such performance being at least equal to the performance of the said index or any index which may
replace it. The value of the SBF share index and the GET SA share price are to be measured over a period of 12 consecutive months,
based on the opening share price on the grant date:

— for 25% of the options, between 20 July 2012 and 19 July 2013; at its meeting on 24 July 2013, the board of directors
considered that this performance criterion had not been met;

— for 25% of the options, based on the share price between 20 July 2013 and 19 July 2014 (pending).

The board of directors has ensured that the grant of options to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer does not exceed 10% of the
total grant. Hedging of the options is prohibited.

Share option plans: potential percentage of the capital* represented by allocation to J. Gounon

Percentage of

Potential the capital*
percentage of Internal performance conditions External performance condition represented by
the capital* the J. Gounon
p! EBITDA target and Share price performance . !
Share represented by dividend 12 th options that
option allocation to ividends over months could be
plans J. Gounon 50% 50% exercised
2010 plan 0.0232% 2010 financial 2011 financial 16 July 2010- 16 July 2011- 0.0232%
statements statements 15 July 2011 15 July 2012
25% 25% 25% 25%
Conditions Conditions Condition Condition
met met met met
2011 plan 0.026% 2011 financial 2012 financial 21 July 2011- 21 July 2012- 0.013%
statements statements 20 July 2012 20 July 2013
25% 25% 25% 25%
Conditions Conditions Condition Condition
met met not met not met
2012 plan 0.0274% 2012 financial 2013 financial 20 July 2012- 20 July 2013- pending
statements statements 19 July 2013 19 July 2014
25% 25% 25% 25%
Conditions - pending — Condition —pending —
met not met

*  Basis: capital at 12 March 2014.

Policy for retention of securities

In accordance with article L. 225-185 of the French Commercial Code, the board of directors resolved that Jacques Gounon, as
executive director, shall keep for the entire term of his appointment, 50% of the shares allotted upon exercise of the options granted
under various schemes. Mr Gounon does not hedge the share options granted to him by GET SA.
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Summary of remuneration, options and shares: Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

GROSS AMOUNTS IN EUROS

Remuneration due for the year 1,042,513 900,000
Value of multi-annual variable remuneration N/A N/A
Value of options granted during the year N/A 291,810
Value of performance shares granted during the year N/A N/A
Total 1,042,513 1,191,810
Remuneration summary: Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
2013 2012

GROSS AMOUNTS IN EUROS duel® paid® due® paid®
Fixed remuneration 487,500 488,5830) 450,000 450,0849
Variable annual remuneration 490,625 453,297010) 450,000 455,1279)
Multi-annual variable remuneration N/A N/A N/A N/A
Exceptional remuneration N/A N/A N/A N/A
Attendance fees 55,500 38,8501 57,000 39,9004
Benefits in kind 8,888 8,888 7,970 7,970
Total 1,042,513 989,618 964,970 953,081

™ Sums due for the period.

@ Sums paid during the period. The annual variable remuneration granted for a financial year is paid in the course of the following financial year. Thus, the
variable remuneration paid in 2013 corresponds to variable remuneration owed for the 2012 financial year.

© Sums paid in whole or in part in sterling, the euro value of which, restated above at the exchange rate used for the income statement, reflects
movements in exchange rates during the year. Sums actually paid, based on the exchange rate effective at the time, were equivalent to the sums due.

@ 30% tax having been deducted at source.

© Variable remuneration for 2012.

Share options granted during the year to Jacques Gounon by the issuer and by any Group company

Plan date and number 2013 20 July 2012 21 July 2011 16 July 2010
Type of option (existing or newly issued shares) N/A existing existing existing
Value of options based on the method used for the N/A €2.13 €2.69 €2.02
consolidated financial statements
Number of options granted during the year N/A 137,000 130,000 116,000
Exercise price N/A €6.33 €7.52 €6.42
Exercise period N/A July 2016 — July 2015 - July 2014 -
July 2022 July 2021 July 2020
Share options exercised by Jacques Gounon during the year
Plan date and number N/A
Value of options based on the method used for the consolidated financial statements N/A
Number of options granted during the year N/A
Exercise price N/A
Exercise period N/A
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Performance shares granted during the year to Jacques Gounon by the issuer and by any Group company

Plan date and number N/A
Number of shares granted during the year N/A
Value of shares based on the method used for the consolidated financial statements N/A
Vesting date N/A
End of lock-in period N/A

Performance shares reaching the end of the lock-in period for Jacques Gounon during the year

Plan date and number N/A
Number of shares reaching the end of the lock-in period during the year N/A
Vesting terms N/A
Year of grant N/A

Executive directors

Payments or other
benefits due or
liable to be due as

a result of
Employment termination of Compensation in
contract with Supplementary duties or change respect of a non-
GET SA pension scheme of role compete clause
Yes No® Yes No Yes No® Yes No
J. Gounon, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, 2007 to 2012 X X X X

*  Other than the minima provided by English law. ESL employment contract by effect of English law (see section 16.7 below).

15.2.2 REMUNERATION OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Emmanuel Moulin was appointed Deputy Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2014, when his previous employment contract
was terminated.

The remuneration of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, as determined by the board of directors on the recommendation of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, is composed of:

e fixed remuneration;

e annual variable remuneration subject to performance criteria;

e a benefit in kind;

e a supplementary defined contribution retirement plan;

® |ong-term variable remuneration in the form of options.

Annual fixed remuneration
The fixed remuneration of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, from the time he took up the position on 1 January 2014, has been set at a
gross annual sum of €300,000 for the 2014 financial year.

Annual variable remuneration for 2014

The variable remuneration of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, which is intended to reflect his actual contribution to the success of the
Group, will be determined based on a target of 60% of his fixed remuneration. It will vary according to criteria representing the results of
the Group, as well as personal targets. The annual variable remuneration is capped at 60% of the fixed remuneration, i.e. €180,000. It is
linked to fulfiment of the performance criteria.
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Financial objectives: 70%

Criteria linked to the performance of the Group (for a maximum of 70% of the variable part) include EBITDA (from O to 35%), as well as

Free Cash Flow (from 0 to 35%).

e EBITDA target: €460 million in 2014 at the exchange rate of £1=€1.199 (35%); the target that would enable the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer to receive 100% of the entitlement for this criterion would be a 2014 EBITDA of €460 million;

e Free Cash Flow target equal to the amount specified in the budget.

Operational objectives: 30%
The criteria set, taking into account the capacity to achieve specific strategic objectives (for a maximum of 30% of the variable
remuneration), include the net profit of the Europorte segment (from O to 15%) and the debt burden (from 0 to 15%).

The financial data are adjusted for exceptional exogenous factors (such as the extraordinary income of €83 million recognised in 2013
for deferred tax assets and foreign exchange gains and losses) in order to neutralise their impact and keep genuinely comparable data.

For this budgetary criterion, the variable remuneration of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer is adjusted as follows, depending on the
degree of attainment of the budgetary target concerned:

e 50% of the maximum if 80% of the target is attained;

e 60% of the maximum if 85% of the target is attained;

e 80% of the maximum if 90% of the target is attained;

e 90% of the maximum if 95% of the target is attained;

e 100% of the maximum if 100% of the target is attained;

e 110% of the maximum (exceptional bonus) if 110% of the target is attained;

e 120% of the maximum (exceptional bonus) if 120% of the target is attained.

The budgetary targets for 2014 were determined based on the Group’s budget, as assessed by the board of directors. The performance
levels required to attain these targets were established precisely, and may not be disclosed for confidentiality reasons.

Benefits in kind
The Deputy Chief Executive Officer has a company car, which represents a benefit in kind worth €285 per month.

Supplementary defined contribution pension plan/death/disability insurance

The Deputy Chief Executive Officer does not have a defined benefit pension plan. In the same way as other senior managers employed
in France by Eurotunnel Group, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer benefits from the same supplementary pension plan offered to all
senior managers beyond the B remuneration bracket. This plan, whose beneficiaries include people other than the Group’s executive
officers and directors, is not a defined benefit plan. It is a defined contribution plan which would currently grant the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer an estimated pension of €618.17 per year (hon-commutable annuity), assuming he retires at the age of 65.

The Deputy Chief Executive Officer is covered by the staff private death/disability insurance and the personal accident policy available to
employees of GET SA.

Long-term variable benefits

Pursuant to the authorisation granted by resolution 25 of the combined general meeting of 26 May 2010, and on the recommendation of
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the board of directors has in the past granted share options, notably in 2012. Emmanuel
Moulin, who was then an employee, received 35,000 options.

15.2.3 ATTENDANCE FEES

The directors of GET SA receive attendance fees.

The maximum total amount of attendance fees was set by the combined general meeting of 20 June 2007. The rules governing the
distribution of attendance fees were decided by the board of directors. In principle, they consist of a fixed part and a variable part, in
proportion to the director’s attendance at board meetings and committee meetings. The committee chairmen receive an additional fixed
fee. Fixed and variable fees are paid monthly. The amount and breakdown of attendance fees were reviewed by the board of directors
following the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Consequently, in accordance with article 21 of the
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Afep/Medef Code, this remuneration, which already took into account the actual attendance of directors at board and committee
meetings, will henceforth predominantly be variable.

GET SA directors’ attendance fees* in 2013 totalled €540,750 (2012: €529,125) as detailed in the table below:

€ 2012*

Jacques Gounon 55,500 57,000
Philippe Camu 40,500 40,500
Patricia Hewitt 42,750 40,500
Peter Levene 39,000 31,000
Colette Lewiner 42,000 40,500
Colette Neuville 61,500 57,750
Perrette Rey 31,500

Robert Rochefort 61,500 58,500
Jean-Pierre Trotignon 58,500 56,875
Philippe Vasseur 42,750 41,250
Tim Yeo 53,250 52,500
Other directors no longer in office as of the date of this Registration Document 12,000 52,750
Total 540,750 529,125

Amounts before withholding tax or deductions at source.

In addition, members of the board of directors of GET SA benefit, along with all other persons who act as officers of any Eurotunnel
Group company, from directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

15.3. TOTAL AMOUNT SET ASIDE OR OTHERWISE RECOGNISED
BY GET SA AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES TO PAY FOR PENSIONS,
RETIREMENT, AND OTHER BENEFITS

Jacques Gounon does not benefit from any specific retirement indemnity, nor does Emmanuel Moulin.

15.4. REMUNERATION ELEMENTS OWED OR ALLOCATED IN THE
2013 FINANCIAL YEAR TO EACH EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE
COMPANY, SUBMITTED TO THE SHAREHOLDERS FOR APPROVAL

As recommended by the Afep/Medef Code, revised in June 2013 (article 24.3) and adopted by the company, pursuant to article L
225-37 of the French Commercial Code, the following remuneration elements due or allocated to each executive officer of the company
must be submitted to the shareholders for approval:

the fixed part:

the annual variable part and, where applicable, the multi-annual variable part with the targets on which it is based;

any exceptional remuneration;

share options, performance shares or other long-term remuneration elements;

compensation linked to taking up or leaving a position;

the supplementary retirement plan;

benefits of any type.

At the general meeting on 29 April 2014, a proposal will be tabled for an opinion to be issued on the remuneration elements due or
allocated in the 2013 financial year to each executive officer of the company, namely Jacques Gounon, the Chairman and Chief
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Executive Officer (see resolution 12). As Emmanuel Moulin was not appointed Deputy Chief Executive Officer until 1 January 2014, his
remuneration as an ordinary employee of the Group in 2013 will not be voted upon by the general meeting.

Remuneration elements due or allocated in the 2013 financial year to Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Amount
Remuneration element (euros) Comments
Fixed remuneration 487,500 e Gross annual fixed remuneration of €500,000 approved by the board of directors
on 20 March 2013, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, with effect from 1 April 2014.
Annual variable 490,625 e 98% of the gross annual fixed remuneration:
remuneration e On the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, at the
meeting of 14 February 2014, the board of directors evaluated Jacques
Gounon’s variable remuneration for the 2013 financial year.
e Taking into account the quantitative and qualitative criteria determined by the
board of directors at its meeting of 14 February 2014 and the achievements
recorded on the same date, the variable part was valued at €490,625, i.e. 98%
of the gross annual fixed remuneration.
Multi-annual variable N/A Jacques Gounon does not receive any multi-annual variable remuneration.
remuneration
Deferred variable N/A Jacques Gounon does not receive any deferred variable remuneration.
remuneration
Attendance fees 55,500 (Amounts before withholding tax or deductions at source).
Exceptional remuneration N/A Jacques Gounon did not receive any exceptional remuneration.
Allocation of stock N/A No award in 2013.
options and/or
performance shares
Benefits in kind 8,888 Jacques Gounon receives an allowance of £540 per month for the use of his
personal vehicle.
Compensation linked to N/A Jacques Gounon receives no such compensation.
taking up or leaving a
position
Non-competition N/A Jacques Gounon does not have a non-competition agreement.
payment
Supplementary pension No In the same way as other senior managers employed in France by Eurotunnel
plan amounts Group, Jacques Gounon benefits, with respect to the French part of his
are owed remuneration, from the same supplementary pension plan offered to all senior
for the managers beyond the B remuneration bracket. This plan, whose beneficiaries
year include people other than the Group’s executive officers and directors, is not a

Death, disability and
health insurance

defined benefit plan. It is a defined contribution plan, as defined by article 83 of the
French General Tax Code and article L 242-1 of the French Social Security Code.

Jacques Gounon is a member of the company’s death, disability and health
insurance scheme.

schemes The general meeting has an obligation to vote pursuant to the French Law on
Economic Confidence and Modernisation of 26 July 2005. The decision to admit
Jacques Gounon to this scheme was taken after publication of said law; as this
decision is not subject to the regulated agreements procedure, it is not necessary
for this agreement to be ratified by the general meeting based on a special auditors’
report (L 225-42).

Value of the options
Type of option Number of options
Plan date (existing or newly granted during the Exercise
Name and number issued shares) year Exercise price  period
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Plan date

List of names

and number

Number of options exercised during the year

N/A N/A

N/A
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No service provision agreement has been entered into with the executive officers.

15.5. OTHER REMUNERATION POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Remuneration of the members of the Executive Committee
Each year, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are informed of changes in the remuneration of the Chief
Operating Officers and, where applicable, that of the other members of the Executive Committee.

Through this review of remuneration elements, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee ensure consistency
between the policy applied to executive officers and directors and the policy applied to the senior managers of the Group. The members
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee also examine the alignment of the managers’ remuneration principles.

The remuneration of the Chief Operating Officers, which is decided by the general management, is made up of fixed annual
remuneration supplemented by an incentivising variable part, the criteria for which are largely based on the Group’s economic
performance, as with the variable remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer. The variable financial
part is accompanied by qualitative criteria to assess individual performance.

The members of the Executive Committee also receive remuneration made up of a fixed part, the amount of which is proportional to
each one’s responsibilities, supplemented by a variable part whose quantitative criteria depend on the Group’s results in order to
improve the sense of solidarity.
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The introduction below, sections 16.1, 16.2, 16.3, 16.4, 16.5, 16.6, 16.9, 16.10, and 16.11, the elements likely to have an impact in the
event of a public offer listed under item 25 of the cross-reference table in appendix V of this Registration Document, together constitute
the report of the Chairman of the board of directors of GET SA pursuant to article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code. The
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer instructed the company secretary to compile the content of this report, which was prepared by
including contributions from several departments, including the finance department, the financial control department, the internal audit
department, and the legal department. This report was sent to the statutory auditors and submitted to the general management, which
considers it to be consistent with the systems in place within the Group. On the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the board of
directors approved it on 12 March 2014.

The policy and rules agreed upon by the board of directors to determine the remuneration and all benefits granted to the executive
officers are set out in chapter 15 of this Registration Document.

On 12 March 2014, in accordance with article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, the Chairman of the board of directors drew

up a report covering the following matters:

e the composition of the board of directors and the terms for the preparation and organisation of its work;

e the principles and rules established by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the board of directors to determine the
remuneration and benefits of any kind granted to corporate officers;

e the internal control and risk management procedures implemented by GET SA;

e the limitations, if any, to the powers of the Chief Executive Officer;

e the corporate governance code to which GET SA refers; and

e the specific arrangements relating to the participation of shareholders in general meetings.

The corporate governance code to which GET SA refers is the code for listed companies established by the Association Frangaise des
Entreprises Privées (AFEP) and the Mouvement des Entreprises de France (MEDEF) (the Afep/Medef Code).

Eurotunnel Group adapts its corporate governance to the specific needs of the business in a bid to ensure continual progress. In its
governance structure, GET SA has adopted the combined system which consists of the appointment of one person to serve as both
chairman and chief executive officer. The continued combination of the roles of chairman and of chief executive officer is justified to
ensure a more efficient and reactive management, linked to the specific history of the business and in difficult regulatory, competitive and
market environment. This continued combination of roles is in accordance with the good governance rules to which GET SA has
always adhered.

Indeed, the binational nature of the business was reflected early on by the implementation of exacting governance standards within the

Group which enable the preservation of the interests of all shareholders as well as a balance of power within the governance structures:

e the size of the board of directors (11 members) allows for real debate to take place and for clear and rapid decision-making,
particularly as board members are committed to their role, are independently minded and bring to the business a wide range of skills.
As part of the board self-evaluation in 2013, board members expressed their satisfaction with the manner in which discussions take
place and how these are managed by the chairman of the board, their freedom of expression and the time allowed for discussion;

e the board of directors is very active, with 12 meetings in 2013;

e the majority of board members are independent (72%) subject to the approval by shareholders of the reappointment of board
members on 29 April 2014;

e five board committees have been set up and each is very active: in 2013 more than 20 committee meetings took place, making a
total of 32 meetings including full board meetings;

e some of the committees, including the Audit Committee and the nomination and remuneration committee, are exclusively
composed of independent board members;

e 50 as to promote best ethical and governance practices within the Group, the board of directors set up an ethics and governance
committee in 2013, the terms of reference for which can be found at paragraph 16.2.3 of this Registration Document;

e the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is supported by a deputy chief executive officer and two chief operating officers; the board
of directors appointed E. Moulin as deputy chief executive officer on 1 January 2014;

e the board of director appointed C. Neuville as a senior independent director who is responsible for monitoring and managing any
potential conflict of interest situations that may arise for the executive management and other board members, for suggesting to the
chairman of the board additional agenda items for meetings of the board of directors, as required, for ensuring that good governance
takes place within the board of directors and committees, and for managing each year the evaluation of the board of directors on the
basis of an anonymous detailed questionnaire on the roles and competence of the board, its functioning as a whole and the areas
dealt with by the board and its committees.
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Board members and the executive management have built a strong tradition of transparency and dialogue. The governance structure
and the matter of the dissociation of roles are the subject of a specific item in the board self-evaluation questionnaire. For 2013, the
current combined role (chairman and chief executive officer in one person) was also strongly supported.

The 2013 results illustrate the soundness of the strategies adopted and the quality of the teams implementing them. The board of
directors strives to ensure the success of the Group and its good governance and so intends to renew the appointment of Jacques
Gounon as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in view of his achievements and performance in his leadership of the Group since
2007. Indeed, since his appointment as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of GET SA on 9 March 2007, Jacques Gounon has led the
financial restructuring — which saw the financial debt reduced from €9 billion to €4 billion — and the recovery of the Group, which enabled
Eurotunnel Group to make a profit and pay its first dividend to shareholders in 2009. Jacques Gounon continued on with the
restructuring of the Group, with the acquisition of a specialised rail freight company and associated logistics services in November 2009,
leading to the constitution of the Europorte segment. Europorte now constitutes a source of growth for the Group with GB Railfreight,
third rail freight operator in the United Kingdom, which was acquired in 2010. In 2012, Jacques Gounon helped secure the acquisition of
three ships from the ex-SeaFrance company. Eurotunnel Group now manages the rail network in most of the main French ports. Group
consolidated revenue totalled €1,092 million in 2013, an increase of 12% on 2012 and 54% on 2007.

16.1. GENERAL MANAGEMENT

16.1.1 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The general management of GET SA is carried out by the Chairman of the board of directors without change in the governance
structure, with an organisation including a board of directors in which the roles of chairman and chief executive officer are combined.

As indicated in the introduction above, the rationale for continuing to combine these roles is principally to ensure a more effective and
responsive form of management, related to the particular history of the company and in a context of a challenging economic situation
and an uncertain regulatory, competitive and market environment.

The board of directors sets the term of office of the Chief Executive Officer, which may not exceed his term of office as Chairman.

The Chief Executive Officer is vested with the broadest powers to act in all circumstances in the name of GET SA. The Chief Executive
Officer exercises his powers within the scope of the corporate purpose and subject to the powers expressly conferred by law on
shareholders and on the board of directors, as well as the limitations imposed by the internal rules described in section 16.5 of this
Registration Document.

The Chief Executive Officer represents GET SA in its relations with third parties. GET SA is bound by decisions of the Chief Executive
Officer that do not fall within its corporate purpose, unless it can prove that the third party knew or should have known in the
circumstances, that the decision exceeded such purpose. However, the publication of the company’s by-laws does not alone constitute
such proof. Provisions of the by-laws and decisions of the board of directors limiting the powers of the Chief Executive Officer are not
binding on third parties.

The Deputy Chief Executive Officer is tasked with supporting the Chief Executive Officer. With regards to third parties, the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer represents the company in the same manner as the Chief Executive Officer; pursuant to article L. 225-56.11-2 of the
French Commercial Code, he has the same powers as the Chief Executive Officer. The maximum number of deputy chief executive
officers is three.

GET SA appointed Emmanuel Moulin as Deputy Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 January 2014. A new distribution of the

business supervision and support functions within the general management was put in place from that date:

e Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, continues to be responsible for strategy, communications, safety and
ethics, public affairs, internal audit, shareholder and investor relations, investment policy and secretariat to the board;

e the two Chief Operating Officers, Michel Boudoussier — Chief Operating Officer Concession/Fixed Link — and Pascal Sainson — Chief
Operating Officer Europorte — continue to manage their current respective businesses under the supervision of the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer.
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The Deputy Chief Executive Officer oversees the business managed by the two Chief Operating Officers and continues to oversee the
Group finance, legal, business services, treasury and Group human resources departments.

Where the Chief Executive Officer ceases or is prevented from carrying out his duties, in the absence of a decision to the contrary by the
board of directors, the Deputy Chief Executive Officers continue to carry out their duties and fulfil their role until the appointment of a new
Chief Executive Officer.

No person may be appointed as Chief Executive Officer or Deputy Chief Executive Officer if they are aged 65 or over. On reaching the
age of 65, any Chief Executive Officer or Deputy Chief Executive Officer in office is deemed to have resigned.

The board of directors can terminate the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer at any time. The board can also terminate the
appointment of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, on the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer.

16.1.2 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

GET SA has an Executive Committee composed of the persons named in section 14.3 above. The Executive Committee is chaired by
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The committee meets regularly to monitor the Group’s performance and results and, if
necessary, to adjust the Group’s strategy. The Executive Committee coordinates the operation of the Group and ensures the proper
functioning of the Group as a whole.

16.2. CONDITIONS APPLICABLE TO THE PREPARATION AND
ORGANISATION OF THE WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

16.2.1 COMPOSITION AND ORGANISATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

a) Members of the board of directors

At the date of this Registration Document, the board of directors of GET SA has 11 members, of whom eight are independent
(representing 72% of board members in office), subject to the renewal of their appointment by the general meeting on 29 April 2014. On
20 March 2013, the board of directors, following a recommendation by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, having
considered the balance and diversity of its composition, increased the number of women board members to four, being more than 36%
of the board, in accordance with the French law of 27 January 2011 on the balanced representation of women and men on boards.

The proportion of non-French board members is 36%. The average age of board members is 69.

The complementary expertise and experience of the board members is an advantage for the Group. Board members bring to the
company a complementary range of experience and industrial, managerial, financial and scientific skills and a diversity of backgrounds
with a mix of men/women, ages and nationalities.

Board members are appointed, re-appointed or removed by the general meeting of shareholders. The nomination committee assesses
the composition and size of the board, oversees the assessment process for candidates for the position of member of the board,
determines whether such candidates are qualified to become board members, in accordance with the criteria set out by the board and
makes recommendation to the board of directors with regards to candidates.

The composition of the board of directors aims to balance experience, ability and independence whilst respecting the parity and
diversity which reflect the bi-national nature of the business. Good synergy within the board depends on the diversity (in terms of
nationality, ability, etc.), equality and complementarity of its members. The board of directors, as a whole, must also adequately reflect
the communities within which Eurotunnel Group carries on its business (public/private, transport business, rail infrastructure, cross-
Channel market, Franco-British business, a history of crises).

It is expected that board members should have the following essential qualities:
e to be mindful of the interests of the company;
e to be a good judge, in particular of situations, strategies and persons, based amongst other things on their experience;
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e to be able to anticipate so as to identify risks and strategic issues;
e to have integrity, be present, active and involved.

The following qualifications or attributes are taken into account in the selection of board members: management and/or board
experience, comprehensive and multi-disciplinary experience, integrity and professionalism, the personal qualities required to contribute
actively to the discussions of the board of directors.

For the entire duration of their term of office, each board member must own at least 1,000 Shares. If, at the time of their appointment,
board members do not own at least 1,000 Shares or if, during their term of office, they cease to own such number of Shares, they are
deemed to have resigned unless the situation is remedied within a certain time.

If there are one or more vacancies on the board, the board of directors may, between two general meetings, make interim appointments
in accordance with the provisions of article L. 225-24 of the French Commercial Code. The term of office of board members appointed
in place of another is the remainder of the term of office of their predecessor. To ensure the continuity, coherence and quality of the
board’s work, GET SA offers new board members an induction period designed to facilitate their integration: on-site visits to facilitate an
understanding of the company’s business, a briefing on economic/financial data, the Group’s key constitutional documents and the
option to attend external training.

The term of office of board members is four years. The appointment terminates at the end of the ordinary general meeting called to
approve the financial statements of the preceding financial year and held during the year in which their term of office expires. Since the
general meeting of 26 May 2010, the appointment of half of the board of directors is renewed in a staggered manner every two years, so
that, each time, renewal covers part of the members of the board of directors in accordance with article 12 of the Afep/Medef Code.

All outgoing members are eligible for re-election. Notwithstanding the above stipulations, the number of people aged 75 or over serving
on the board of directors as individuals or as permanent representatives of legal entities may not exceed one third (rounded up to the
nearest whole number, if applicable) of the number of board members serving at the end of each general meeting called to approve the
separate financial statements. If this limit is exceeded, the oldest board member is automatically deemed to have resigned.

b) Chairman of the board of directors
The board of directors appoints one of its members as Chairman for a period identical to their term of office as board member, unless the
board of directors sets a shorter term. The Chairman must be an individual.

The Chairman of the board of directors represents the board of directors. He directs and organises the work of the board of directors
and reports on this to the general meeting. He ensures the proper functioning of GET SA and, in particular, that members of the board of
directors are able to discharge their duties.

The age limit for the position of Chairman of the board of directors is 70. The term of office of the Chairman expires on the date of the
ordinary general meeting called to approve the financial statements of the financial year during which the serving Chairman reaches the
age limit. However, the board of directors may extend or renew the term of office of the Chairman for additional one-year periods, up to
five times.

Should the Chairman be temporarily unable to carry out his duties or in the event of his death, the board of directors may appoint a board
member to serve in his place. Where the impediment is temporary, the appointment is for a limited period, which may be renewed. In the
event of the incumbent’s death, the appointment is effective until a new Chairman is appointed. The Nomination and Remuneration
Committee decided to consider and monitor the preparation of a succession plan to replace executive officers in the event of a
sudden vacancy.

c) Meetings of the board of directors

The board of directors meets as frequently as the interests of the company require and at least three times each year. Meetings are called
by the Chairman or by the board member designated to act in the Chairman’s place and are held at the registered office or at any other
place specified by the person who calls the meeting. However, if the board of directors has not met for more than two months, board
members representing at least one third of the members of the board of directors and, if applicable, the Chief Executive Officer, may
request that the Chairman call a meeting on a specific agenda.

Meetings of the board of directors are conducted in French with an unofficial translation in English. Documents provided to members for
meetings of the board, as well as minutes of the meeting, are prepared in French with an unofficial translation in English.
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d) Quorum

The presence of at least one half of the serving members is required for a meeting of the board of directors to proceed to business. The
internal rules of the board of directors provide that members are deemed to be present within the scope of article L. 225-37 of the
French Commercial Code, for the purpose of calculating the quorum and majority, when they participate by videoconferencing or other
means of telecommunication that enable them to be identified and to participate in the meeting in accordance with governing laws and
regulations. This provision does not apply for the approval of decisions referred to in articles L. 232-1 and L. 233-16 of the French
Commercial Code.

e) Majority rules
Decisions are taken by a majority of members present or represented, with the Chairman casting the deciding vote in the event of a
tied vote.

f) Powers
The board of directors determines GET SA's business objectives and, as indicated in section 16.5, oversees their implementation.
Subject to the powers expressly granted to shareholders in general meetings and within the limits of the corporate purpose, the board of
directors may consider any matter affecting the proper functioning of GET SA and takes decisions in this respect in the interest of all
shareholders.

In its relations with third parties, GET SA is bound by decisions of the board of directors that do not fall within its corporate purpose,
unless it can prove that the third party knew or should have known in the circumstances that the decision exceeded the corporate
purpose. However, the publication of the by-laws does not alone constitute such proof.

The board of directors may carry out such controls and checks as it deems appropriate. Each board member receives all information
and documents needed to perform their duties in accordance with the conditions set out in the internal rules of the board of directors,
particularly as regards confidentiality.

The board of directors may decide to establish committees for the purpose of considering issues that the board or its Chairman may
submit for their review. The board of directors determines the composition and terms of reference of the said committees, which
conduct their business under the responsibility of the board of directors. The board of directors also determines the remuneration of the
committee members, if any.

The board of directors decides or authorises the issue of debt securities pursuant to article L. 228-40 of the French Commercial Code,
unless the general meeting resolves to exercise this power.

g) Board members’ rights, information and ethics (charter of ethics, internal rules, code of conduct)

The board of directors is committed to promoting best governance and ethical practices within the Group. The ethics and corporate
governance committee of the board ensures that the ethical culture and principles applicable to its management and its entire staff, are
communicated within the business.

The Group has put in place a Group Ethics Charter which applies the ethics policy already in place within the Concession to all entities
which have joined the Group. The board secretariat monitors legislation and industry regulations, as well as best practice with regards to
corporate governance, and ensures they considered in order to be implemented in the internal rules and procedures. In 2013, the Group
also appointed an Ethics and Safety Director, who sits on the Executive Committee.

The director’s charter sets out the rights and obligations of each board member, in particular with regards to conflicts of interests. Each
board member undertakes to abide by this charter and carry out their duties with independence, integrity, loyalty and professionalism.
As indicated below, the senior independent director ensures that the board and its committees abide by governance practices and is
responsible for handling any conflict of interests of executive officers and other board members.

A code of good conduct with regards to securities transactions was put in place by the board of directors several years ago so as to
avoid any insider trading issues. The first part of the code of good conduct sets out the essential ethical principles that apply and the
second part sets out the applicable preventive measures.

The board of directors has adopted a set of internal rules to complement the laws, regulations and by-laws in place, specifying the role
and functional practices of the board of directors and its committees, with particular attention given to the principles of the
Afep/Medef Code.
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The internal rules make specific provision with regards to the composition of the board of directors and the independence criteria
applied to its members, the duties and powers of the board, information provided to members and the internal rules of each of its
committees. The internal rules are regularly reviewed and supplemented or amended as necessary. The last review of the internal rules
was carried out by the board at its meeting of 14 February 2014 so as to take into account the new role of senior independent director
and changes made to the Afep/Medef Code in June 2013.

The main provisions of these internal rules are described below.

Role of the board of directors
As part of its administrative responsibilities, and in compliance with governing laws and the by-laws of GET SA, the board of directors:

appoints or removes the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and decides whether the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s roles
should be combined or separate;

defines strategy and regularly reviews the strategic aims of GET SA and of the group comprising GET SA and the entities
consolidated in its accounts, together with its proposed investments, divestments and internal reorganisations, the Group’s overall
human resources policy, in particular its remuneration and profit-sharing and staff incentive policy; carries out an annual appraisal of
the performance of the general management;

approves any agreement entered into directly or indirectly between a board member of GET SA and GET SA or any of its
subsidiaries;

considers major strategic transactions involving the acquisition or disposal of equity investments and assets, partnership
agreements, joint ventures or cooperation agreements relating to research, development, industrial or commercial matters and more
generally any transaction or undertaking that could have a significant impact on the financial or operating situation of the Eurotunnel
Group; any significant transaction outside the approved business strategy is subject to prior approval by the board; this rule applies
to external acquisitions and disposals, as well as major investments in organic growth or internal restructuring;

is kept informed by its Chairman and its committees of all significant events affecting the business, financial situation and cash flow of
GET SA and Eurotunnel Group;

sets the annual performance objectives of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer;
takes note of the essential characteristics of the internal control and risk management systems adopted and implemented by the
general management. Specifically, the board checks with the general management that the coordination procedure and internal
control and risk management systems are able to guarantee the reliability of the company’s financial disclosures and give a true and
fair view of the results and financial position of the company and the Group;

ensures that strategies and objectives are in place for the known major risks facing the company, and that these major risks are
factored into the company’s management; and

ensures that proper information is provided to shareholders and the public, particularly through the control that it exercises over
information provided by the company; in this capacity, it defines the communication policy of GET SA concerning the rate of
publication of financial information relating to the Eurotunnel Group.

Members of the board of directors

Irrespective of their specific position or ability, each board member must act in the best interest of the company.

Each board member must devote the time and attention necessary to fulfil their duties and participate in meetings of the board of
directors and of the committees of which they are a member.

The board of directors must be composed of members chosen for their skill and experience relevant to the business of Eurotunnel
Group.

Members of the board of directors may attend training sessions on the specific character of the business, its activities or its business
sector, such training being organised by GET SA on its own initiative or at the request of the board of directors.

The overall maximum amount of board members’ fees was set at the combined general meeting of 20 June 2007. The amount and
allocation of attendance fees was reviewed by the board of directors, on the recommendation of the nomination and remuneration
committee, so that, in accordance with article 21 of the Afep/Medef Code, the manner in which this remuneration is allocated —
which already takes into account the actual participation of each board member in meetings of the board of directors and of its
committees — now gives greater emphasis to a variable element.

Each board member is required to notify the AMF and GET SA of any acquisition, disposal, subscription or exchange of securities
issued by GET SA or any transaction in related securities, in accordance with applicable regulations.

The obligations of board members are as described in the Afep/Medef Code. Before accepting the position, board members must
declare that they are aware of the general obligations of board members and of those specific to their role. Board members must be
aware of all relevant provisions of the governing law, the by-laws of GET SA and the internal rules of the board of directors that apply
to them.
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e Each board member has the obligation to disclose to the board of directors any actual or potential conflict of interest between him
and GET SA or Eurotunnel Group and must abstain from voting on matters considered at meetings of the board of directors to which
the conflict of interest relates, unless the conflict of interest arises in connection with an agreement entered into in the ordinary course
of business under normal conditions.

e The number of additional appointments held by members of the board of directors in listed companies outside the Group is limited to
two additional appointments in listed companies outside the Group for executive officers and to four additional appointments in
listed companies outside the Group for other board members. This includes any appointments held in foreign listed companies.
Board members must inform the board of any new appointment. The limit is assessed on each appointment or re-appointment.

e Board members must all contribute towards determining the business strategy of Eurotunnel Group and overseeing the
implementation of such strategy. They must supervise the management of Eurotunnel Group appropriately.

e Allmaterials provided at meetings of the board of directors and all information obtained during or outside such meetings of the board
of directors are strictly confidential without exception, irrespective of whether such materials or information were presented as
confidential. Board members must consider themselves bound to secrecy beyond a mere obligation of discretion.

e |naddition to this obligation of confidentiality, board members undertake not to make public statements in their capacity as members
of the board of directors on any matter pertaining to Eurotunnel Group, whether or not related to meetings of the board of directors,
without the prior consent of the Chairman.

e FEvery board member must comply with all market regulations intended to prevent market abuse that would be harmful to the
interests and image of Eurotunnel Group.

Board proceedings, videoconferencing or teleconferencing
Each year the annual report includes a section on the activities and operation of the board of directors and its committees during the
previous year.

The internal rules of the board of directors indicate that board members may participate in meetings by all means authorised by law and
the by-laws, including by videoconferencing or teleconferencing as long as such videoconferencing or teleconferencing facilities
(i) enable the transmission of at least the voices of the participants and (i) satisfy technical requirements enabling the continuous and
simultaneous transmission of the proceedings.

Board members’ information
The Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer gives each board member the documents and information needed to carry out their duties,
subject to the confidentiality obligations described in the internal rules.

Committees

The board of directors may establish temporary or permanent special committees, each consisting of at least three and no more than
five members appointed by the board of directors, with one committee member designated by the board of directors as the committee
chairman.

The board of directors has established an Audit Committee, a Nomination and Remuneration Committee, a Safety and Security
Committee, a Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee and an Ethics and Corporate Governance Committee, as described in
section 16.2.3 of this Registration Document.

Independent board members
At least half of the board members must be independent within the scope of and in accordance with the criteria of the Afep/Medef Code.

The criteria for board members to be reviewed as independent are the following:

e not to be an employee or executive director of GET SA or an employee or director of its parent or a company that the latter
consolidates, and not having been in such a position for the previous five years;

* not to be an executive director of a company in which GET SA holds, either directly or indirectly, a directorship or in which an
employee appointed as such or an executive director of GET SA (currently in office or having held such office for less than five years)
is a director;

e not to be a customer, supplier, investment banker or commercial banker:

— that is material to GET SA or the Group,
— or for whom GET SA or the Group represent a significant part of their business.
The evaluation of how significant the relationship is with GET SA or the Group must be debated by the board of directors.

e not to be related by close family ties to an executive director;
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e not to have been an auditor of the corporation within the previous five years;
e not to have been a director of the corporation for more than twelve years.

Board members representing substantial shareholders of the company may be considered independent so long as such shareholders
do not participate in the control of the company. However, where the interest of the shareholder in question exceeds 10% of the share
capital or voting rights, the board must consider the matter of the board member’s independence, on the basis of a report from the
nomination committee, taking into account the structure of the capital of the company and the existence of potential conflicts of interest.

The board of directors is required to verify at least once a year that board members satisfy the independence criteria set out above. After
consideration of their individual position by the nomination committee, the board of directors resolved on 12 March 2014 that the
following board members met the independence criteria set out in the Afep/Medef Code: Colette Neuville, Patricia Hewitt, Perrette Rey,
Peter Levene, Colette Lewiner, Robert Rochefort, Philippe Vasseur and Tim Yeo.

Jacques Gounon, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Philippe Camu, a representative of GS Global Infrastructure Partners, the
company’s main shareholder, are not considered to be independent board members. Similarly, the same will apply until 31 May 2014 to
Jean-Pierre Trotignon, whose appointment as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Groupe Eurotunnel SA ceased on 31 May 2009.
Therefore, as at 12 March 2014, there are eight independent board members out of a total of 11 (representing 72% of the board
members in office), subject to their reappointment by the general meeting on 29 April 2014. More than half of the board members are
independent in accordance with the provisions of the Afep/Medef Code.

Senior independent director

The board of directors has appointed Colette Neuville as senior independent director. In accordance with the internal rules of the board
of directors, this board member must be independent as defined by the Afep/Medef Code. The senior independent director is appointed
for the duration of his/her term of office as board member.

The senior independent director has the following duties:

e Monitor and manage any potential conflict of interest situations that may arise for the executive management and other
board members;

e Suggest additional agenda items to the chairman for meetings of the board of directors, as required;

e Ensure that the board of directors and committees adopt good governance;

e Manage the annual evaluation of the board of directors on the basis of an anonymous detailed questionnaire on the roles and
competence of the board, its functioning as a whole and the areas dealt with by the board and its committees.

In order to preserve his/her independence, the senior independent director is not remunerated for this role.

16.2.2 OPERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In 2018, the board of directors held 12 meetings. The average attendance rate per meeting for board members was 96%.

Attendance at meetings of the board of directors in 2013

Number of

Members meetings Attendance

Jacques Gounon 12 12 100%
Philippe Camu 12 12 100%
Patricia Hewitt 12 12 100%
Hugues Lepic 3 3 100%
Peter Levene 12 11 92%
Colette Lewiner 12 10 83%
Colette Neuville 12 12 100%
Perrette Rey 9 9 100%
Robert Rochefort 12 12 100%
Jean-Pierre Trotignon 12 12 100%
Philippe Vasseur 12 10 83%
Tim Yeo 12 12 100%
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The high participation rate of board members throughout the year should be noted. This frequency and rate of participation are the first
objective factor which, during 2013, ensured that the board of directors was in a position to fulfil its role and take the decisions
appropriate to the development of GET SA.

In 2013, in addition to financial and legal authorisations, the board of directors concentrated mainly on issues of strategy, accounts and
corporate governance.

During 2013, the board of directors finalised the financial statements as at 31 December 2012 and prepared the half-yearly financial
statements as at 30 June 2013. It also considered the overall budget for 2014 and monitored the progress of the Europorte subsidiaries
and of the maritime segment. During these meetings, the board of directors specifically considered and deliberated on the current
course of business. The board also carried out a review of the risk map for the Group, as well as the activity of the internal audit function.
The board resolved to put forward for shareholder approval various financial authorities as well as the re-appointment of the statutory
auditors. The board resolved to renew the share buyback programme.

Regarding corporate governance, during the 2013 financial year, the board of directors adopted the Group Ethics Charter and approved
in principle membership of the Global Compact. It carried out its self-evaluation; it reviewed the independent status of board members
and co-opted Perrette Rey as member of the board and member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee in place of Hugues
Lepic. The board of directors approved the Chairman’s report on internal control procedures for 2012. The board of directors
determined the Chairman and Chief Executive’s variable remuneration for 2012, on the recommendation of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee, and set the quantitative and operational targets that would determine the variable portion of his remuneration
for 2018.

The board of directors followed the developments in the procedure started by the UK Competition Commission regarding the
acquisition of three ships owned by the now defunct maritime operator, SeaFrance, as well as the procedure started by Eurostar with
respect to charges set out in the 2014 Network Statement for the use of the Tunnel. The board also considered the draft submission of
GET SA with regards to the arguments which may be developed in answer to the reasoned opinion of the European Commission
addressed to France and the United Kingdom on 21 June 2013.

The board of directors considered the draft proposals for concrete short-term improvements at the terminals (high pressure cleaning of
infrastructure, resurfacing of roads and pavements, painting, signage, improvement to lighting at the British terminal) and on Passenger
Shuttles (new lighting system inside single-deck loaders, air conditioning reliability, onboard announcement system).

The board of directors has been following developments in the plan to run two high-voltage DC cables through the Tunnel. It worked on
refinancing schemes for certain tranches of debt which were not implemented, and also monitored the company’s safety and security
policy during the year.

From the beginning of the year until 12 March 2014, the reporting date for the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2013, the board of directors held two meetings. The average attendance rate was 91%. These meetings included work
on finalising the consolidated and parent company financial statements as of 31 December 2013, consideration of the Chairman’s report
pursuant to the provisions of article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, the board of directors’ reports to the general meeting
and the self-evaluation of the board of directors, as well as the determination of the variable remuneration of the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer for the 2013 financial year.

16.2.3 COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the option given by article 22 of its by-laws, the board of directors has formed an Audit Committee, a Nomination and
Remuneration Committee, a Safety and Security Committee, a Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee and an Ethics and
Corporate Governance Committee, to assist in the management of GET SA. The terms of reference of these committees are governed
by the internal rules of the board of directors and its committees. Each committee has a Chairman.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of three members chosen from among the board members other than the Chairman of the board of
directors, including at least two from among the independent board members in accordance with article 16.1 of the Afep/Medef Code.
The board of directors appoints one of the members as chairman of the Audit Committee. At least one member of the Audit Committee

2013 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT - GROUPE EUROTUNNEL SA



BOARD AND MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

must have “specific expertise in finance or accounting matters” and be “independent” and the other members of the Audit Committee
must have minimum expertise in financial and accounting matters if they are not experts in the matter.

The Audit Committee is composed of Robert Rochefort (chairman), Colette Lewiner and Colette Neuville.

Two thirds of the committee are female and, in order to strengthen the role of independent board members, all members of the
committee are independent board members. GET SA complies with the provision of the Afep/Medef Code relating to the presence of
two thirds of independent board members.

The chairman of the committee, with regard to his professional experience (former chief executive of CREDOC, the French research
centre for the study and observation of living conditions, chairman of GET SA Audit Committee since 2007, member of several
committees and boards including the Scientific Council of Statistics, manager of the statistics department of the National Health
Insurance Fund), his academic training (a post-graduate degree in economics and a masters degree in mathematics) and his specific
knowledge which is useful for the work performed by the committee, has specific expertise in finance and accounting matters.

Furthermore, all committee members have expertise in financial or accounting matters, by virtue of their training and professional
experience, thus covering a broad and comprehensive range of fields, as their professional careers confirm (chapter 14 of this
Registration Document).

The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year upon notice of its chairman.

The duties of the Audit Committee are to:

e Monitor the process of preparation of the financial and accounting information; before presentation to the board of directors, the
Audit Committee examines the consolidated and parent company financial statements, together with budgets and forecasts; it
reviews the accounting and financial information, particularly the financial statements, checking that important events or complex
transactions have been properly accounted for (significant acquisitions or disposals, restructuring, hedging transactions, the
existence of special purpose vehicles, significant provisions, etc.) which have had an impact on the company’s financial statements;
it also monitors financial information.

e The Audit Committee is informed of the architecture of all systems for establishing accounting and financial information; when
financial information is taken from an accounting process, it must be coherent with the accounting information that is produced; if it is
not taken from an accounting process, the Audit Committee must make sure that the information comes from a process that is
sufficiently structured and organised to be able to judge the quality and reliability of this information (non-standardised performance
indicators, restructuring plan, etc.).

e Ensure the statutory audit of the financial statements by the statutory auditors. The Audit Committee holds discussions with the
statutory auditors and examines their conclusions, to learn the main areas of risk or uncertainty concerning the annual or
consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee examines the main factors having an impact on the audit approach (scope
of consolidation, acquisition and disposal transactions, accounting options, new standards applied, large transactions, etc.) and
significant risks relating to the preparation and processing of the financial and accounting information identified by the statutory
auditors.

e Monitor the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems: the Audit Committee checks the existence of internal
control and risk management systems, and that they are made use of, and makes sure that the weaknesses identified are dealt with
by corrective action. This applies to risks already accounted for and those identified by the internal control and risk management
systems and which could have an impact on the accounts; for this assignment, the Audit Committee may examine the results of the
work of internal and/or external audits performed on these subjects. The Audit Committee is not involved in the implementation of
the said systems, nor the corrective actions, which are the responsibility of general management.

e Ensure that the independence of the statutory auditors is monitored: the committee is in charge of controlling the selection and
re-appointment of the statutory auditors, where appropriate using a call-for-tenders procedure, of issuing an opinion on the amount
of fees requested by them, and issuing a recommendation on the statutory auditors proposed for appointment by the general
meeting.

The Audit Committee met six times in 2013; the average attendance rate of board members per meeting was 100%.
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Audit Committee meeting attendance for 2013

Number of
Members meetings Attendance
Colette Lewiner 6 6 100%
Colette Neuville 6 6 100%
Robert Rochefort 6 6 100%

During the accounts closing process, the Audit Committee receives the report of the statutory auditors and the presentations of the
accounts by the finance department. More detailed presentations are given by other managers or external consultants on certain
subjects, including internal control and risk management. It reports on its work to the board of directors.

In 2013, the Audit Committee examined the statutory and consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 and
the proposed interim financial statements before they were presented to the board of directors, and expressed its opinion on the
proposed financial statements to the board. As part of this work, the Audit Committee examined the accounting treatment of material
transactions during the period, accounting methods, the scope of consolidation and the main items of financial reporting relating to the
financial statements. It heard from the head of internal audit on the activities carried out by internal audit in the first half of 2012. It
reviewed the procedures for identifying, monitoring and managing risks and internal audit, reviewed the risks and analysed the 2012 risk
map, and examined significant financial and operational risks. It also considered the internal audit plan for 2013.

Between the beginning of the year and 12 March 2014, the Audit Committee held three meetings. The attendance rate of its members
was 100%. These meetings covered the examination of the proposed consolidated and statutory financial statements at
31 December 2013, the accounting treatment of material transactions during the period and the accounting methods. The committee
monitored the independence of the statutory auditors. It reviewed the procedures for identifying, monitoring and managing risks and
internal audit, reviewed the risks and analysed the 2013 risk map, and examined significant financial and operational risks. It also
reviewed the internal audit plan for 2014.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is composed of four members chosen from among the board members other than the
Chairman of the board of directors, at least two of whom are independent board members. The board of directors appoints one of the
members as chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was composed of Colette Neuville (chair), Philippe Vasseur, Robert Rochefort and
Hugues Lepic until 20 March 2013, when Hugues Lepic left the board of directors. Perrette Rey replaced Hugues Lepic from the
committee meeting held on 7 November 2013.

In order to strengthen the role of independent board members, all members of the committee are independent board members and the
committee is chaired by an independent board member.

Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee:

e must not have any personal financial interests in the decisions of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, other than those of
a board member and a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee; and

e must not have any reciprocal relationship with an executive board member of GET SA that could suggest that they reached an
agreement to increase their respective salaries.

The committee makes recommendations to the board of directors with regard to the selection of new board members. The Nomination
Committee assesses the size and composition of the board of directors and identifies the persons who are qualified to join the board, in
accordance with the admission criteria for board members prescribed by the board, a summary of which appears in section 16.2.1 a).
The Nomination Committee oversees the assessment process for candidates to the position of board member.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee may also propose the appointment or removal of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, or the appointment or dismissal of the Deputy Chief Executive Officers or Chief Operating Officers, and the appointment of
successors for them.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee met seven times in 2013. The average attendance rate of members per meeting
was 100%.
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee meeting attendance in 2013

Number of
Members meetings Attendance
Hugues Lepic 3 3 100%
Colette Neuville 7 7 100%
Perrette Rey 3 3 100%
Robert Rochefort 7 7 100%
Philippe Vasseur 7 7 100%

During these meetings, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee formulated the remuneration of executive officers, to be
approved by the board of directors. It decided the financial and operational objective criteria for determining the variable remuneration of
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, to be proposed to the board of directors. The committee examined and approved the report in
chapter 15 on the draft Registration Document for the year ended 31 December 2012.

The committee also reviewed the independence of the members of the board of directors. The committee prepared the resolutions
presented for consideration and approval by the board of directors and prepared the appointment of Perrette Rey, who replaced Hugues
Lepic. The committee ensured that it put forward for approval by the board of directors a person fulfilling the criteria of the vacant post
and able to bring to the business complementary abilities, experience and background. The committee also considered the proposal to
appoint Emmanuel Moulin, who was then Chief Financial and Corporate Officer, as Deputy Chief Executive Officer.

Between the start of the year and 12 March 2014, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee held four meetings. The attendance
rate of its members was 100%. These meetings covered the examination of the account given in the Chairman’s report concerning the
principles and rules used to determine the remuneration and benefits of any kind granted to corporate officers, the determination of
the amount of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s variable remuneration for 2013, the establishment of criteria for determining
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s variable remuneration for 2014. The committee worked on an employee and executive profit-
sharing scheme, with the twofold aim of aligning the interests of employees and executive officers with those of shareholders and
maximising shareholder value. The first part of this scheme, presented to the general meeting on 29 April 2014, is a collective bonus
share award scheme for all employees of GET SA and the Group’s subsidiaries, except for executive officers (corporate officers or
salaried members of the Executive Committee). The second part consists of awarding executive officers and management non-voting
shares convertible after four years into ordinary shares, provided ambitious performance criteria have been met.

The committee examined the draft report of the board of directors to the general meeting on executive remuneration, as contained in
chapter 15 of the draft Registration Document for the year ended 31 December 2013. On 10 March 2014, the committee reviewed the
independence of members of the board of directors.

Safety and Security Committee
The Safety and Security Committee is composed of Jean-Pierre Trotignon (chairman), Jacques Gounon and Patricia Hewitt.

This committee met four times in 2013. The average attendance rate was over 91%. Since safety and security are key issues for
Eurotunnel Group, the board of directors decided at a meeting held in 2007 to enable the Safety and Security Committee to strengthen
its operating procedures by creating working subgroups. In 2013, the working subgroups met 12 times.

The Group Safety and Security Committee is tasked with monitoring safety and security issues within each sector of activity of
the Group.

The committee meets quarterly regarding matters pertaining to the Concession. It monitors individual and collective safety indicators,
and indicators regarding work-related accidents of Group employees and sub-contractors; action plans are regularly considered in
detail. In 2013, the committee closely monitored changes to key sub-contractors such as the French First Line of Response. The
committee was also involved in studies regarding the development of Truck Shuttle superstructures and in the thinking on evacuation
procedures for High-Speed Passenger Trains. With regards to security issues, the committee has considered in particular the difficulties
resulting from the increase in the number of migrants seeking to travel illegally to the United Kingdom.

The committee meets four times per year to consider issues related to rail freight subsidiaries, with two meetings devolved to GBRf and
two to EPF and Socorail. The main business of the committee is to monitor safety indicators and the training and awareness actions
taken by each subsidiary.
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The committee also meets as and when necessary to deal with matters arising and for site visits.

The committee comprises Jean-Pierre Trotignon (Chairman), Patricia Hewitt and Jacques Gounon. The key operational managers
attend each of the committee meetings with regards to their area of the business: for the Tunnel, the Chief Operating Officer —
Concession/Fixed Link, the safety and sustainable development director, the security and crisis management director, the public affairs
director and the internal audit director; for each of the rail freight subsidiaries, the chief executive of the subsidiary, the operations director
and the safety manager. Other managers are invited to attend depending on the matters under consideration by the committee. Finally,
since 2013, the committee has engaged in discussion with the management of some of the key sub-contractors that presented to the
committee their actions and results with regards to safety and security.

Between the start of the year and 12 March 2014, the committee met once with a 100% attendance rate.

Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee
The Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee examines all questions concerning the strategic and environmental objectives of
the company or the Group and reports on these to the board of directors.

n its strategic function, the committee intervenes in the following fields:

e strategic objectives of GET SA and the Group,

e significant acquisition or disposal transactions and strategic partnership agreements,

e sizeable internal restructuring operations,

e operations outside the approved strategy of GET SA or the Group,

e significant financing operations or those likely to substantially change the financial structure of GET SA or the Group.

Inits sustainable development role, this committee, which was founded in line with the Group’s longstanding policy on health, safety and
the environment, is responsible for regularly examining the performance of GET SA and the Group in environmental matters and the
strategic objectives designed to promote good environmental management, preserve natural resources and limit the impact of GET SA
and the Group’s activities on the environment.

The Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee is composed of a maximum of four board members appointed by the board of
directors. The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of GET SA is a member of the committee. The Strategy and Sustainable
Development Committee meets at least once every six months, and is convened by its chairman. Depending on the agenda, the
committee may invite persons who deal with issues relating to sustainable development in the various parts of the business and
representatives from the various operational departments of GET SA, the Group or the rail freight subsidiaries.

This committee is composed of Tim Yeo, chairman, Philippe Camu, Peter Levene and Jacques Gounon. The Strategy and Sustainable
Development Committee met twice in 2013. The attendance rate was over 87%.

In its strategic role, the committee focused particularly on the progress of the project to run two high-voltage direct current cables
through the Tunnel, creating a 500/1,000 MW interconnector between France and England, and examined the development of the
maritime business.

As part of its environmental brief, the committee contributed to formalising the Group’s CSR policy, as indicated in chapter 17 of this
Registration Document, and examined a “green plan” for the business, which sets the environmental priorities of a long-term
sustainable development programme built around the themes used in Eurotunnel’s overall CSR strategy and detailing targets and
requirements for each proposal.

Between the start of the year and 12 March 2014, the committee met once on 12 February 2014 with an attendance rate of 100%.

Ethics and Corporate Governance Committee

The growth and longevity of the Group cannot be envisaged without sharing a common heritage of ethical values and principles, which
must, inspire and guide the everyday actions of all the women and men of the Group. In order to enable the board of directors to
encourage best governance and ethical practices at the Group, in 2013 it established a new committee, the Ethics and Corporate
Governance Committee, to perform the following specific tasks:

e To develop and recommend to the board of directors corporate governance principles applicable to the company and monitor their

subsequent implementation;
e To ensure ethical conduct and discuss any related matters that the board of directors (or its chairman) submits for examination.
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The Ethics and Corporate Governance Committee, comprises all the committee chairmen. This committee is chaired by the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of GET SA who calls meetings of the committee. Depending on the agenda, the committee may invite
persons who deal with issues relating to ethics and corporate governance and representatives from the various operational departments
of GET SA, the Group or its subsidiaries.

This committee comprises five board members who each chair a board committee: Jacques Gounon (chairman), Colette Neuville,
Robert Rochefort, Tim Yeo and Jean-Pierre Trotignon, The aim is for the predominantly ethical principles adopted by the Ethics and
Corporate Governance Committee to inform the work of each of the other committees. The Ethics and Corporate Governance
Committee met for the first time on 7 November 2013 with an attendance rate of 100%. It carried out a review in particular of the 2013
general meetings of companies in the SBF120, considered the analysis of the revised Afep/Medef Code, examined the annual report of
the AMF on governance and executive remuneration, and agreed upon the actions and direction to be taken by the various committees
of the board of directors for 2013/2014. The Ethics and Corporate Governance Committee ensures that the ethical culture and
principles which apply to its executive management as well as all staff is circulated within the business.

16.3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS SELF-EVALUATION

Evaluation of the board of directors is carried out each year in accordance with article 10 of the Afep/Medef Code in a process overseen
by senior independent director. The evaluation is based on a detailed anonymous questionnaire addressing the roles and powers of the
board of directors, the board’s functioning as a whole and the individual areas of activity of the board and its committees. Using a
questionnaire makes the evaluation process more objective and, as a result, the assessments made by the board members may be
weighted. The summary report prepared by the senior independent director forms the basis of the board discussion which take place
each year.

In the interest of continuous improvement, in 2012, the decision was taken to strengthen the questionnaire with regard to best practices,

by aligning its contents with the latest standard issued by the Association Francaise des Entreprises Privées (AFEP). This questionnaire

comprises 120 questions around six main themes:

e composition of the board and term of office;

e meetings of the board of directors (organisation of meetings, directors’ access to information, content and quality of debates,
relations with committees, director training, minutes);

e internal rules;

e attendance fees;

e quality of the assessment;

e role and performance of specialised committees.

Broadening the scope of this questionnaire has enabled board members to refine their assessments of the functioning of the board of
directors and its committees.

All members of the board of directors (other than the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), namely ten board members, responded.
They were invited to give a score of 1 to 5 with:

e 1 corresponding to “Yes”;

e 2, “Mostly yes”;

e 3, “Unsure”;
e 4, “Mostly no”;
e 5 “No”".

The senior independent director presented an analysis of the findings to the board of directors at its meeting on 14 February 2014.

The average score for all answers is 1.43. The overall opinion of board members on the board and its workings is positive. The diversity
of skills and experience, as well as the diversity in terms of nationality, are considered satisfactory. With an average score of 1.40, the
effective contribution of each board member to the functioning of the board (skills and involvement) was considered extremely
satisfactory. Board members are satisfied as to the manner in which the discussions take place and are overseen by the chairman of the
board, as well as the freedom of expression and the time given to debate. The current governance structure (with a combined role of
chairman and chief executive officer) was also largely approved (1.80).
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The board of directors discussed the manner in which it operates in a collegiate pooling of impartial views, and considered pragmatic
ways to improve and how these might be put into practice. A clear improvement in the information given to board members was noted
with the systematic distribution of a Group business update, regardless of the length of time between meetings. There is strong approval
of the focus on strategy, with members in favour of the organisation of a strategy seminar. Board members would welcome the
attendance of more senior managers of the Group at board meetings to talk about their areas of responsibility, business, objectives and
results. They would also welcome more information on the work of the different board committees.

16.4. PRINCIPLES AND RULES RELATING TO THE
DETERMINATION OF REMUNERATION AND ALL BENEFITS OF
ANY KIND GRANTED TO CORPORATE OFFICERS

Principles and rules relating to the determination of remuneration and all benefits of any kind to which corporate officers are entitled are
determined by the board of directors on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee in accordance with the
board’s internal rules. These are set out in chapter 15 of this Registration Document.

16.5. LIMITATIONS ON THE POWERS OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The Chief Executive Officer is vested with the broadest powers to act in all circumstances in the name of GET SA. The Chief Executive
Officer exercises his powers within the scope of the corporate purpose and subject to the powers conferred by law expressly on general
meetings of shareholders and the board of directors. He represents GET SA in its relations with third parties.

Neither the provisions of the by-laws of the company nor any decisions of the board of directors limiting the powers of the Chief
Executive Officer can be enforced against third parties.

Pursuant to article 1 of the internal rules of the board of directors, major strategic transactions involving the acquisition or disposal of

equity investments and assets, partnership agreements, joint ventures or cooperation agreements relating to research, development,

industrial or commercial matters and more generally any transaction or undertaking that could have a significant impact on the financial

or operating situation of the Group come within the remit of the board of directors. Article 1 of the internal rules also states that:

e any significant transaction outside the approved business strategy is subject to prior approval by the board of directors;

e these rules apply not only to external acquisition or disposal transactions but also to any significant investments in organic growth or
any internal restructuring transaction.

16.6. SERVICE CONTRACTS BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS AND GENERAL MANAGEMENT AND GET SA

To the knowledge of GET SA, there are no service contracts between corporate officers and GET SA that provide for the granting of any
particular benefits under the terms of such contracts.

GET SA has made no undertakings for the benefit of Jacques Gounon. Jacques Gounon has been the Group’s Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer since 2005 and, due to the binational nature of the Concession, receives part of his remuneration from Eurotunnel
Services Limited. Under English law, which cannot be derogated or waived, this technically imposes a service contract governed by
English law. This contract does not involve any undertaking by the company for Jacques Gounon’s benefit, and Jacques Gounon has
not been granted any contractual severance package. In addition, in the event that Jacques Gounon'’s role as Chief Executive Officer is
terminated, to avoid Eurotunnel Services Limited having to give Jacques Gounon notice in accordance with the Group’s rules for senior
managers —i.e. one month’s notice per year of service, capped at 12 months — Jacques Gounon proposed in 2008 to the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee to limit the notice period applicable to the contract to the minimum required under English law, which is
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one week per year of service, capped at 12 weeks. The proposal was accepted by the board of directors of GET SA. The Afep/Medef
recommendation, which is to terminate a person’s employment contract if they are appointed as a corporate officer, cannot be applied
to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, since it is in contradiction with a mandatory provision of English law, which is complied with
in principle, but the effect of which has been limited to the strict legal minimum.

16.7. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS

In accordance with article L. 621-18-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code and articles 223-22 et seq. of the General
Regulations of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers, transactions involving GET SA financial instruments carried out by any member of
the board of directors, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer or any persons to whom they are related must be declared.

In accordance with article 223-26 of the General Regulations of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers, the following table presents the
transactions that were declared by the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, the other members of the board of directors of GET SA or
any persons to whom they are related during the 2013 financial year:

Financial Type of Transaction Transaction Unit Number Transaction
Board member instrument transaction date location price  of units amount
Perrette Rey Shares Acquisition 19/06/2013 Euronext Paris €6.319 1,000 €6,319.00

Any transactions undertaken by the corporate officers in connection with GET SA financial instruments are governed by the code of
conduct drawn up by the board of directors. In accordance with AMF recommendation n® 2010-07 dated 3 November 2010 concerning
the prevention of insider trading by executive officers of listed companies, the first part of the GET SA code of conduct states the
essential ethical principles and the second part presents the applicable preventive measures.

16.8. CONCESSION COORDINATION COMMITTEE

The Concession Coordination Committee is described in section 14.7 of this Registration Document.

16.9. INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
PROCEDURES

16.9.1 INTRODUCTION

a) Legal framework
French legislation sets out the responsibilities of executive officers in respect of internal control.

Pursuant to the French law of 3 July 2008 (covering miscellaneous provisions on the adaptation of company law to community law,
known as DDAC), the Chairman of Groupe Eurotunnel SA (GET SA) reports on the internal control and risk management procedures in
place within the company in a separate report attached to the management report and the annual report (article L. 225-37 paragraph 6
of the French Commercial Code).

Under article L. 225-235 of the French Commercial Code, the statutory auditors are required to present, in a separate report attached to
the management report, their observations on the part of the Chairman’s report which covers the internal control and risk management

" Where transactions carried out by any one of these executive officers total more than €5,000 in any one calendar year.
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procedures for accounting and financial information. The statutory auditor’s report can be found in Annex | to this Registration
Document.

b) Reference
This report is based on the “reference framework” established under the auspices of the AMF. GET SA has referred to the report of the
working group on the Audit Committee of 22 July 2010 in the Chairman’s report on internal control and risk management procedures.

c) Responsibilities of the GET SA board of directors for internal control

The GET SA board of directors is responsible for ensuring (i) that the significant risks facing Eurotunnel Group, and the effectiveness of
the internal control system in managing those risks, are assessed at least annually; (i) that any weaknesses in internal control are
identified and taken into account; and (iii) that internal control and risk management are an integral part of Eurotunnel Group’s
operations. To this end, in accordance with article L. 225-37 paragraph 10 of the French Commercial Code, the GET SA board of
directors approved the report drawn up by its Chairman.

A description of the internal control and risk management procedures in operation within Eurotunnel Group is presented in
sections 16.9.2 and 16.9.3 below.

16.9.2 INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES

The description of the internal control procedures includes:
e an overview of the main internal control mechanisms in place within the Eurotunnel Group; and
e a detailed description of the controls over the accounting and financial reporting processes.

a) Definition of internal control

Internal control is a company system, which the company is responsible for defining and implementing. It comprises a set of resources,
behaviours, procedures and actions tailored to the particular features of each company which:

e contributes to the effective management of its business, the efficiency of its operations and the efficient use of its resources, and,
e allows each company to appropriately manage significant risks, whether operational, financial or compliance-related.

The system specifically seeks to ensure:

e compliance with the laws and regulations;

e implementation of the instructions and direction decided by the general management;

e the proper functioning of the company’s internal processes, particularly those related to safeguarding its assets;
e the reliability of financial information.

The activities of internal control go beyond merely following a set of procedures and are not limited to accounting and financial
processes. It does not, however, cover all initiatives undertaken by corporate or management bodies, such as setting the company’s
high-level strategy, setting objectives, management decisions, risk management or performance monitoring. Nor can internal control
provide an absolute guarantee that the company will meet its objectives.

b) Objectives of internal control
The objectives of internal control are specifically to ensure:

e Compliance with the laws and regulations:
This means the laws and regulations to which the company is subject. Governing laws and regulations define standards of behaviour
which the company then incorporates into its compliance objectives. Because of the large number of areas of law involved
(company, commercial, environmental, social, etc.), the company has a specific organisation to:
— identify the various rules relevant to it;
— be kept informed within a reasonable timeframe of any amendments to these rules (legal monitoring); translate these rules into
internal procedures; inform and train employees on those rules that affect them.
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Implementation of the instructions and direction decided by the general management:

Instructions and direction given by general management make clear to employees what is expected of them and where they have
freedom to act. The instructions and direction are communicated to employees based on the individual objectives assigned to each
and reflect the objectives pursued by the company and the risks involved.

The proper functioning of the company’s internal processes, particularly safeguarding its assets:

This covers all operational, industrial, commercial and financial processes. The proper functioning of processes requires that
functional standards or principles be established and monitoring indicators defined. “Assets” here means not just “property, plant
and equipment” but also “intangible assets” like know-how, image and reputation. These assets may be destroyed by theft, fraud,
poor productivity, mistakes, or the results of a bad management decision or weak internal control. The processes guarding against
these issues are a matter of especial attention.

Ethics have always been a key to the company’s overall performance. With the introduction of the Bribery Act in the UK, the Group
has reviewed its anti-corruption policy and put in place various appropriate measures, notably to remind employees and partners of
the importance of this issue. For the Group, ethics and integrity are the surest guarantee of sustainable and responsible growth.

The same is true of the processes for compiling and processing accounting and financial information. These processes include not
only those directly related to producing the financial statements, but also the processes for translating economic transactions into
accounting movements.

The reliability of financial information:

The reliability of financial information is guaranteed by internal control procedures that ensure all transactions carried out by the
organisation are correctly accounted for. The quality of internal control is assured by a segregation of duties, with clear lines drawn
between recording, operational and archiving tasks, by a clearly defined structure that identifies sources and recipients for all
information produced, by an internal control system for accounts that ensures transactions comply with general and specific
instructions and that they are recorded in a way that generates GAAP-compliant financial information.

Components of internal control

Eurotunnel Group adopts an approach based on the following five internal control components:

An organisation that provides clear definitions of responsibilities, is appropriately resourced and skilled and is supported by
appropriate IT systems, procedures, operational methods, tools and practices. The factors having an impact on the control
environment include the integrity, ethics and competence of the personnel; the values of the executive officers and the style of
management; the policy concerning the delegation of responsibility and training; appropriate organisation and procedures; and the
interest shown by the board of directors in internal control and its ability to clearly specify its objectives.

Internal communication of relevant and reliable information that allows everyone to fulfil their responsibilities. Relevant information
must be identified and communicated in a manner that enables people to undertake their responsibilities. This means ensuring the
effectiveness and integrity of the company’s information systems and effective multi-directional communication throughout the
organisation and with third parties, including regulators and shareholders.

A risk management system that seeks to identify, assess and deal with the main risks that may affect the company’s objectives. Risk
assessment is the identification of risks which may significantly impair achievement of the entity’s objectives, and the means provided
or to be provided to manage such risks. In due consideration of constant changes to economic, industrial, regulatory and operating
conditions, mechanisms are needed to identify and control risks associated with change.

Proportionate controls for the issues at stake in each process, designed to make sure the necessary steps are taken to manage risks
likely to impair achievement of the company’s objectives. The application of regulations and procedures assists in the
implementation of the guidelines issued by management. Control activities are performed throughout the organisation, at all levels
and in all functions. They include actions such as approval, authorisation, verification, reconciliation, operating performance reviews,
safeguarding of assets and segregation of duties.

Permanent monitoring of the internal control system and regular assessment of its performance. Monitoring entails the periodic
assessment of the internal control system’s performance. It forms part of the group’s day-to-day operations, and includes regular
management and supervisory activities, as well as the work carried out by the audit functions. Internal control deficiencies are
brought to the attention of management and the board of directors.

No internal control system, however, can provide an absolute guarantee that the above objectives will be met.
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d) Eurotunnel Group’s internal control system
The following developments summarise the main elements of the internal control system of Eurotunnel Group In 2013, the internal
control measures were extended to the entire scope of consolidation of the Group.

i) Control environment

a) Organisation and responsibilities

GET SA's board of directors and the special committees set up by the board of directors are responsible for monitoring the internal
control system within the Group. The structure, organisation and functioning of these entities are described in section 16.2.3 of this
Registration Document.

The roles and responsibilities of GET SA's Executive Committee are described in section 16.1.2 of this Registration Document.

The Group has established two specific committees to address strategic issues:
e investment committee;
e commitments committee.

Within the Concessionaires, specific operational committees are in place and have responsibility for the following specific areas:
e safety committees;

e treasury risk management committee;

e service quality committee;

e [T development committee.

Formal delegation of authority and authorisation limits, approved by the GET SA board of directors, are in place in key areas including
capital and operational expenditure, investment projects, treasury and financial operations, freight customer pricing agreements,
revenue contract approval, etc.

Formal delegation of authority is in place in the main operational areas.

A company organisation chart is posted on the intranet and sets out the management structure and reporting lines. Formal job
descriptions are in place in most areas.

b) Policies and procedures

e Formal policies and operating procedures are in place for the main areas of the Group’s activities.

e The human resources policies set out the Group’s values and operating principles, as well as the main policies in relation to working
conditions and practices, staff training and development, and standards of conduct.

e The corporate code of ethics is an integral part of the Group’s human resources policies. A more detailed ethics policy is in place for
the purchasing function.

e Financial control is managed by a formal process of monthly reporting and quarterly budget revisions.

i) Risk assessment

e The strategic plan, approved by the Management Committee, is presented annually to the GET SA board of directors. It defines the
medium and long-term objectives of the Group and, taking account of the associated risks, sets out the action plans for
achieving them.

e The annual budget sets out the key operational and commercial objectives for each of the Group’s main areas of activity, as well as
the budgeted financial results. The annual budget is presented to the GET SA board of directors.

e Performance criteria in the form of key performance indicators (KPIs) are established in the main identified risk areas, including safety,
commercial performance and operational reliability. These indicators are reported on a weekly basis to the Executive Committee.

e An annual corporate risk assessment is carried out and the results reported to the GET SA Audit Committee and to the GET SA
board of directors. This process covers the major risks throughout the Group, and is described in more detail in section 16.9.3 below.

e Specific risk assessment exercises are carried out in particular areas:

— Safety risk: a formal document entitled “the Eurotunnel Safety Case” is updated as often as required and at least every five years
by the Safety and Sustainable Development Directorate. This document identifies the major risks to which the company’s
customers, employees, sub-contractors and visitors are exposed, and the measures in place to manage them. The Safety Case
is formally approved by the Safety Authority of the IGC.
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The Safety and Sustainable Development Directorate ensures that the documentation relating to emergency planning and to the
individual and collective risk analysis programmes in the different areas of operations is kept up to date. These programmes are
regularly reviewed by the Safety and Security Committee.

— Insurance risk: a full insurance risk assessment is carried out every three years to assess the adequacy of the Group’s
insurance cover. It is reviewed at the time of policy renewals.

— Internal control risk: the annual internal audit plan is based on an assessment of the risks and controls in the major internal
control areas of the company’s activities.

— T risk: IT risks (intrusion, etc.) are managed by an IT security committee and covered by procedures and controls integrated in
the IT systems.

— Treasury risk: interest rate and foreign exchange risks are reviewed on a regular basis by the treasury risk management
committee.

i) Control activities
The main control activities are set out in paragraph e) below.

iv)  Information and communication
In addition to the strategic plan and annual budget referred to above, the GET SA board of directors receives a monthly report setting out
the financial results and position, as well as a summary of operational and commercial performance.

At each meeting, the GET SA Safety and Security and Audit Committees receive activity reports relating to the relevant areas. The
chairmen of these committees keep the GET SA board of directors informed of the work of their committees.

The following documents are also sent each month to members of the GET SA Executive Committee:
e afinancial reporting pack providing details of financial results and performance in relation to the budget; and
e areport on Key Performance Indicators in each area of activity:

— safety;

— commercial performance and market share;

— productivity, operational reliability and service quality;

— employee numbers and related statistics;

— financial results in relation to the budget and to the latest forecasts.

The members of the GET SA Executive Committee also receive a weekly report on key data relating to safety, human resources,
operations and commercial and financial performance.

Eurotunnel’s intranet system, ETNet, provides regular information to all staff on the main policies, procedures and activities of the Group.
Regular communication with Eurotunnel’s personnel is also carried out through an electronic newsletter and a periodic general meeting,
the Management Forum.

<

) Monitoring

e The corporate risk assessment process is continuous and is under the full-time responsibility of a senior manager
(see section 16.9.3 below).

e The Audit Committee monitors the effectiveness of internal control by means of reports from the internal audit department, whose
work is planned so as to ensure an appropriate coverage of the main risk factors. A formal process exists for the correction of
weaknesses highlighted in internal audit reports. The status of ongoing corrective actions is presented to the Audit Committee.
During 2013 and up to the date of this Registration Document, GET SA has identified no major shortcomings in its internal control
system.

e |Internal audit consults the Safety and Security Committee on an annual basis to identify audit requirements in these areas.

e The Safety and Security Committee monitors performance in these areas by means of quarterly reports from the security and
sustainable development department. These include the reporting of safety performance against its target, the results of safety
evaluations and an update on security matters.

e The Safety and Security Committee has created two sub-groups, one responsible for emergency planning and the BINAT exercises
and the other for security issues.

e Specific steering groups monitor the progress of major projects (e.g. large-scale maintenance, ERTMS, GSM-R, SAFE).

e The treasury risk management committee (TRMC) monitors foreign exchange and interest rate trends and the use of financial

instruments on a monthly basis as well as cash flow, cash and compliance with banking covenants.
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e) Controls over accounting and financial reporting

i) Control objectives
The quality of accounting and financial information relies on processes, detailed below, to ensure the information presented in the
financial statements is true and fair.

Upstream process and accounts production
1. Truth: the transactions and events recorded actually happened and relate to the entity.

2. Completeness: all transactions and events that should be recorded have been recorded.
3.  Measurement: amounts and other information relating to the transactions and events have been accurately recorded.
4. Accrual principle: transactions and events are recorded in the right period.

5. Classification: transactions and events are recorded under the right accounting item.

Accounts finalisation process
1. Existence: the assets and liabilities exist.

2. Rights and obligations: the entity holds and controls the rights to the assets and the liabilities reflect obligations incurred by
the entity.

3. Completeness: all assets and liabilities which should be recorded have been recorded and all disclosures required by the financial
standards have been included in the notes to the financial statements.

4. Measurement and allocation: assets and liabilities are recorded in the accounts at appropriate amounts and all the adjustments
arising from their measurement or allocation are correctly recorded.

5. Presentation and intelligibility: financial information is appropriately presented and described and the disclosures given in the notes
to the financial statements are clearly presented.

6. Truth/rights and obligations: the events, transactions and other items recorded actually happened and relate to the entity.

7. Measurement and valuation: financial and other data are reported accurately and in the correct amounts.

i) Organisation and monitoring principles

Financial management is centralised in the Group’s finance department, which is responsible for defining the Group’s accounting rules
and policies, cash management, consolidation of the Group financial statements and financial reporting. This centralised responsibility
covers all the accounting entities of the Group, both in the United Kingdom and France, in addition to freight activities in Spain
and Belgium.

Accounting is managed by each entity in accordance with the Group’s accounting principles. Data are then passed to the Group’s
finance department for consolidation.

Formal processes are in place to fix and communicate within the Group the policies governing accounting and transaction control and

the preparation of accounting and financial information for publication:

e written procedures covering all aspects of the operation of the finance department are available;

e the Group’s accounting policies and rules are defined by the Group’s finance department and notified to the various Group entities. A
specific procedure is in place to define and communicate the accounting treatment of complex transactions. This involves prior
consultation with the statutory auditors;

e controls to monitor the processes involved in transaction accounting are detailed in paragraph €) v) below;

e controls over the preparation of accounting and financial information for publication are detailed in paragraph e) vi) below.

i)y T systems

A single integrated accounting system, SAP ECC, is used across all accounting entities, with the exception of GBRf. This system is
integrated with other SAP modules managing freight and rail network sales, purchasing, inventory control, treasury, payroll and fixed
assets. This caters for the automated transmission of transactions and accounting data relating to these activities.
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For systems outside the integrated SAP environment — principally in the areas of passenger sales —accounting data uploads are
automated. Reconciliation and verification controls are in place to ensure the completeness and accuracy of these interfaces.

The IT systems and environment are organised to ensure secure, reliable, accessible and relevant provision of accounting and financial

information:

e Controls are in place to ensure the physical security of hardware and software, the integrity of data and the continuity of operation of
the major computer systems, including the SAP system.

e Each IT application has a sponsor who is a member of the Concessionaire Management Committee; the sponsor is the sole
authority for changes and for granting access to the system.

e |ogical access controls based on individually defined user rights and passwords are in place for all IT systems; access rights reflect
the roles and responsibilities of users and segregation of duties. The administration of user accesses is centralised within the
IT department.

e Adequate controls are in place to protect the company’s information systems against unauthorised access from outside the
company. The adequacy of these controls is monitored on a regular basis.

e [T system data are regularly backed up; procedures are in place for the preservation and archiving of data and processes directly and
indirectly involved in recording accounting data.

iv)  Monitoring

Corporate general management is responsible for preparing the Group’s consolidated accounts and implementing internal financial and

accounting control systems. To do this, it has put in place a monitoring function to identify and manage the major risks that could

potentially impact the preparation of accounting and financial information published by the Group:

e this function ensures the Group has the organisation and resources in place to account for its transactions accurately and in full;

e it oversees, via the management reporting processes, the reliability of the published accounting and financial information;

e it supervises the preparation and finalisation of accounts, paying particular attention to the accounting treatment of major or complex
transactions, the quality of estimates used in the consolidated accounts and accounting procedures that are considered sensitive;

e itisinformed of the auditors’ conclusions about the consolidated financial statements. It also keeps itself informed of any significant
risks or major weakness in internal control notified by the auditors and makes sure that these are addressed in the corrective actions
taken by the Group.

The Audit Committee plays a crucial role in controlling the Group’s financial reporting and in preparatory work for the financial statements

and consideration of the interim statements by the board of directors.

e any changes to accounting policies are reviewed by the Audit Committee;

e for the closing of the accounts, the Group finance department submits a report to the Audit Committee on major accounting and
reporting issues and options;

e the committee reviews the half-year and full-year consolidated financial statements at meetings scheduled at least four days before
their presentation to the GET SA board of directors;

e these meetings are attended by the statutory auditors, who submit their formal reports.

v)  Control of processes involved in transaction accounting
The reliability of published financial information depends on adequate controls over the transactions giving rise to accounting entries to
ensure they are accurate, complete and compliant with the standards in force.

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and inventories

e Rules in place set criteria for identifying, measuring and accounting for all types of fixed assets.

e Accounting and control procedures are in place for the acquisition and disposal of fixed assets.

e Inventory and fixed asset (spare parts) movements are accounted for automatically.

e There is a periodic physical inventory check (cyclical and year-end stocktaking) and of major fixed assets.

e A process is in place for identifying and monitoring intangible assets and goodwill; a procedure for identifying indications of
impairment is applied to all goodwill at every reporting date.

Operating revenue

e There are clearly defined rules for recognising sales.

e Formal procedures are in place to cover the recording and reconciliation of sales and receipts at each point of sale (check-in,
pre-sales and internet).

e There is appropriate segregation of duties in the principal areas of sales recording, control and accounting.
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e Procedures are in place to control the completeness of invoicing and the reconciliation of data between the front-end sales systems
and the accounting system.

e Procedures are in place for invoicing and accounting for revenue from the Railways.

e Formal Group-wide credit policy and procedures are in place for the approval of revenue contracts.

Purchases

e All major purchases are centralised through the group procurement department.

e Formal procedures and delegation of authority are in place for the management and approval of all purchases.

e Thereis segregation of duties between all stages of the procurement process (request, approval, execution, fulfilment control, receipt
and payment).

e The SAP system performs an automated control of expenditure approval and order/receipt/invoice matching.

e Allthird-party payments are centralised through the finance department, and mandates are in place with the banks for the signature
of all payment instruments.

Employee salaries and other benefits

e Payroll functions in the Group’s various entities are subject to formal procedures.

e There is segregation of duties within HR departments in the key stages of the payroll process (approval and maintenance of
employee data, entry and authorisation of variable pay, payroll processing and payment).

e The automated calculation of the payroll and its associated elements is carried out by specialist payroll systems.

e Accounting entries and payment files are generated and interfaced automatically within the SAP system.

® Processes are in place to control the measurement, recognition and reporting of information on retirement commitments and the
shares and stock options granted to executive officers and employees.

Treasury/financial instruments

e Treasury management policies and procedures are approved by the GET SA board of directors on an annual basis.

e There is a segregation of duties between front and back office, with the back office controlling treasury management transactions;
there is also segregation between the authorisation of expenditure, issuance of payment and its accounting recognition.

e Automatic banking reconciliations are carried out daily and reviewed by management.

e The treasury management plan allows monitoring of foreseeable cash flow requirements at the Group’s different entities.

e Procedures are in place to ensure that complex financial instruments are approved in advance and that their accounting treatment
complies with the standards in force.

e Debt management operations are controlled by the cash manager.

Capital transactions
e All transactions affecting the company’s share capital require appropriate authorisation.
e Procedures are in place to monitor stock options and free shares awarded to employees.

Provisions and commitments

e An integrated SAP accounts payable system is in place; accruals are calculated and validated by budget controllers; deferred
revenue is reconciled to ticket liability records.

e  Group commitments are monitored centrally by the Group finance department.

e The Group regularly reviews its commitments and risks and determines in consultation with its auditors and advisors whether it
needs to take provisions or make disclosures in the notes. At each reporting date, the Group checks that the provisions on its books
remain appropriate.

vi)  Control of processes leading to the preparation of published accounting and financial information

Consolidation

e Consolidation of the financial statements of the various Group entities is carried out centrally by the Group finance department, which
ensures the scope and rules of consolidation are kept up to date.

e There is a formal process for preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements which includes:
— advance reporting dates at end-May and end-November allowing the Group to anticipate the accounting treatment of complex

transactions;

— publication by the Group finance department of a schedule and instructions for subsidiaries’ financial reporting;
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— preparation of consolidation reports by subsidiaries to ensure standardisation in the application of Group accounting policies and
in the information reported in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
e The half-year and full-year consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of the individual company trial balances in the
SAP accounting system.
e Intragroup transactions are identified and eliminated. Accounting adjustments in the consolidation processes are controlled and
approved by the appropriate level of management.
e Changes in the consolidated financial position at the opening and reporting dates are analysed and explained.

Management information required to prepare published accounting and financial information

e There are formal monthly closings including a detailed verification of the main revenue and expenditure accounts by the budget
controllers. Formal balance sheet reconciliations are also carried out by the accounts department.

e Financial and analytic accounting is integrated and prepared using the same source data. Monthly reconciliations are carried out
between management accounting data and the accounting data used to prepare the published accounting and financial
information.

Management of external financial information

e An annual timetable is drawn up by the Group Corporate management setting out the recurring obligations with regards to
accounting and financial communications to the market. This timetable, which specifies the nature and timing of each disclosure and
the person responsible for its preparation, is sent to everyone involved in the process.

e Formal processes are in place to ensure:

— that information is communicated externally in a timely manner and in compliance with the laws and regulations in force;

— that sensitive information remains confidential;

— that all information, including non-accounting information presented in support of financial communications, is checked
before release;

— that information meeting the definition of inside information is communicated to the market at the right time, in compliance with
the relevant rules.

e The Group’s Corporate Management has a process for monitoring the Group’s financial reporting obligations.

e |n addition to the above, further controls are carried out by two independent bodies independent of the Group finance department
which are tasked with checking the internal control environment and the quality of the financial statements: the internal auditors and
the statutory auditors who, as part of their work in auditing the financial statements, carry out a review of the internal control
procedures used to prepare and ensure the quality of the financial statements.

16.9.3 RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES

The objective of the corporate risk management process is to provide general management and the board of directors with:

e a complete, consistent and structured overview of all types of major risks to which the company is exposed and their future
development; and

e an appreciation of the appropriateness of the mitigating measures implemented by those responsible for managing each of the risks
in the light of their potential impact on the company’s strategic objectives.

a) Objectives of risk management
Risk management is used:

i) To create and preserve the company’s value, assets and reputation:
Risk management allows the key threats and opportunities potentially facing the company to be identified and assessed. By anticipating
and avoiding risks, it seeks to preserve the company’s value, assets and reputation.

i) To secure the company’s decision-making and processes to help achieve its objectives:
Risk management seeks to identify the main events and circumstances likely to significantly impact the company’s achievement of its
objectives. Managing these risks makes it easier to achieve objectives.

Risk management is integrated into the company’s decision-making and operational processes. It acts as both a monitoring and a
decision support tool.
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Risk management gives the executive officers an objective overview of the threats and opportunities potentially facing the company,
allowing them to take calculated and considered risks. It also influences the allocation of human and financial resources.

i) To ensure the company’s values are reflected in its actions:
Many risks arise from an inconsistency between the company’s stated values and the day-to-day decisions and actions of its people.
These risks mainly threaten the company’s credibility.

iv) Rally employees around a common vision of the key risks and raise awareness of the risks inherent to their activity.

b) Components
The risk management system includes:

An organisational structure comprising:

e an organisation that defines the roles and responsibilities of all involved and lays down clear and consistent procedures
and standards,

* a risk management policy which sets formal objectives for the department consistent with the corporate culture, the common
language in use, the process for identifying, assessing and managing risks and, where applicable, the limits set by the company (risk
tolerance),

e an information system that allows internal communication of risk information.

i) A three-stage risk management process:

e Risk identification: this stage identifies and summarises the key risks threatening achievement of the objectives. A risk can be either a
threat or a missed opportunity. It is characterised by an event, which has one or more sources and one or more consequences. Risk
identification is a continuous process.

e Risk assessment: this stage involves examining the potential consequences of the key risks (consequences that may be financial,
human, legal or reputational) and estimating the likelihood that they will come to pass. This is a continuous process.

e Risk management: this stage involves choosing the most appropriate action plan or plans for the company. To keep risks within
acceptable limits, several measures can be taken: mitigation, transfer, avoidance or acceptance of the risk. The choice of how to
manage any particular risk will involve juggling the opportunities against the costs of risk management measures, while also taking
account of their possible effects on the likelihood and/or consequences of the risk occurring.

i) Continuous monitoring of the risk management system:
The risk management system is monitored and regularly reviewed with a view to its ongoing improvement. The aim is to identify and
assess key potential risks and draw lessons from incidents.

The process comprises a formal risk review, the conclusions of which are presented to the Audit Committee of the board of directors of
GET SA at the end of the financial year under consideration. The risk reviews are based on the strategic plan as known at the date of the
relevant review.

They are co-ordinated by the corporate risk manager, who reports directly to the head of the finance department. Reviews seek to
identify and quantify the risks facing the company and to identify and assess the appropriateness and the effectiveness of the mitigating
measures put in place to manage them.

The process consists primarily of formal interviews with directors and senior management across the company, and comprises two

parallel approaches:

e atop-down approach, consisting of the identification of the risks linked to strategic initiatives (both from the point of view of their
direct effect on the core business and the fact that they generate new risks of their own) and changes in the company’s economic
environment; and

e the ftraditional bottom-up approach which seeks to identify risks in each of the main business areas (commercial,
technical/operational, financial, staff, safety and security, environment and corporate governance).

|dentification of new risks is based on the systematic review of external sources of information (global conditions, benchmarking, trade
bodies, etc.) and internal information (developments within the company, interviews and lobbying of the management team).
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The risk register contains, for each risk, the following information:

e a description of the risk and the strategic objectives it is likely to impact;

e an assessment of the inherent risk based on the probability of it materialising and its potential impact:
— the probability and impacts are calculated based on the assumptions in the business plan;
— the criteria used include the financial impact and the impact on the company'’s reputation with its customers, its investors and the

media, etc.;

e adescription of the measures in place to mitigate each risk, which are identified in four categories (monitoring, probability mitigation,
impact mitigation and reporting);

e g residual risk assessment, taking account of these mitigating measures, and calculated on the same basis as that of the
inherent risk;

e dentification of the person managing the risk and the degree to which the person considers the risk is managed as at the date of the
review with a view to improving this.

The risks are classified in descending order depending on their critical nature. In 2013, all Group risks were grouped in categories and
sub-categories which are common to all subsidiaries so as to enable an appropriate and homogenous point of comparison between
them. Moreover, a Group register was compiled to enable a more global monitoring. The risks of each Group subsidiary and the risks
monitored at a corporate level are mapped in this manner.

As an integral part of the corporate risk assessment, internal audit carries out an assessment of appropriateness and effectiveness of the
measures in place to manage the risks identified.

The results of the corporate risk assessment and the internal audit review are presented to the Audit Committee. An audit plan prepared
based on the risk review is presented to the Audit Committee to ensure that the measures to be taken to eliminate or contain major risks
are monitored and reported on to the committee during the following year.

The corporate risk manager and internal audit monitor, on an ongoing basis, major risks and new or emergent risks. Any significant
changes are reported to the Executive Committee and to the Audit Committee.

c) Coordination of risk management and internal control

The risk management and internal control systems act in coordination to manage the company’s activities: risk management identifies
and analyses the key risks facing the company. Risks, where they exceed the acceptable limits set by the company, are addressed, if
necessary by action plans as described in chapter 4 below. Such action plans may take the form of introducing controls, transferring
financial consequences (insurance or equivalent) or making changes to the organisation. The controls to put in place are the
responsibility of internal control, which thus has a role in dealing with the risks raised by the company’s activities.

Internal control also relies on risk management to identify the main risks needing to be addressed.

The coordination and balancing of the two functions depends on the control environment which underpins both functions, notably the
company'’s specific risk and control culture and its ethical values.

16.10. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

GET SA has referred to the Afep/Medef Code for drafting the report required by article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code,
pursuant to the French law of 3 July 2008 implementing EU Directive 2006/46/EC of 14 June 2006. In accordance with article 22 of the
Afep/Medef Code, the recommendations of this Code that have not been implemented by the company and the reasons for this are set
out in the report.

The company complies with almost all the recommendations of the Afep/Medef Code. The only exception concerns the termination of
the Chairman and Chief Executive’s service contract.

Afep/Medef Code Recommendation not applied

Termination of the Chairman and Chief Executive’s service contract. Explanation provided in section 16.6

2013 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT - GROUPE EUROTUNNEL SA



(16]

116

BOARD AND MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

The Afep/Medef Code is available on www.eurotunnelgroup.com.

16.11. ATTENDANCE AT THE GENERAL MEETING OF
SHAREHOLDERS

The arrangements for attendance are described in articles 11, 27 and 29 of GET SA's by-laws, as summarised in section 21.2 of this
Registration Document.

General or special meetings of shareholders are called and conducted in accordance with the conditions set by law. General meetings
are called by the board of directors. They are held at the registered office or any other place stated in the notice of meeting.

Any shareholder can take part in the meetings, irrespective of how many Shares they hold, in person, by proxy, or by correspondence on
providing proof of identity and registering the shares three days before midnight Paris time on the day before the meeting, either in the
registered accounts held by GET SA or in a securities account belonging to the shareholder at the authorised intermediary.
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17.1. ORIGIN AND DEVELOPMENT OF CSR AT THE
EUROTUNNEL GROUP

Since it was established, the Eurotunnel Group has pursued a corporate social responsibility policy which seeks to reconcile financial
performance, social equity and environmental protection, within a framework of continuous improvement. Well before CSR emerged as
a concept, before the United Nations Global Compact in 2000 and the new French legislation of 2001, or the French environmental
legislation of 2009 and 2010, Eurotunnel—often a frontrunner in such endeavours —already brought together in its approach
economics, regional management and environmental responsibility.

The Eurotunnel Group puts social and environmental responsibility at the heart of its activities and interaction with different internal and
external stakeholders, and ensures this commitment is communicated clearly to its partners: employees, customers, suppliers,
shareholders, investors, regional government bodies, local authorities, associations and communities. True to its principles, for nearly
20 years it has pursued an exacting and concrete Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) policy, which it mainly exercises in the three
strategic areas relating to its activities:

e People, i.e. each of the 3,700 plus men and women employed by Eurotunnel Group;

e Nature, i.e. the environment and ecosystems with which its growing operations interact;

e Communities, i.e. all communities the Group is connected to everywhere in France and the UK.

17.1.1 PEOPLE

As a responsible employer, the Eurotunnel Group is committed to provide a working environment that fosters personal development and
fulfilment in order to attract and retain good, qualified staff.

Growth that creates jobs: in 2013, the expansion of the Group’s activities was accompanied by an increase of approximately 2% in the
Group’s headcount. Its human resources policies recognise each employee’s contribution, taking account of that employee’s
qualifications, level of responsibility and individual performance.

The loyalty of Eurotunnel Group employees is reflected in a low staff turnover rate: 5% in 2013 and an absenteeism rate of 3.5%.

17.1.2 ENVIRONMENT

From the very beginning, as an innovative rail company and responsible infrastructure manager, Eurotunnel Group stood out for its
understanding of sustainable development, which reconciles economic performance with territorial management and environmental
protection:

e an underground link that does not interfere in any way with the marine environment;

e atransport system that by its nature has a limited impact on the environment (it causes 20 times less pollution than ferries: a truck
onboard a Shuttle emits 8.8 kg of CO, compared with 158 kg on a ferry);

e the choice of electric traction is a major factor in reducing the carbon footprint and greenhouse gas emissions (Carbon Trust
Standard certification in 2009, renewed in January 2013, reduction of more than 55% of the carbon footprint between 2006
and 2011);

e in 2012, the Eurotunnel Group was one of the first private enterprises in the world to join the Global Union for Sustainability and to
publicly commit to reducing its global carbon footprint (scope of consolidation restricted to Groupe Eurotunnel SA subsidiaries) by
3% a year;

e apolicy to routinely reduce consumption of electricity (with 90% of power generated by nuclear or hydroelectric sources, which are
therefore CO, emission free);

e the transition from 30 to 32 carrier wagons for Truck Shuttles, without a significant increase in energy consumption;

e the replacement of diesel engines for works and maintenance trains by battery-powered autonomous wagons;

e the development, at the beginning of 2013, of a more fuel-efficient driving technique, with a simulator equipped with a module
dedicated to fuel-efficient driving.

On 28 October 2013, Eurotunnel Group received “Best CSR Policy for a Major Group” prize awarded at the first Nuits de I’Entreprise
Solidaire et Responsable event organised by the French disability support organisation Association des Paralysés de France. This
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distinction rewarded all the sustainable development measures implemented by Eurotunnel since its establishment, and notably attests
to its day-to-day commitment to responsible growth, based on the values of solidarity and dialogue.

17.1.3 REGION

As a committed partner in the economic and social environment in which it operates, the Eurotunnel Group has created several
thousand direct, indirect and related jobs in Kent and the Pas-de-Calais region since its establishment. The Group also exercises its
social responsibility though concrete commitments and community support, such as the signing of a partnership agreement in
July 2013 with APF Entreprises, the economic network of disability support organisation Association des Paralysés de France.

e Community support: The Eurotunnel Group pays 10% of the revenues from the operation of the wind farm located on its
Coquelles site to Secours Populaire Francais in the form of energy vouchers. Having expired, the partnership agreement between
the Group and the Secours Populaire Frangais was extended for another two years (2013-2014). Through its commitment to
Fondation Agir Contre I’Exclusion (FACE), which provides assistance to those most in need, the Eurotunnel Group encourages its
employees to get involved in humanitarian and charity projects.

e Responsible procurement policies and practices: relations between the Group and its suppliers go beyond simply
purchasing goods and services. The Group requires all employees in all its entities to comply with the ethical standards set forth in a
code of ethics.

Furthermore, the Eurotunnel Group’s sustainable development policy is based on respect for fundamental rights, as defined in the main
international principles: the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Labour Organization’s Declaration on
Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work. In its Charter of Ethics and Behaviour, approved by the board of directors in 2013, the
Eurotunnel Group sets out the common rules regarding respect for people, fair competition, internal controls and environmental
protection.

These principles and guidelines for action now apply to all employees of the Group and its subsidiaries, as well as to their subcontractors
and suppliers.

The verification of social, societal and environmental information by an independent third party became compulsory for French
businesses following the publication in 2012 of the regulations implementing article 225 of the Grenelle 2 law and the decree of
13 May 2013. Groupe Eurotunnel was ahead of this new obligation and continues today in its drive to be proactive and transparent in
these three areas.

For 2013, Groupe Eurotunnel SA decided to introduce four new social indicators and to have three environmental indicators and four
social indicators subjected to closer scrutiny by the statutory auditors so as to obtain a reasonable rather than limited assurance in view
of the obligations it is under. A partially automated reporting system for the input, collection and consolidation of social information has
also been put in place.

The Eurotunnel Group is committed to reporting the results of its approach in an effective manner by publishing information relating to
the issues listed under article R 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code. To this end, it asked its statutory auditors, as an
independent third party, to attest to the presence of this information and express a limited or reasonable assurance as to its reliability in
relation to the Group scope. The statutory auditors’ report features in section 17.7 of this Registration Document. A methodological note
including reporting principles, choices of indicators, data collection and methodological details about indicators collected feature in
Annex Il of this Registration Document.

A cross-reference table is provided in section 17.6 of this Registration Document in respect of the information required by article
R225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code, the Global Reporting Initiative indicators (version 3.1), the information provided in this
chapter and the Charter of Ethics and Behaviour of the Group.

The Group’s CSR policy has no dedicated budget or specific investments: the costs associated with the CSR policy come out of the
operating budget of the entity or department concerned. The aim is to make CSR an essential component of all Group activities.

8,100 jobs according to the impact study conducted in 2004 with the Syndicat mixte de la Cote d’Opale, the Université du Littoral et de la Céte d’Opale
and the University of Kent at Canterbury.
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The company communicates its CSR policy through the management chain, effectively using the same channels as for the Group’s
strategic objectives.

17.2. WORKFORCE INFORMATION

As a responsible employer, the Eurotunnel Group seeks to promote the personal fulfilment and development of its employees, which it
considers a key factor in its corporate strategy. Its human resources policies have been developed in order to foster equal opportunities
and treatment among all Group employees throughout their professional careers.

Eurotunnel Group members of staff who work for the Fixed Link are employees of ESL in the United Kingdom, and ESGIE in France,
Germany, the Netherlands and Spain. The employees operating in the rail freight transport and port infrastructure management sectors
are employed within the Europorte subsidiaries. Staff may also be seconded to other Group companies, such as for the purposes of the
maritime segment business. The employing company then charges other Group companies for their respective staff costs. Some of the
Group’s general management are employed by GET SA.

In this chapter, workforce information relates only to subsidiaries that employ staff. “Group subsidiary”, “entity” and “company” only
refers to entities with staff in accordance with the information provided in the methodological note in Annex Il of this Registration
Document.

17.2.1 EMPLOYMENT

a) Geographical breakdown of total workforce

United
Number of employees France Kingdom Total
At 31 December 2013 2,371 1,373 v 3,744
At 31 December 2012 2,384 1,278 3,662

V. Information verified to a reasonable assurance level by the statutory auditors.

At 31 December 2013, the Eurotunnel Group had 3,744 employees. During the financial year, the Group experienced growth in its
workforce of 2% compared with 2012. This is linked to the expansion of the Group’s operations, in particular that of the Europorte
subsidiaries.

The geographical breakdown was overall constant, with 63% of the workforce employed in France and 37% in the United Kingdom
(2012: 85% and 35% respectively).

b) Breakdown of workforce by gender

Number of employees Men Women
At 31 December 2013 v 2,967 v 777
At 31 December 2012 2,908 754

V. Information verified to a reasonable assurance level by the statutory auditors.

At 31 December 2013, women made up 20.8% of the total workforce (2012: 20.6%). The higher proportion of men reflects the
specificity of jobs within the Group, notably those related to rail maintenance.
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c) Breakdown of workforce by age group

Number of Under 65 and
employees 25 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 over
At 31 December 2013 145 321 323 408 809 738 508 325 140 27
At 31 December 2012 146 317 291 459 852 665 479 314 123 16

At the end of 2013, over 21% of the Group’s workforce was aged under 35, and over 53% was aged under 45, showing a slight increase
in the younger workforce compared with 2012 (20.6%). The number of employees aged 55 and over also rose compared with the
previous year. At 31 December 2013, they represented 13.1% of the workforce, compared with 12.4% in 2012 (453 employees). There
were 167 employees aged over 59, which represents 4.5% of the workforce (against 139, or 3.8%, in 2012).

The average age of the workforce is 45 years (44 in 2012). The Group has already begun to address the management of the age
pyramid, as indicated in 